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Course Information

Course Title: Nonprofit Accounting

Learning Objectives:

Cite the criteria used to define a nonprofit organization.

Specify the essential building blocks of an accounting system.

Identify the types of nonprofit financial statements and the comparable for-profit financial state-
ments.

Specify the instances in which revenue and gains can be recognized by a nonprofit.

Cite the methods used to assign costs to a grant-funded program.

State the applicable rules related to the recognition of investment assets.

Identify the costing characteristics of the various cost layering methodologies.

Identify the options available for recognizing a collection.

Recall how the 12-month lease exception works.

Specify the different types of lease payments.

Recognize the components of net periodic pension cost, and the accounting for a defined contribu-
tion plan.

Identify the types of joint costs, and the tests used to determine whether fundraising costs can be
allocated.

Define the situations in which accounting principles can be changed, and when retrospective appli-
cation is allowed.

State the concept of the principal market and the basis upon which fair value is determined.

Cite the accounting for a contribution receivable, as well as the steps involved in a petty cash rec-
onciliation.

Identify the accounting associated with split-interest agreements, as well as the nature of lead and
remainder interests.

Specify the circumstances under which the reporting consolidation of two or more entities is re-
quired or allowed.

Recognize the situations in which the carryover and acquisition methods are used, and whether
goodwill or an inherent contribution can be recorded for an acquisition transaction.

State the IRS forms used for various nonprofit tax reporting activities, and the circumstances under
which they must be filed.

Cite the steps involved in closing the books at the end of a reporting period.

Identify the line items used in nonprofit budgets and cash forecasts.

Specify the considerations to be reviewed when creating controls, as well as the controls employed
in the cash, fixed asset, payables, and other accounting areas.

Recognize the considerations involved in setting policies for collections, asset dispositions, and
employee labor.

Cite the types of analysis that can be employed to yield insights into the financial condition and
fundraising effectiveness of a nonprofit.

Subject Area: Accounting

Prerequisites: None

Program Level: Overview



Program Content: This practical guide shows how to create and operate a nonprofit accounting system
and produce financial statements, all while operating in accordance with nonprofit accounting standards.
The course walks the accountant through basic nonprofit accounting concepts and then discusses more
advanced topics, including budgeting, controls, ratio analysis, revenue recognition, joint costs, split-interest
agreements, tax reporting, and mergers and acquisitions. In short, the course offers a wealth of information
for understanding nonprofit transactions and financial statements.

Advance Preparation: None

Recommended CPE Credit: 16 hours
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Preface

A nonprofit organization is subject to a number of different accounting standards than those applied to for-
profit organizations, while also being constrained by limited funding. This combination may lead to incor-
rect accounting and cash shortages, which can leave a nonprofit in disarray in short order. Nonprofit Ac-
counting provides guidance in how to create and operate an accounting system, close the books, and pro-
duce financial statements — all while operating in accordance with the unique nonprofit accounting stand-
ards. We also describe detailed systems of control, budgeting, and ratio analysis to maintain a proper level
of control over funds.

In Chapter 1, we give an overview of the nonprofit entity, and then work through all nonprofit account-
ing topics in Chapters 2 through 14 — including financial statements, revenue accounting, government
grants, investments, inventory, fixed assets, joint costs, and more. We then address several more advanced
accounting topics in Chapters 15 through 18, including split-interest agreements, mergers and acquisitions,
and tax reporting. The book then switches to management accounting topics, addressing how to close the
books, create a budget, install controls, and analyze the financial health of the organization.

You can find the answers to many questions about nonprofit accounting in the following chapters,
including:

What is the structure of nonprofit financial statements?

How do | account for each type of nonprofit revenue?

How do | allocate costs to programs funded by government grants?

What are the options for accounting for a collection?

How do | account for a defined benefit plan or a defined contribution plan?
Which joint costs can be allocated?

How does the accounting vary between a nonprofit merger and a nonprofit acquisition?
What are the rules for recording a contingent liability?

What are the different types of split-interest agreements?

Which tax forms must | file with the IRS?

Which controls should I build into a nonprofit’s accounting systems?

Nonprofit Accounting is designed primarily for professionals, who can use it as a reference tool for devel-
oping accounting systems and researching the correct accounting to deal with various transactions and re-
ports. Given its complete coverage of these topics, Nonprofit Accounting may earn a permanent place on
your book shelf.

Centennial, Colorado
March 2020
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Chapter 1
Overview of the Nonprofit Entity

Learning Objectives

Cite the criteria used to define a nonprofit organization.

Introduction

There are more than 1.5 million nonprofit organizations in the United States, according to the National
Center for Charitable Statistics. These organizations account for more than 9% of the total wages and sala-
ries paid in the United States. To give the reader a better understanding of this massive part of the economy,
we define in this chapter the nonprofit entity, its tax classification, filing requirements, and organizational
structure.

Definition of a Nonprofit Entity

Many entities consider themselves to be nonprofits, and advertise themselves as such. But what is a non-
profit? According to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (which issues the accounting standards that
govern nonprofits), the key criteria that define a nonprofit are:

e No ownership interests
e An operating purpose other than to earn a profit
e It receives significant contributions from third parties that do not expect a return

Conversely, an entity that cannot be considered a nonprofit is one that is owned by investors, or which
provides dividends or other economic benefits to its owners or members. Thus, credit unions and employee
benefit plans are not considered nonprofit entities.

To further clarify the status of nonprofits, the types of organizations included the following table are
all considered to be nonprofits.

General Types of Nonprofit Entities

Cemetery organizations Political parties

Civic and community organizations Political action committees

Colleges and universities Private and community foundations
Cultural organizations Professional associations
Elementary and secondary schools Public broadcasting stations
Federated fundraising organizations Religious organizations

Fraternal organizations Research and scientific organizations
Health care entities Social and country clubs

Labor unions Trade associations

Libraries Voluntary health and welfare entities
Museums Zoological and botanical societies
Performing arts organizations
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Many nonprofit organizations seek nonprofit status from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), so that they
can avoid paying federal income taxes, and can instead plow these funds back into their core missions. The
IRS deals with these organizations in section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code. This section of the Code
currently provides for 29 types of nonprofit organizations, which are as follows:

Types of Nonprofit Organizations

Section of
IRS Code
501(c)(1)
501(c)(2)

501(c)(3)

501(c)(4)
501(c)(5)
501(c)(6)

501(c)(7)
501(c)(8)

501(c)(9)

501(c)(10)
501(c)(11)
501(c)(12)
501(c)(13)
501(c)(14)
501(c)(15)
501(c)(16)
501(c)(17)

501(c)(18)

Organization Type

Corporations organized under an Act of Con-
gress

Title holding corporation for exempt organi-
zation

Religious, educational, charitable, scientific,
literary, testing for public safety, to foster na-
tional or international sports competition, or
prevention of cruelty to children or animals
organizations

Civic leagues, social welfare organizations,
and local associations of employees

Labor, agricultural, and horticultural organi-
zations

Business leagues, chambers of commerce,
and real estate boards

Social and recreational clubs
Fraternal societies and associations

Voluntary employees beneficiary associa-
tions

Domestic fraternal societies and associations
Teachers’ retirement fund associations

Benevolent life insurance associations, mu-
tual ditch or irrigation companies, mutual or
cooperative telephone companies, etc.

Cemetery companies

State-chartered credit unions, mutual reserve
funds

Mutual insurance companies or associations

Cooperative organizations to finance crop
operations

Supplemental unemployment benefit trusts

Employee funded pension trust (created be-
fore June 25, 1959)

Activities Conducted

Instrumentalities of the United States
Holds title to property of an exempt organization

Activities of a nature implied by the description of
the class of organization

Promotion of community welfare; charitable, edu-
cational, or recreational

Educational; the purpose being to improve condi-
tions of work, and to improve efficiency

Improvement of business conditions of one or more
lines of business

Pleasure, recreation, and social activities

Lodge providing for payment of life, sickness, acci-
dent or other benefits to members

Providing for payment of life, sickness, accident, or
other benefits to members

Lodge devoting its net earnings to charitable, frater-
nal, and other specified purposes

Teachers’ association for payment of retirement
benefits

Activities of a mutually beneficial nature similar to
those implied by the description of the organization

Burials and incidental activities
Loans to members

Providing insurance to members substantially at
cost

Financing crop operations in conjunction with ac-
tivities of a marketing or purchasing association

Provides for payment of supplemental unemploy-
ment compensation benefits

Payment of benefits under a pension plan funded by
employees
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Section of
IRS Code
501(c)(19)
501(c)(20)
501(c)(21)

501(c)(22)

501(c)(23)
501(c)(24)

501(c)(25)
501(c)(26)
501(c)(27)
501(c)(28)

501(c)(29)

Organization Type

Post or organization of past or present mem-
bers of the armed forces

Formerly used for group legal services plan
Black lung benefit trusts

Withdrawal liability payment fund

Veterans’ organization (created before 1880)

Formerly used for Section 4049 ERISA
trusts

Title holding corporations or trusts with mul-
tiple parent corporations

State-sponsored organization providing
health coverage for high-risk individuals

State-sponsored workers’ compensation rein-
surance organization

National railroad retirement investment trust

CO-OP health insurance issuers

Activities Conducted
Activities implied by the nature of the organization

No longer used

Funded by coal mine operators to satisfy their lia-
bility for disability or death due to black lung dis-
eases

To provide funds to meet the liability of employers
withdrawing from a multi-employer pension fund

To provide insurance and other benefits to veterans
No longer used

Holding title and paying over income from property
to 35 or fewer parents or beneficiaries

Provides health care coverage to high-risk individu-
als

Reimburse members for losses under workers’
compensation acts

Manages and invests the assets of the Railroad Re-
tirement Account

A qualified health insurance issuer which has re-
ceived a loan or grant under the CO-OP program

(Extracted from the Organization Reference Chart in IRS Publication 557, Tax-Exempt Status for Your Organization)

Most of the subsections of this code deal with very specific types of organizations, and so do not apply to
most nonprofits. The area that is applicable to the largest cross-section of nonprofits is 501(c)(3), which
applies to religious, educational, charitable, scientific, literary, testing for public safety, fostering of national
or international sports competition, or prevention of cruelty to children or animals organizations. Most of
the entities granted 501(c)(3) status have operations that are either charitable, educational, or religious in
nature. This subset of entities engages in the following types of activities:

Charitable

Educational

Relief of the poor or underprivileged
Advancement of religion
Advancement of education or science
Construction or maintenance of public buildings and other works
Reduction of the burdens of government
Reduction of neighborhood tensions
Elimination of prejudice and discrimination
Defense of human and civil rights
Reduction of community deterioration and juvenile delinquency

e Schools, including primary and secondary schools, colleges, and trade schools
e Public discussion forums, panels, and lectures
e Correspondence instruction via radio or television
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Museums, orchestras, planetariums, and zoos
Non-profit day-care facilities
Youth sports organizations

Religious

Churches, including mosques, synagogues, and temples
Mission organizations

Speakers’ organizations

Nondenominational ministries and ecumenical organizations
Faith-based social agencies

The 501(c)(3) designation is especially important, because donors can make tax-deductible donations to
these organizations. Both individuals and corporations are much more likely to donate to a 501(c)(3) entity
for this reason. In addition, local governments may grant these organizations exemption from income, sales,
or property taxes. Thus, the 501(c)(3) designation is highly prized. Conversely, other types of nonprofit
organizations may not qualify for these tax-deductible donations, and so are much less likely to attract
contributions from donors. For example, a social or recreational club (designated as a 501(c)(7) organiza-
tion) does not pay income taxes, but donations to it are not tax-deductible.

The IRS mandates the following requirements for an entity that wishes to apply for the 501(c)(3) des-
ignation:

The entity is organized and operated exclusively for one or more exempt purposes. This means that
the entity is organized as a corporation, trust, or unincorporated association. The articles of incor-
poration (or equivalent) must:

o Limit the purposes of the entity to exempt activities;
o Not expressly permit activities unrelated to the exempt mission of the entity; and
o Permanently dedicate its assets to the designated exempt purposes.

The entity cannot engage in the following activities:

Participation in the political campaigns of candidates for any office

Lobbying activities, other than an insubstantial part of total activities

Have its earnings benefit an individual

Operate for the benefit of any private interests, such as the founder or the founder’s family
Operate a trade or business not related to its exempt purpose

Engage in activities that are illegal or violate public policy

O O O O O O

If the 501(c)(3) designation is granted to a nonprofit, the entity then has the following obligations from the
perspective of the IRS:

Recordkeeping. Keep sufficiently detailed records that include sources of support, such as contri-
butions, grants, and sponsorships.

Filings. File an annual report with the IRS, which may be either the Form 990, Form 990-EZ, Form
990-N (reserved for entities with gross receipts of $50,000 or less), or Form 990-PF (which is filed
by private foundations). The Form 990-T is also filed to report any gross income from an unrelated
trade or business of $1,000 or more. A few entities are exempted from filing these forms. If a
nonprofit does not file one of these forms for three consecutive years, it loses its tax-exempt status.

Note: Churches are exempt from filing the Form 990.
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e Public inspection. A nonprofit must make its 501(c)(3) application and annual returns available for
public inspection.

e Donation documentation. The entity must provide to donors a written acknowledgement of any
donation made of $250 or more. Also, a written disclosure must be made to any donor paying the
entity more than $75 that is partly a contribution, and partly for goods and services provided by the
entity.

To apply for 501(c)(3) status, an entity must complete and submit to the IRS the Form 1023, Application
for Recognition of Exemption under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. This form must be
filed no later than the end of the 27" month after the entity was legally formed. If the status is then granted,
the tax exemption is considered to be from the date of creation of the entity. If an entity instead files after
the deadline, the tax exemption will take effect only as of the date of the application, though it is possible
to request a retroactive exemption.

An IRS examiner will review the Form 1023 and any attached documentation, to see if the submitting
entity is worthy of 501(c)(3) status. This can be a prolonged process that calls for the submission of addi-
tional documentation to the IRS. If the review is favorable, the IRS will issue a determination letter that
recognizes the tax-exempt status of the entity. Many larger donors will request a copy of this determination
letter before they agree to issue contributions.

Tip: The determination letter is an important document, and so should be stored in a nonprofit’s permanent
file, where it is less likely to be mislaid or destroyed. Consider retaining copies in several locations. If lost,
the letter can be replaced by the IRS with a letter confirming the tax-exempt status of the entity.

When a donor makes a contribution to a nonprofit that can be classified as a charitable deduction, the donor
then claims the contribution on his or her individual tax return. It is the responsibility of the donor to deter-
mine the amount that can be deducted, and when to do so. The nonprofit has no liability for how a donor
uses a tax deduction.

Nonprofit Organizational Structure

Though earning a profit is not the main intent of a nonprofit, it is critical for the organization to be properly
run, to ensure that programs are properly administered, contributions are solicited in an effective manner,
and expenses are closely monitored. Consequently, a nonprofit may have an organizational structure that is
similar in some respects to that of a for-profit entity. There is a board of directors whose members are
ultimately responsible for the strategic direction of the organization. The executive director fulfills the role
of a chief executive officer, managing the enterprise on behalf of the board of directors. Below the executive
director are department managers. Typical manager titles may include several program directors, a control-
ler and an administration director. There is also likely to be a fundraising coordinator, who is also known
as a development director. If a large number of volunteers work on behalf of the organization, there may
also be a volunteer coordinator. The following organization chart shows the higher levels of a nonprofit.
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Nonprofit Organizational Structure

Board of Directors

Executive Director

Director of Volunteer Program Director Development
Administration Coordinator s Director

Controller

Related Podcast Episode: Episode 285 of the Accounting Best Practices Podcast discusses the nonprofit
CFO. The episode is available at: accountingtools.com/podcasts or iTunes

Summary

In this chapter, we have defined the nonprofit entity and pointed out its tax status, filing requirements, and
organizational structure. In the following chapters, we turn to the accounting and tax reporting requirements
of the nonprofit organization. Some of these topics are highly specific to nonprofits, such as the accounting
for government grants, split-interest agreements, and contributions. Other topics, such as lease accounting,
budgeting, and closing the books, can be applied to all types of organizations, but are still critical to the
proper recordation, reporting, and control of accounting transactions by a nonprofit.
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Review Questions

1. The 501(c)(3) designation is highly prized because:
a. An entity with this designation can offer stock to investors
b. Donors can make tax-deductible donations to an entity with this designation
c. An entity with this designation does not pay taxes on unrelated business income
d. An entity with this designation does not pay property taxes

2. A 501(c)(3) entity cannot engage in:
a. Lobbying activities
b. Excessive staff compensation
c. Operations without an executive director
d. The accumulation of excessive amounts of cash



Chapter 2
Basic Nonprofit Accounting Concepts

Learning Objectives

Specify the essential building blocks of an accounting system.

Introduction

A nonprofit organization shares many of the accounting concepts used by for-profit organizations, though
the smaller size of many nonprofits leads them to employ more rudimentary accounting systems than for-
profit entities. As we will see in this chapter, the accounting for nonprofits is actually more detailed than
for for-profit organizations in some areas. This calls for a higher level of accounting effort than might be
expected.

In this chapter, we address the basic concepts of double entry bookkeeping, the accrual and cash bases
of accounting, the chart of accounts, net assets, and a variety of bookkeeping issues. We close the chapter
with a case study that incorporates many of these accounting concepts.

Double Entry Bookkeeping

Double entry accounting is a recordkeeping system under which every transaction is recorded in at least
two accounts. There is no limit on the number of accounts used in a transaction, but the minimum is two
accounts. There are two columns in each account, with debit entries on the left and credit entries on the
right. In double entry accounting, the total of all debit entries must match the total of all credit entries. When
this happens, the transaction is said to be in balance. If the totals do not agree, the transaction is said to be
out of balance, and the resulting information cannot be used to create financial statements.

A debit is an accounting entry that either increases an asset or expense account, or decreases a liability
or net asset account. It is positioned to the left in an accounting entry. A credit is an accounting entry that
either increases a liability or net asset account, or decreases an asset or expense account. It is positioned to
the right in an accounting entry. An account is a separate, detailed record associated with a specific asset,
liability, net asset, revenue, expense, gain, or loss. Examples of accounts appear in the following exhibit.

Account Examples

Account Name Account Type Normal Balance
Cash Asset Debit
Accounts receivable Asset Debit
Fixed assets Asset Debit
Accounts payable Liability Credit
Accrued liabilities Liability Credit
Loans outstanding Liability Credit
Net assets without donor restrictions  Net asset Credit
Net assets with donor restrictions Net asset Credit
Donor contributions Revenue Credit
Compensation expense Expense Debit
Gain on sale of asset Gain Credit
Loss on sale of asset Loss Debit
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The Journal Entry

A journal entry is a method used to enter an accounting transaction into the accounting records of an entity.
The format of a journal entry is for the first column to contain the account name/number into which the
entry is being made, the second column to contain the debit amount being entered, and the third column to
contain the credit amount being entered. The account name/number of the account being credited is in-
dented. It is also useful to include a unique journal entry identification number and the date of the entry, as
well as a brief narrative description. If there are a large number of journal entries in a typical reporting
period, consider adding an approval signature block, as well as a signature and date block for the person
who enters the journal entry into the accounting software. The format of a basic journal entry is:

[Journal entry number]
Debit Credit
Account name / number PXX, XXX

Account name / number $XX, XXX

Narrative description of the reason for the entry

The basic structural rules of a journal entry are that there must be a minimum of two line items in the journal
entry, and that the total amount entered in the debit column equals the total amount entered in the credit
column. There are also several best practices related to journal entries, which are:

Narrative. Always provide a complete narrative of why a journal entry has been created. Otherwise,
someone reviewing the books at a later date will have no idea why an entry was created.

Number of lines. Do not include too many lines. Whenever possible, try to reduce a complex journal
entry into several simpler ones, thereby making it easier to understand the transaction being rec-
orded.

Template. Use a standardized journal entry template for recurring transactions, which reduces the
risk of creating an incorrect entry.

Reversing entry. Use an automatically reversing journal entry for accruals whose impact is intended
to be for a single accounting period. By doing so, there is no need to manually reverse an entry in
the following period.

Software module. Use a transaction module in the accounting software, rather than using manual
journal entries. When a transaction is recorded within a transaction module, such as the billing
system or accounts payable system, the result is more likely to be correct, since each module is pre-
configured to collect and store a particular set of information.

The Accounting Equation

In a for-profit organization, the basic underlying accounting structure is derived from the following formula,
which is called the accounting equation:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ equity

However, there is no equity in a nonprofit, since there are no stockholders to own shares in the business.
Instead, the accounting equation is modified as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Net assets

The assets in the accounting equation are the resources that a nonprofit has available for its use, such as
cash, accounts receivable and fixed assets. The entity pays for these resources by incurring liabilities (which
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is the Liabilities part of the accounting equation) or by obtaining contributions from donors (which is the
Net assets part of the equation). All three components of the accounting equation appear in the statement
of financial position, which reveals the financial position of a nonprofit at any given point in time. In the
statement of financial position, the total of all assets always equals the sum of the liabilities and net assets
sections.

The Liabilities part of the equation is usually comprised of accounts payable that are owed to suppliers,
a variety of accrued liabilities, and debt payable to lenders.

The Net Assets part of the equation contains the total amounts of two classifications of donated assets,
which are:

e Net assets with donor restrictions
e Net assets without donor restrictions

We address the net assets topic in more detail later, in the Net Assets section.

The reason why the accounting equation is so important is that it is always true — and it forms the basis
for all accounting transactions. At a general level, this means that whenever there is a recordable transaction,
the choices for recording it all involve keeping the accounting equation in balance.

EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education is a new nonprofit, with no prior activity. Archimedes engages in the following transactions:

1. InJanuary, a donor sends Archimedes a contribution of $10,000 to assist in starting up the organization. The
use of these funds is unrestricted.

2. InJanuary, the executive director of Archimedes enters into a one-year lease of office space, and pays the
landlord $1,000 for the first month’s rent. Of this amount, $400 is actually a security deposit.

3. InJanuary, the same donor contributes $5,000, under the provision that the cash can only be used to pay for
a photocopier.

4. In February, Archimedes uses the restricted funds to buy a copier.

To account for the first transaction (the $10,000 donation), Archimedes records the following journal entry:

JIE #1 Debit Credit
Cash [assets account] 10,000
Donor contributions — without restrictions [revenue account] 10,000

To record receipt of donor contribution

To account for the second transaction (the one-year lease), Archimedes records the following journal entry:

JIE #2 Debit Credit
Deposits [assets account] 400
Rent expense [expense account] 600

Cash [assets account] 1,000

To record payment of monthly rent and a related security deposit

10



Basic Nonprofit Accounting Concepts

To account for the third transaction (the $5,000 donation), Archimedes records the following journal entry:

JIE #3 Debit Credit
Cash [assets account] 5,000

Donor contributions — with restrictions [revenue account] 5,000
To record receipt of restricted donor contribution intended for photocopier purchase

To account for the fourth transaction (to buy a copier), Archimedes records the following journal entry:

JIE #4 Debit Credit
Fixed assets — office equipment [assets account] 5,000

Cash [assets account] 5,000
To record purchase of photocopier, using restricted funds

These transactions appear in the following table:

(Asset) (Asset) (Asset) (Liability) Net
Item Cash Deposits Fixed Assets Liabilities Assets
Q) 10,000 = 10,000
(2) -1,000 400 = -600
3) 5,000 = 5,000
Q) -5,000 5000 =
Totals 9,000 400 5,000 = 14,400

In the example, note how every transaction is balanced within the accounting equation — either because
there are changes on both sides of the equation, or because a transaction cancels itself out on one side of
the equation (as was the case when cash was used to purchase a fixed asset).

What if the totals of all debits and credits in the accounting records do not match? There may be one of
three underlying causes to this problem, which are:

Rounding error. If the accounting software is rounding to the nearest dollar or thousand dollars,
the rounding function may result in a presentation that appears to be unbalanced, even though the
underlying accounts are correct.

Unbalanced starting numbers. If an accountant has just started using the accounting software, be-
ginning balances for the various accounts may have been entered that do not balance under the
accounting equation. The software should flag this problem when the beginning balances are being
entered.

Unbalanced transactions. A journal entry may have been made in which the debits do not match
the credits. This should be impossible as long as accounting software is being used, since the soft-
ware will not allow entries to be made unless the entries are balanced. However, this situation is
entirely possible if accounting records are being maintained manually.

The Chart of Accounts

An account is a record in which is stored financial transactions related to assets, liabilities, revenues, ex-

penses,

mation.

gains, and losses. A nonprofit will need a number of different accounts in which to store infor-
The official listing of these accounts is called the chart of accounts. The chart of accounts is sorted
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in order by account number. Account numbers are usually assigned to accounts based on the following
order:

Asset accounts first (begin with a “17)

Liability accounts second (begin with a “2”)

Net asset accounts third (begin with a “3”)

Revenue and gain accounts fourth (begin with a “4”)
Expense and loss accounts last (begin with a “5”)

agrwdE

The intent of this ordering is to list accounts in order of their appearance in the financial statements, starting
with the statement of financial position and continuing with the statement of activities. Many nonprofits
structure their chart of accounts so that expense information is separately compiled by program; thus, a
group of three programs might each have separate expense accounts.

Typical accounts found in the chart of accounts are:

Assets
e Cash

o Petty cash
o Checking account
o Savings account

Marketable securities

Accounts receivable | contributions receivable
Grants receivable

Prepaid expenses

Fixed assets

Land

Building

Equipment

Less: Accumulated depreciation

O O O O

e Other assets

Liabilities
e Accounts payable
e Accrued liabilities
o \Wages payable
e Loans payable

Net Assets

e Net assets with donor restrictions
e Net assets without donor restrictions

Revenue
e Donor contributions
o Federal grants
e  State grants
e Fundraising events

12
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Investment income
Membership fees
Program revenue

Expenses

Compensation expense
Depreciation expense
Benefits expense

Payroll tax expense
Contracted services

Rent expense

Repairs and maintenance
Supplies expense
Training expense
Insurance expense
Travel and entertainment expense
Utilities expense

Other expenses

The following points can improve the chart of accounts concept for a nonprofit:

Form 990 mapping. If the nonprofit has to file some variation on the Form 990 with the Internal
Revenue Service at year-end, consider setting up the chart of accounts to match the relevant line
items in the Form 990. By doing so, account balances will map directly to the form, making it easier
to prepare the form.

Consistency. It is of some importance to initially create a chart of accounts that is unlikely to change
for several years, so that one can compare the results in the same account over a multi-year period.
If an entity instead starts with a small number of accounts and then gradually expands the number
of accounts over time, it becomes increasingly difficult to obtain comparable financial information
for more than the past year.

Size reduction. Periodically review the account list to see if any accounts contain relatively imma-
terial amounts. If so, and if this information is not needed for special reports, shut down these
accounts and roll the stored information into a larger account. Doing this periodically keeps the
number of accounts down to a manageable level.

It can be useful to structure the chart of accounts so that accounts are clearly identified as belonging to
unrestricted or restricted funds. For example, a “1” preceding the account number can identify an unre-
stricted account, while a “2” identifies a restricted account. Further, if there are several restricted accounts,
they can be listed with an additional two or three digit code that follows the first digit. An example appears
in the following exhibit.

Sample Account Code Structure

Account Code Description
2-10-XXX-XX Restricted — Primary education
2-20-XXX-XX Restricted — Secondary education
2-30-XXX-XX Restricted — Facility construction

13
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The Accrual Basis of Accounting

The accrual basis of accounting is the concept of recording revenues when earned and expenses as incurred.
This concept differs from the cash basis of accounting, under which revenues are recorded when cash is
received, and expenses are recorded when cash is paid. For example, a nonprofit operating under the accrual
basis of accounting would record an expense as incurred, while a cash basis entity would instead wait to
pay its supplier before recording the expense.

The accrual basis of accounting tends to provide more consistent recognition of revenues and expenses
over time, and so is considered by the users of financial statements to be the most valid accounting system
for ascertaining the activities, financial position, and cash flows of a nonprofit. In particular, it supports the
matching principle, under which revenues and all related expenses are to be recorded within the same re-
porting period; by doing so, it should be possible to see the full extent of the profits and losses associated
with specific business transactions within a single reporting period.

A significant failing of the accrual basis of accounting is that it can indicate an increase in net assets,
even though the associated cash inflows have not yet occurred. The result can be a supposedly well-run
entity that is starved for cash, and which may therefore go bankrupt despite its reported surge in net assets.

The Cash Basis of Accounting

As just noted, the cash basis of accounting involves recording revenue when cash is received, and expenses
when cash is paid. This is the simplest form of accounting, and so is quite appealing for a smaller nonprofit
that does not have enough money to pay for a highly skilled accounting staff. In addition, financial state-
ments prepared using the cash basis have the following advantages:

e Conservative revenue recognition. Donor contributions are only recognized when the cash is re-
ceived. This can be useful when donors have committed to make contributions, but have not done
so. This form of recognition gives management a better view of the amount of revenue it has to
work with.

e Cash flow view. A statement of activities prepared under the cash basis is essentially a statement of
cash flows (see the Nonprofit Financial Statements chapter), in that it closely parallels actual cash
inflows and outflows. As such, it reveals the ability of the organization to generate and use cash.

However, these advantages are offset by several concerns, which are:

e Not forward looking. Financial statements prepared under the cash basis do not contain any ac-
counts receivable or accounts payable, so management cannot estimate from the financials any
short-term cash inflows or outflows. However, this concern can be mitigated by maintaining a cash
forecast that is updated regularly.

e Revenue and expense mismatches. There may be a difference of several months between when
revenues and expenses are officially recognized. The result can be some months in which a non-
profit appears to be generating huge increases in net assets, and other months in which it appears
to be suffering from massive reductions in net assets. This issue is reduced when the financial
statements are aggregated over several months, such as when financials are reported on a quarterly
basis.

The Modified Cash Basis of Accounting

The modified cash basis of accounting uses elements of both the cash basis and accrual basis of accounting.
The modified basis has the following features:

e Related to cash basis. Records short-term items when cash levels change. This means that nearly
all elements of the statement of activities are recorded using the cash basis. Accounts receivable
and inventory are not recorded in the statement of financial position.

14
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e Related to accrual basis. Records longer-term statement of financial position items. This means
that fixed assets and long-term debt are recorded on the statement of financial position, and depre-
ciation and amortization are recorded in the statement of activities.

The modified cash basis provides financial information that is more relevant than can be found with cash
basis recordkeeping, and generally does so at less cost than is needed to maintain a set of full-accrual ac-
counting records.

There are no exact specifications for what is allowed under the modified cash basis, since it has devel-
oped through common usage. There is no accounting standard that has imposed any rules on its use. If
donors still want to see accrual-basis financial statements at the end of the year, financial statements pre-
pared under the modified cash basis will need to be altered, though not to such a comprehensive extent as
is needed for financials prepared under the cash basis of accounting.

Converting Cash Basis to the Accrual Basis

Smaller nonprofits may not have the time or accounting expertise to initially record transactions under the
accrual basis of accounting. If so, they use the simpler cash basis of accounting. However, donors want to
see annual financial statements organized under the accrual basis, so these nonprofits must convert their
cash basis financial statements to the accrual basis. The steps involved in this conversion are:

e Add accrued expenses. Add all expenses for which the nonprofit has received a benefit but has not
yet paid the supplier or employee. This means the accountant should accrue for virtually all types
of expenses, such as wages earned but not paid, office supplies received but unpaid, and so forth.

e Subtract cash payments. Subtract cash expenditures made for expenses that should have been rec-
orded in the preceding accounting period.

e Add prepaid expenses. Some cash payments may relate to assets that have not yet been consumed,
such as rent deposits. Review expenditures made during the accounting period to see if there are
any prepaid expenses, and move the unused portion of them into an asset account.

e Add accounts receivable. Record accounts receivable and revenues for all billings issued to donors
and other customers, and for which no cash has yet been received.

e Subtract cash receipts. Some revenues originating in a prior period may have been recorded within
the current accounting period based on the receipt of cash in that period. If so, reverse the transac-
tion and record it instead as revenue and accounts receivable in the preceding period.

The conversion of cash basis to accrual basis accounting can be a difficult one, for any accounting software
that has been configured for the cash basis is not designed to handle accrual basis accounting. This means
that all conversion adjustments must be made manually, with journal entries. It may be easier to manage
the conversion on a separate spreadsheet, and never include it in the formal accounting records at all.

It is quite possible that some transactions will be missed during the conversion from cash basis to ac-
crual basis accounting. Unfortunately, the only way to be certain of a complete and accurate conversion is
to examine all accounting transactions during the year being converted, as well as in the final quarter of the
preceding year. This means that the conversion is labor-intensive.

Further, a very complete set of well-documented accounting records is required to convert from the
cash basis to the accrual basis. Since a business already on the cash basis is likely to be a small one with
less funding for a full-time bookkeeper or controller, it is quite possible that the accounting records are in
a sufficient state of disarray that the conversion cannot be made in a reliable manner. If so, the best option
is to hire an outside CPA who is skilled in these conversions.

Tip: Arrange with an outside CPA well in advance to convert the records of the organization to the accrual
basis; CPAs can be very busy at certain times of the year, so advance planning is needed to obtain their
services within the best time slot.
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Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)

GAAP is short for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. GAAP is a large group of accounting stand-
ards and common industry usage that have been developed over many years, and that are used by organi-
zations to:

o Properly organize their financial information into accounting records;
e Summarize the accounting records into financial statements; and
e Disclose certain supporting information.

One of the reasons for using GAAP is so that anyone reading the financial statements of multiple entities
has a reasonable basis of comparison, since all organizations using GAAP have created their financial state-
ments using the same set of rules. GAAP covers a broad array of topics, including:

Financial statement presentation
Assets

Liabilities

Revenue

Expenses

Fair value

Foreign currency

Leases

Nonmonetary transactions
Subsequent events
Industry-specific accounting, including a lengthy section for nonprofits

GAAP is derived from the pronouncements of a series of government-sponsored accounting entities, of
which the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is the latest. GAAP is codified into the Account-
ing Standards Codification (ASC), which is available online and (more legibly) in printed form.

GAAP is used primarily by entities reporting their financial results in the United States. International
Financial Reporting Standards, or IFRS, is the accounting framework used in most other countries. GAAP
is much more rules-based than IFRS. IFRS focuses more on general principles than GAAP, which makes
the IFRS body of work much smaller, cleaner, and easier to understand than GAAP. Since IFRS is still
being constructed, GAAP is considered the more comprehensive accounting framework.

Net Assets

We mentioned the net assets concept in the Accounting Equation section. A net asset is the equivalent of
retained earnings in the financial statements of a for-profit business. When contributing assets, a donor may
impose restrictions on their use. The result is two types of net assets, which are classified as net assets with
donor restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions. The accounting for these types of net assets
varies, as noted in the following sub-sections.

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

When a donor imposes no restriction on a contribution made to a nonprofit, the nonprofit records the con-
tribution as an asset and as contribution revenue with no donor restrictions. These funds are used to pay for
the general operations of a nonprofit. The fundraising staff strongly encourages donors to make unrestricted
donations, since these funds can be put to the broadest possible range of uses. Since this contribution reve-
nue also creates a profit, the profit appears in the statement of financial position as an increase in net assets
without donor restrictions.
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Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

When a donor imposes a restriction on a contribution made to a nonprofit, the nonprofit records the contri-
bution as contribution revenue with donor restrictions. Only the donor can change this designation; a non-
profit’s board of directors is not allowed to do So.

There may be a number of sub-accounts within the net assets with donor restrictions account, for those
situations in which donors want to contribute to specific aspects of a project or to release funds for use over
a period of time. For example, when a museum is being built, donors may only want to contribute to certain
exhibits or rooms within the museum. Or, donors may want their contributions to be spent evenly over the
next five years. It is also possible that donors will require that an asset be held by a nonprofit in perpetuity,
usually allowing the nonprofit to only spend any interest income derived from the funds.

Net Assets Summary
The following example shows various situations in which contributions fall into the two classifications.

EXAMPLE

Mr. Davis Templeton is a major contributor to Newton Education. He is aware that Newton needs $25,000 for laptop
computers for use in one of its classes. He therefore contributes $25,000 to Newton, under the provision that the funds
will be used to buy laptops. This contribution increases both the cash account of Newton and the net assets with donor
restrictions account by $25,000. Newton uses the money to acquire laptops. The result is a shift of $25,000 from the
cash account to the fixed assets account, as well as a shift of $25,000 from the net assets with donor restrictions
account to the net assets without donor restrictions account.

Mrs. Martha Anglesey is a lifetime devotee of ballet, and so contributes $500,000 to the Kansas Ballet, under the
provision that only the interest on the contribution can be spent. This contribution increases the Ballet’s net assets
with donor restrictions account by $500,000.

Mrs. Anglesey further restricts the interest earned on her endowment to fund scholarships for aspiring ballet dancers.
In the first year of the endowment, $15,000 in interest is earned from the endowment. The Ballet records the $15,000
as a net asset with donor restrictions, until such time as the cash is awarded as scholarships.

The totals of each of these classifications are reported within the net assets section of the statement of
financial position, along with a grand total for all net assets.

A final thought regarding net assets is that they do not refer to assets. An asset is an item of economic
value that is expected to yield a benefit in future periods. A net asset is more like a separate project, for
which a separate set of financial statements can be generated.

The Release from Restriction Concept

When funds are used in accordance with the wishes of a donor who had initially restricted the funds, they
are considered to have been released from their initial restriction. This is a common event, and is reported
within the revenue section of the statement of activities. In essence, funds released from restriction are
stated as a fund reduction in the column for net assets with donor restrictions, and as a fund addition in the
net assets without donor restrictions column. The net effect is zero. This concept appears in the case study
at the end of this chapter. We show a portion of the statement of activities in that case study next, to show
how $5,000 is released from the net assets with donor restrictions column and shifted to the net assets
without donor restrictions column, with no effect on the nonprofit’s revenues.
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Archimedes Education
Statement of Activities
For the month ended February 28, 20X1

Net Assets without Net Assets with
Donor Restrictions  Donor Restrictions Totals

Revenues:

Contributions $- $- $-
Net assets released from restrictions 5,000 -5,000 -
Total revenues $5,000 -$5,000 $-

Inter-Fund Receivables and Payables

When funds are spent that are tied to a restricted account, it would be excessively complex to immediately
tie the payments back to the funding accounts. Instead, funds are initially spent from the general checking
account of a nonprofit. An inter-fund receivable and payable is then set up, indicating that the related re-
stricted fund owes cash to the unrestricted checking account. Typically, the accounting staff settles up these
inter-fund receivables at the end of each month by transferring cash from the restricted accounts to the
unrestricted checking account. By the time the period-end financial statements have been issued, there
should be no inter-fund receivables and payables remaining in the accounting records.

Board-Designated Funds

The board of directors can choose to set aside funds for a specific purpose, such as the construction of a
facility. An outcome of this decision can be a journal entry to move these funds from net assets without
donor restrictions to a separate account. The intent behind this restriction is to make it clear that certain
funds are being set aside for a specific purpose. However, the board can just as easily terminate this special
designation, even if the underlying reason for the change was never completed.

The board-designated funds concept is essentially an accounting fiction. These funds are still part of
net assets without donor restrictions, and are not really restricted. Only donors can place restrictions on
contributed funds.

Program Identification

The reason why a nonprofit exists is to provide some kind of service, which is called a program. Examples
of programs are providing meals to the elderly, offering free training classes, and distributing printed ma-
terials about safety hazards. Whatever the program may be, the accounting system should be designed to
accumulate information about program revenues and expenses, so that management can determine how
resources are being allocated to fulfill a nonprofit’s mission. It is particularly important to separate revenues
and expenses for programs from the other activities of a nonprofit, especially the fundraising area and the
management and administration area. When a sophisticated donor wants to see how well a nonprofit is
managing its resources, it will likely want to see a breakdown of results that separates each individual
program, and which separately shows fundraising expenses and management and administration expenses.
Doing so reveals the relative proportions of resources being spent on the core mission of the entity.

Clearly then, the identification of programs is a key consideration when setting up an accounting sys-
tem. When doing so, try to introduce some recordation stability for the programs. This means that identified
programs are not changed much from year to year. By doing so, someone examining the financial results
of a nonprofit can trace back its commitment to specific programs over a number of years.

It is easier to identify programs if the mission statement of a nonprofit is highly focused. With a focused
statement, it is simpler to determine if a cluster of expenses should be classified as being part of a program,
or whether it is more of an administrative or fundraising item.
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EXAMPLE

The mission statement of Focus on the Poor states that the organization exists to improve the condition of low-income
people. The controller is trying to identify how many programs the organization is managing. In the past year, Focus
spent $100,000 on the maintenance of low-income housing, $25,000 on a food collection drive, and $40,000 on a car
used in a raffle sale that was intended to bring in funds for the organization. The controller decides to classify the
$40,000 expenditure as a fundraising cost, since it is really designed to raise cash. Also, the controller complains to
the board of directors that the vague mission statement makes it difficult for her to identify programs, which (based
on the identified expenditures) are Housing Support and Food Support. The board decides to recast the mission state-
ment to “improve the housing of low-income people.” By doing so, Focus can eliminate the Food Support program,
leaving just one program for which financial information must be aggregated.

The Management and Administration Classification

Those activities not directly related to fundraising or programs are considered to fall within the management
and administration classification. This classification provides operational support to the entire organization,
and ensures that other activities run as smoothly as possible. The main activity areas provided by it include:

Accounting and finance services
Facility maintenance

Human resources services
Information technology maintenance
Risk management and legal services
Strategic planning and budgeting

The proportion of expenditures assigned to this classification is of deep concern to donors, who do not want
to see their contributions “squandered” on areas outside of the core programs offered by a nonprofit. For
this reason, the executive directors of nonprofits pay considerable attention to paring back management and
administration expenses. They also have a deep understanding of the extent to which management and
administration expenses can be allocated to programs. When activities involve the direct conduct or super-
vision of a program, the cost of those activities should be allocated to the relevant programs from the man-
agement and administration classification.

The Fundraising Classification

Fundraising is the sales and marketing component of a nonprofit, tasked with raising funds via a variety of
methods to support the expenditure level of the organization. The activities of this group can include:

Grant proposals

Direct solicitation of individuals and businesses for contributions
E-mail solicitations through a mailing list of donors

Passive solicitation via a nonprofit’s website

Seminars regarding estate planning

Fundraising events, such as charity balls and art auctions
Contacting employers regarding matching contributions

Fundraising is primarily intended to support programs, but must also be directed at funding the management
and administration classification; indeed, some nonprofits require that a certain proportion of all contribu-
tions be targeted at management and administration expenditures, just to ensure that the organization can
be properly run.
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A key component of fundraising is its marketing activities. Nonprofit marketing involves creating an
image of the entity that makes it an attractive target for donors. Marketing can involve advertising, printed
materials, hands-on contact with donors, interviews on the radio or television, local presentations, the cre-
ation of an attractive website, and so forth.

A key accounting consideration in the fundraising area is to track fundraising expenses at the level of
the individual fundraising activity. By doing so, one can determine whether the amount of funds generated
exceeds the associated fundraising cost. Without this level of detail, it is quite likely that the development
director will continue to spend time and money on fundraising activities that do not generate an adequate
return. This fine-grained level of expense tracking can be conducted by storing expense information in
accounts for individual fundraising activities. However, given the ongoing changes in the types of fund-
raising activities used, it can make more sense to use a more informal tracking system, such as an electronic
spreadsheet.

The fundraising classification may also appear in the statement of activities as the “development” clas-
sification.

Bookkeeping Concerns

The bookkeeping for a nonprofit can be complicated, since donors may specify that their contributions only
be used in certain ways. To make matters more complex, a donor may specify that certain proportions of
their contributions be allocated to different types of expenditures. For example, a $10,000 donation may
have attached to it a mandate that $1,000 can be spent on management and administration activities, while
the remainder must be evenly split between two different programs. In this section, we note several options
for reducing the bookkeeping burden on the accounting staff when dealing with these difficult tracking
chores. Possible options are:

o Review reporting requirements in advance. The reporting requirements imposed by some donors
can be quite difficult to comply with, especially when a nonprofit’s accounting systems are primi-
tive. Accordingly, it can make sense to review a donor’s reporting requirements prior to accepting
any contributions from it (or even applying for the funds in the first place). If the reporting is too
difficult, consider not accepting the related contribution.

e Restricted sub-accounts. Create a small number of sub-accounts within the general classification
of net assets with donor restrictions and encourage donors to contribute into these prearranged sub-
accounts. Doing so keeps a nonprofit from having to create a plethora of restricted accounts, each
one dealing with the different restrictions imposed by each donor.

EXAMPLE

The Munro Arts Festival finds that its donors continually contribute funds under the provision that they be used only
for the presentation of specific art exhibits. This has resulted in the use of more than 40 sub-accounts within the general
classification of net assets with donor restrictions. To improve the situation, the development director authorizes the
creation of just three sub-accounts, which are for portraits, landscapes, and still lifes. Donors are encouraged to con-
tribute to these sub-accounts, from which funds will be disbursed based on the art classifications indicated by their
names.

e Separate bank accounts. Open a separate bank account for each program and move funds into the
account based on what donors are allowing. The accounting staff can then focus on the remaining
cash balance in each account to determine what can be spent on a program. If this approach is used,
be sure to tie the balance in the bank account back to the accounting records on a regular basis, to
keep any irregularities from creeping into the system.

o Flag negative balances. The balance in any restricted net asset account should never drop below
zero, since this implies that the organization has spent more money than it has available. The

20



Basic Nonprofit Accounting Concepts

accounting software should warn the accounting staff when a transaction will drop one of these
account balances below zero. If not, an ongoing staff activity should be to scan the account balances
for negative amounts.

e Document restrictions. A nonprofit can get into trouble with its donors if it does not spend money
in accordance with their wishes. To improve the odds of spending donated funds correctly, create
a detailed listing of the restrictions placed on fund usage by donors, including the dates (if any) on
which these restrictions are terminated. This document should be updated regularly, whenever
funds with new restrictions are received, and when old restrictions are removed or the associated
funds are spent.

Case Study

The use of journal entries and how they impact the financial statements of a nonprofit can be confusing, so
we present in this section a case study that uses the preceding example concerning the activities of Archi-
medes Education to show what happens to the statement of activities and statement of financial position
when each entry is made. More information about financial statements is included in the Nonprofit Finan-
cial Statements chapter.

In the first transaction, a donor contributed $10,000 to assist in the startup of the organization. The
related journal entry was:

JIE #1 Debit Credit
Cash [assets account] 10,000

Donor contributions - unrestricted [revenue account] 10,000
To record receipt of donor contribution

Since this is the first transaction that Archimedes has ever had, the entry is the only one impacting the
financial statements, which are as follows:

Archimedes Education
Statement of Financial Position
As of January 31, 20X1

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $10,000 Accrued expenses $-
Accounts receivable - Net assets:

Fixed assets - Net assets without donor restrictions 10,000
Other assets - Net assets with donor restrictions -
Total assets $10,000 Total liabilities and net assets $10,000
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Archimedes Education
Statement of Activities
For the month ended January 31, 20X1

Net Assets without Net Assets with

Donor Restrictions  Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenues:
Contributions $10,000 $- $10,000
Net assets released from restrictions -
Total revenues $10,000 $- $10,000
Expenses:
Program expenses $- $-
Management and administration expenses - -
Fundraising expenses - -
Total expenses $- $-
Change in net assets $10,000 $- $10,000
+ Beginning net assets - - -
= Ending net assets $10,000 $0 $10,000

In the second transaction, Archimedes pays $1,000 to a landlord for office space. Of this amount, $400 is a
deposit and $600 is the rent for the first month. The related journal entry was:

JIE #2 Debit Credit
Deposits [assets account] 400
Rent expense [expense account] 600

Cash [asset account] 1,000
To record payment of monthly rent and a related security deposit

This transaction reduces the cash balance, recognizes a $600 expense, and creates a deposit asset, as shown
in the following financial statements. Also, note that these transactions are net of the previous $10,000
contribution that already appeared in the statements.

Archimedes Education
Statement of Financial Position
As of January 31, 20X1

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $9,000 Accrued expenses $-
Accounts receivable - Net assets:

Fixed assets - Net assets without donor restrictions 9,400
Other assets 400 Net assets with donor restrictions -
Total assets 9,400 Total liabilities and net assets $9,400
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Archimedes Education
Statement of Activities
For the month ended January 31, 20X1

Net Assets without Net Assets with

Donor Restrictions ~ Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenues:
Contributions $10,000 $- $10,000
Net assets released from restrictions -
Total revenues $10,000 $- $10,000
Expenses:
Program expenses $- $-
Management and administration expenses 600 600
Fundraising expenses - -
Total expenses $- $-
Change in net assets $9,400 $- $9,400
+ Beginning net assets - - -
= Ending net assets $9,400 $0 $9,400

In the third transaction, the donor contributes another $5,000, but this time mandates that the funds only be
used to purchase a photocopier. This means that the funds are categorized as being restricted, as noted in
the following journal entry.

JIE #3 Debit Credit
Cash [assets account] 5,000

Donor contributions — restricted [revenue account] 5,000
To record receipt of restricted donor contribution intended for photocopier purchase

The impact on the January financial statements is that the funds are separately categorized from net assets
without donor restrictions, as shown next.

Archimedes Education
Statement of Financial Position
As of January 31, 20X1

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $14,000 Accrued expenses $-
Accounts receivable - Net assets:

Fixed assets - Net assets without donor restrictions 9,400
Other assets 400 Net assets with donor restrictions 5,000
Total assets $14,400 Total liabilities and net assets $14,400
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Archimedes Education
Statement of Activities
For the month ended January 31, 20X1

Net Assets without Net Assets with

Donor Restrictions  Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenues:
Contributions $10,000 $5,000 $15,000
Net assets released from restrictions -
Total revenues $10,000 $5,000 $15,000
Expenses:
Program expenses $- $-
Management and administration expenses 600 600
Fundraising expenses - -
Total expenses $- $-
Change in net assets $9,400 $5,000 $14,400
+ Beginning net assets - - -
= Ending net assets $9,400 $5,000 $14,400

In the fourth transaction, Archimedes uses the contributed $5,000 to purchase a photocopier, and records
the event with the following journal entry:

JIE #4 Debit Credit
Fixed assets — office equipment [assets account] 5,000
Cash [assets account] 5,000

To record purchase of photocopier, using restricted funds

This transaction shifts cash into a fixed asset, and also shifts the funds in net assets with donor restrictions
to net assets without donor restrictions, as shown in the following financial statements. Note that the month
in which the transaction occurs is February, which impacts the presentation in the statement of activities.

Archimedes Education
Statement of Financial Position
As of February 28, 20X1

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $9,000 Accrued expenses $-
Accounts receivable - Net assets:

Fixed assets 5,000 Net assets without donor restrictions 14,400
Other assets 400 Net assets with donor restrictions -
Total assets $14,400 Total liabilities and net assets $14,400
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Archimedes Education
Statement of Activities
For the month ended February 28, 20X1

Net Assets without Net Assets with

Donor Restrictions  Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenues:
Contributions $- $- $-
Net assets released from restrictions 5,000 -5,000 -
Total revenues $5,000 -$5,000 $-
Expenses:
Program expenses $- $-
Management and administration expenses - -
Fundraising expenses - -
Total expenses $- $-
Change in net assets $5,000 -$5,000 $-
+ Beginning net assets 9,400 5,000 14,400
= Ending net assets $14,400 $- 14,400

In all cases, note that the ending net asset total in the statement of financial position matches the ending net
asset total in the statement of activities.

Summary

The accounting staff of a nonprofit must spend time creating the most appropriate recordkeeping structure
when the system is first organized. This means deciding whether to use an accrual or cash basis system,
developing an effective chart of accounts, and deciding how to account for each transaction type.

Nonprofit accounting is quite similar to project accounting, in that revenues and expenses are generally
traceable to specific activities, such as programs and fundraising activities. This is a more fine-grained level
of detail than many for-profit organizations engage in. This means that more accounting effort is needed
for a given level of activity in a nonprofit entity than in a for-profit business.

This chapter has only addressed the most basic accounting concepts that pertain to a nonprofit. In the
following chapters, we delve into a number of topics for which the accounting requirements for nonprofits
are quite specific, including financial statements, revenue, investments, fixed assets, and pensions.
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Review Questions

1. A board-designated fund varies from a net asset with donor restrictions in that:
a. Board-designated funds are targeted at facility construction projects
b. Only donors can place restrictions on contributed funds
c. A board-designated fund cannot be classified as a net asset with donor restrictions
d. Board-designated funds are automatically time-limited, and then revert back to unrestricted
funds

2. An activity area generally considered part of the management and administration classification is:
a. Cost of goods sold
b. Information technology maintenance
c. Solicitations for contributions
d. Seminars regarding estate planning
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Chapter 3
Nonprofit Financial Statements

Learning Objectives

Identify the types of nonprofit financial statements and the comparable for-profit financial statements.

Introduction

Though a nonprofit does not have shareholders, there are a number of individuals and other entities that
want to view its financial condition and ability to provide services, such as volunteers, donors, and lenders.
This information is provided through the financial statements, which use a standardized format to describe
the financial results, financial position, and cash flows of an organization. The purpose of these statements
is to provide information about the following issues:

e The amount and types of assets, liabilities, and net assets held by a nonprofit, particularly in regard
to the liquidity and financial flexibility of the entity

The effects of certain events on the amount and nature of a nonprofit’s net assets

The amounts and types of inflows and outflows of economic resources

How cash is obtained and spent

The efforts made by a nonprofit to provide services

A nonprofit issues financial statements that are somewhat different in name and structure from those used
by for-profit entities. The following exhibit compares the financial statements used by these two types of
organizations.

Financial Statement Comparison

Nonprofit Statement Comparable For-Profit Statement
Statement of Activities Income Statement

Statement of Financial Position Balance Sheet

Reporting of expenses by nature and function (no comparable document)
Statement of Cash Flows Statement of Cash Flows

(no comparable document) Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

In this chapter, we explore the format and content of each of the financial statements used by nonprofits.

The Statement of Financial Position

A nonprofit needs to report the state of its assets and liabilities as of the end of each reporting period, as
well as provide an indication of its ability to meet its financial obligations. In a for-profit business, the
financial statement used to report this information is the balance sheet. A nonprofit entity reports similar
information in the statement of financial position. The main difference between a balance sheet and a non-
profit’s statement of financial position is that the balance sheet contains a shareholders’ equity section,
which is replaced by a net assets section in the statement of financial position.

A simplified statement of financial position format follows.
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Archimedes Education
Statement of Financial Position
As of April 30, 20X1

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $25,000 Accounts payable $49,000
Accounts receivable 63,000 Net assets:

Fixed assets 180,000 Net assets without donor restrictions 114,000
Other assets 15,000 Net assets with donor restrictions 120,000
Total assets $283,000 Total liabilities and net assets $283,000

The main intent of reporting this information is to show to donors that the entity is relatively liquid, and so
will not go out of business after a large donation is made. If a nonprofit is borrowing money from a lender,
the lender may examine this statement to see if the nonprofit is liquid enough to pay back borrowed funds.

Note: If the reported cash balance is negative, this implies that the entity probably issued checks to suppliers
prior to having the offsetting cash in its bank account. The situation is remedied by using a journal entry to
shift sufficient funds from the cash account back to accounts payable to bring the reported cash balance up
to zero.

The types of information most likely to be found on this statement include the following items, which are
presented in the order in which they are found on the statement. This organizational structure is designed
to present the most liquid assets first, followed by less liquid assets, and then liabilities in order of their
maturity, with the most immediate obligations listed first. Net assets are noted last. The line items are:

e Cash and cash equivalents [asset]. This is cash or assets readily convertible into cash. Examples of
cash are coins, currency, cash in checking accounts, cash in savings accounts, bank drafts, money
orders, and petty cash. Examples of cash equivalents are commercial paper, marketable securities,
money market funds, short-term government bonds, and treasury bills. The two primary criteria for
classification as a cash equivalent are that an asset be readily convertible into a known amount of
cash, and that it be so near its maturity that there is an insignificant risk of changes in value due to
changes in interest rates. A key point is that, if a donor restricts the use of cash to a longer-term
purpose, this cash must be presented as a longer-term asset, not as part of the cash line item. Oth-
erwise, a reader of the financial statements would assume that this cash is available to pay for
immediate liabilities.

e Accounts/ pledges receivable [asset]. A nonprofit may have a business in which it bills customers,
in which case all unpaid billings are considered accounts receivable. In the more common case
where donors pledge money to a nonprofit, these unpaid amounts are classified as pledges receiv-
able.

e Prepaid expenses [asset]. This is expenditures made in advance of consumption. For example, a
nonprofit may pay a landlord at the end of the month for the following month’s rent. Since the rent
has not yet been consumed, it is initially classified as a prepaid expense. This is also a common
classification for prepaid insurance.

o Investments [asset]. This is the fair value of all investments made by a nonprofit, such as in corpo-
rate stocks and bonds.

o Fixed assets [asset]. This is the amounts paid for assets having a longer-term useful life, net of any
accumulated depreciation taken against them.

e Accounts payable [liability]. This is the aggregate amount of any liabilities payable to suppliers,
which have been incurred but not yet paid.
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e Accrued expenses [liability]. This is the amounts of any liabilities payable to third parties, for which
invoices have not yet been received but for which a liability has been incurred and no payment has
yet been made.

e Grants payable [liability]. This is a promise of payment made to issue a grant to a third party.
Deferred revenue [liability]. This is deposits made by third parties that the nonprofit has not yet
earned, or where there is a condition attached to a donation.

e Debt [liability]. This is the amount of any unpaid principal and interest associated with a loan.

o Net assets without donor restrictions [net asset]. This is the unrestricted amount of residual assets.

e Net assets with donor restrictions [net asset]. This is the remaining balance of those donations
received that have conditions attached to them. Separate line items may be reported to distinguish
between different types of donor-imposed restrictions, such as:

Assets that must be invested to provide a permanent source of income
Assets intended to support specific operating activities

Assets to be used in a specific future period

Assets that are to be preserved and not sold

O O O O

A more comprehensive statement of financial position that includes all of the preceding items is as follows:

Archimedes Education
Statement of Financial Position
As of April 30, 20X1

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $25,000 Accounts payable $12,000
Accounts and pledges re- 63,000 Accrued expenses 5,000
ceivable
Prepaid expenses 5,000 Grants payable 14,000
Investments 10,000 Deferred revenue 8,000
Fixed assets 180,000 Debt 10,000
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 114,000
With donor restrictions 120,000
Total assets $283,000 Total liabilities and net assets $283,000

A statement of financial position might contain extra line items that identify current assets and current
liabilities. A current asset is either cash or an asset that can be converted into cash within one year. A current
liability is a liability that is payable within one year. If this identification is used, all items considered current
assets or current liabilities are indented beneath the applicable line item. A sample appears in the following
exhibit.

Types of Current Assets and Liabilities

Current Assets: Current Liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents Accounts payable
Accounts and pledges receivable Accrued expenses
Prepaid expenses Grants payable
Investments Deferred revenue
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It can make sense to arrange the format of the statement of financial position to match the reporting require-
ments of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) in its annual Form 990. The following exhibit is an extract
from the form that shows the reporting structure that the IRS expects to see.

Form 990 Reporting Requirement for the Statement of Financial Position

I Balance Sheet

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part X

(A
Beginning of year End of year
1 Cash—non-interest-bearing . 1
2  SBavings and temporary cash investments . 2
3 Pledges and grants receivable, nat 3
4  Accounts receivable, nat e e e 4
5 Loans and other receivables fmm any current or I’ormur officer, director,
trustee, key employee, creator or founder, substantial contributor, or 35%
controlled entity or family member of any of these persons 5
6 Loans and other receivables from other disqualified persons (as duﬁned
under section 4958(f)(1)), and persons described in section 4958(c)(3}B) . [
7  HNotes and loans recaivable, net 7
§ 8 Inventories for sale or use 8
9 Prepaid expenses and deferred c.ha.rgas 9
10a Land, bulldings, and equipment: cost or other
basis. Complete Part V1 of Schedule D . . . [10a
b Less: accumulated depreciation . . . . . [10b 10c
11 Investmeants — publicly traded securities 11
12  Investments—other securities. See Part IV, lina 11 12
13 Investments—program-redated. See Part [V, line 11 . 13
14  Intangible assets . 14
15  Other assets. Sea Part I‘l.lr Ilnu 11 . 15
16 Total assets. Add lines 1 through 15 (must aqual Ilnu 33} 16
17  Accounts payable and accrued expensas . 17 J_
18  Grants payable . 18
19 Deferred revenue . 19
20 Tax-exempt bond IIEblIItIEs 20
21 Escrow or custodial account liability. Compl&ta F"art I'l.l' nl Schadul& D 21
$(22 Loans and other payables to any current or former officer, director,
g trustee, key employee, creator or founder, substantial contributor, or 35%
X controlled entity or family member of any of these persons 22
d |23 Secured mortgages and notes payable to unrelated third parties 23
24  Unsecured notes and loans payable to unrelated third parties 24
25  Other liabilities (including federal income tax, payables to related third
parties, and other liabilities not included on lines 17-24). Completa Part X
aof Schedula D . C e e e e e 25
26  Total liabilities. Add Imas 1?through 25 26
8 Organizations that follow FASB ASC 958, check hurah _I
ﬁ and complete lines 27, 28, 32, and 33.
% |27  Net assets without donor restrictions 27
g 28  Mat assets with donor restrictions . 28
5 Organizations that do not follow FASB A.SI: BGB, -:;I'm:k hura P i
i and complete lines 29 through 33.
5 29  (Capital stock or trust principal, or current funds . . 29
30  Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, building, or equipment fund . 30
31 Retained earnings, endowment, accumulated income, or other funds . 3
% |32 Total net assats or fund balances . . 32
< | 33  Total liabilities and net assetsfund balamas . 33
Ferrn 990 (2019

A donor-restricted endowment fund may be an underwater endowment fund. This classification arises when
a fund’s fair value is less than the original gift amount or the amount that the donor or the law requires must
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be maintained. In this situation, the accumulated losses associated with the fund are to be included together
with that fund in the line item for net assets with donor restrictions.

The Statement of Activities

The primary intent of a nonprofit is (as the name implies) something other than earning a profit. Conse-
guently, a nonprofit does not issue an income statement, as does a for-profit business. Instead, a nonprofit
issues an alternative called a statement of activities. This statement quantifies the revenue and expenses of
a nonprofit for a reporting period. These revenues and expenses are broken down into the “without donor
restrictions” and “with donor restrictions” classifications that were referred to earlier for the statement of
financial position, and which are divided into separate columns across the statement. The rows in the state-
ment reveal revenues and expenses. Though it is possible to compress these rows down to just a few line
items, it is customary to be more expansive in detailing revenues and expenses. For example, line items
that may be separately presented for nonprofit revenues can include:

Contributions

Fundraising events

Gain on sale of investments
Grants

Investment income
Member dues

Program fees

Explanations for these line items are noted in the following Revenue Accounting chapter. In addition, non-
profit revenues can include net assets released from restriction. This is funds received in an earlier period
that had restrictions placed on them, and for which the restrictions have now been lifted. When these funds
are shifted from the “with donor restrictions” column to the “without donor restrictions” column, the net
effect on revenues during the reporting period is always zero, since this is just a change in classification.

Line items for expenses may also be separately presented, and in considerable detail. At a minimum,
the statement of activities usually includes the following line items:

e Program expenses. Those expenses incurred in order to deliver specific programs in accordance
with the mission of the nonprofit. The presentation may include additional line items to break out
the expenses associated with each individual program.

e Support services expenses. Those expenses used to manage the organization and raise funds.

The net effect of all revenues and expenses is a change in net assets, rather than the profit or loss figure
found in the income statement of a for-profit entity. A sample statement of activities format follows.
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Archimedes Education
Statement of Activities
For the month ended June 30, 20X1

Without Donor ~ With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Totals

Revenues, gains, and other support:
Contributions $48,000 $10,000 $58,000
Net unrealized and realized gains on long-
term investments 2,000 2,000
Net assets released from restrictions 12,000 -$12.000

Total revenues, gains, and other support $62.000 -$2.000 $60,000
Expenses and losses:
Program expenses $29,000 $29,000
Management and administration expenses 11,000 11,000
Fundraising expenses 6,000 6,000
Total expenses $46,000 $46,000

Change in net assets $16,000 -$2,000 $14,000
+ Beginning net assets 32,000 12,000 44,000
= Ending net assets $48,000 $10,000 $58,000

In the sample, Archimedes has obtained $48,000 of unrestricted revenues that it is allowed to use in any
way, such as to pay for current operations. In addition, a donor restriction on revenues received in an earlier
period has been lifted, allowing Archimedes to spend $12,000 that had been contributed in a prior period,;
this involves a reclassification from the donor restrictions category to the without donor restrictions cate-
gory. In addition, $10,000 of contributions have been received, and for which there is a donor restriction.
There are also unrealized gains of $2,000 on investments.

Despite the implication that a nonprofit is not supposed to earn a profit, it may need to generate sub-
stantial profits in order to guard against shortfalls in donor funding or unexpected increases in expenses.
Consequently, the results appearing in the statement of activities are closely perused by the managers of a
nonprofit, to see if the business is generating sufficient profit to guard against future financial difficulties.

The ending net assets figure in the statement of activities should tie back to the information in the
statement of financial position. This is the beginning amount of net assets, net of any changes in net assets
during the reporting period.

The IRS requires that a subset of the information in the statement of activities related to revenues be
presented in a specific format in its annual Form 990. The following exhibit is an extract from the form that
shows the reporting structure that the IRS expects to see. It can make sense to design a chart of accounts
for a nonprofit so that the required information can be easily extracted in the IRS-mandated format.
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Form 990 Reporting Requirement for the Statement of Revenue

Statement of Revenue
Check if Schedule O contains a responsa or note to any line inthisPartvin . . . . . . . . . . . . . []
i~ ic 1o

Total revenue | Apladed or coempt Unirelated Roverue exciuded
funchon revenue | business. nevenus from tax under

sactions B12-514
jg 1a Federated campaigns
g b Membership dues .
E ¢ Fundraising events
s.u d Related organizations
2| e Govemment grants {contributions)
EE f Al other contribufions, gifts, grants,
" and similar emounts not included above
Eg g Moncash contributions included in
g-i lines 1a-1f . .
h Total. Add lines 1a-1f

Program Service
Revenus

All other program service revenus .
Total. Add lines 2a-2f . . . L&
Investment income (inclhuding dnrdanch,. n'hEl'aaL and

ather similar amounts) . . . L3 %

Inmfmmrwaah‘mntuftax—&mpthmﬂp'm:hi

mn-

“u-ﬁn H.HH'E

LI

Gross rents Ga
Less: rental expenses | 6b
Rental income ar (Joss) | Be
Met rental incomeor (loss) . . .
Gross amount from (I Securities
sales of mEssets
ather than inventory
b Leszs: costor other basis

andsdesenperses . | Th
Gainorloss) . . | Te
Mt gain or (loss)

?EHH‘E

&

Other Revenue

L
HEH
E
|

af contributions reported on line
1c). See Part IV, line 18 Ba
Less: direct expenses . . Bb
r«htmnr[hﬂfmmfum events
Ha
ab

b
[
Ba Gross income from  gaming
activities. Sea Part IV, line 19
b Less: direct expenses .
c hhtrmmnr[hﬂajfmmgﬂmngacﬁuiﬁaﬂ .
10a Gross sales of inventory, less
retums and allowances . . . |10a
b Lless:costofgoodssold . . . [10b
¢ Met incomea or (loss) from sales of inventory .

Miscellanaous
Revenue

[
d All other revenue -
] Tutd.ﬁu:l-dimﬂa—ﬁd
12  Total revenue. S=e instructions

Fam ‘990 =a19;
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The Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows contains information about the flows of cash into and out of a nonprofit; in
particular, it shows the extent of those nonprofit activities that generate and use cash. This information is
useful for donors, who may want to know how their contributed funds are used. The primary activities are:

e Operating activities. These are an entity’s primary revenue-producing activities. Examples of op-
erating activities are the provision of program services and the receipt of donations from contribu-
tors, as well as disbursements to contractors and employees.

e Investing activities. These involve the purchase and sale of investment instruments, as well as the
acquisition of fixed assets.

o Financing activities. These activities include the incurrence and repayment of debt. Financing ac-
tivities can also include the earning of interest and dividends associated with net assets with donor
restrictions.

A nonprofit can use the direct method or the indirect method to present the statement of cash flows. These
methods are described next.

The Direct Method

The direct method of presenting the statement of cash flows presents the specific cash flows associated with
items that affect cash flow. Items that typically do so include:

Cash collected from customers
Interest and dividends received
Cash paid to employees

Cash paid to suppliers

Interest paid

Income taxes paid

The format of the direct method appears in the following example. If the direct method is used, a nonprofit
can provide a reconciliation to the indirect method (as explained next), but it is not required.
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EXAMPLE

Newton Education constructs the following statement of cash flows using the direct method:

Newton Education

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 12/31/20X1

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from donors $45,800,000

Cash paid to suppliers -29,800,000

Cash paid to employees -11,200,000

Interest paid -310,000

Grants paid -1,700,000

Net cash provided by operating activities $2,790,000

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets -580,000

Proceeds from sale of investments 110,000

Net cash used by investing activities -470,000

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from new mortgage 1,500,000

Payment of mortgage -460,000

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,040,000

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,360,000

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,640,000

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $5,000,000
Reconciliation of change in net assets to net cash provided by operating activities:

Change in net assets $2,665,000

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided

by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization $125,000

Provision for losses on pledges receivable 15,000

Gain on sale of equipment -155,000

Increase in grants payable 32,000

Increase in accounts payable 90,000

Increase in other liabilities 18,000

Total adjustments 125,000

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,790,000
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The standard-setting bodies encourage the use of the direct method, but it is rarely used, for the excellent
reason that the information in it is difficult to assemble; nonprofits usually do not collect and store infor-
mation in the manner required for this format. Instead, they use the indirect method, which is described
next.

The Indirect Method

Under the indirect method of presenting the statement of cash flows, the presentation begins with the change
in net assets, with subsequent additions to or deductions from that amount for non-cash revenue and expense
items, resulting in cash generated from operations. The cash flows are further adjusted for cash flows from
investing and financing activities. The format of the indirect method appears in the following example.

EXAMPLE
Newton Education constructs the following statement of cash flows using the indirect method:
Newton Education

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 12/31/20X1

Cash flows from operating activities

Change in net assets $3,000,000
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization $125,000
Provision for losses on pledges receivable 20,000
Gain on sale of facility -65,000
80,000
Increase in pledges receivable -250,000
Decrease in inventories 325,000
Decrease in trade payables -50,000
25,000
Cash generated from operations 3,105,000

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets -500,000
Proceeds from sale of equipment 35,000
Net cash used in investing activities -465,000

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from new mortgage 325,000
Payment of mortgage -45,000
Net cash used in financing activities 280,000
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,920,000
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,080,000
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $5,000,000
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The indirect method is very popular, because the information required for it is relatively easily assembled
from the accounts that a nonprofit normally maintains.

How to Prepare the Statement of Cash Flows

The most commonly used format for the statement of cash flows is the indirect method. The general layout
of an indirect method statement of cash flows is shown below, along with an explanation of the source of
the information in the statement.

Nonprofit Name
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 12/31/20X1

Line Item Derivation
Cash flows from operating activities

Change in net assets From the change in net assets line on the statement of activities

Adjustment for:

Depreciation and amortization From the corresponding line items in the statement of activities

Provision for losses on pledges receivable From the change in the allowance for doubtful accounts in the
period

Gain/loss on sale of facility From the gain/loss accounts in the statement of activities

Increase/decrease in pledges receivable Change in pledges receivable during the period, from the state-
ment of financial position

Increase/decrease in inventories Change in inventories during the period, from the statement of fi-
nancial position

Increase/decrease in trade payables Change in trade payables during the period, from the statement
of financial position

Cash generated from operations Summary of the preceding items in this section

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets Itemized in the fixed asset accounts during the period
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets Itemized in the fixed asset accounts during the period
Net cash used in investing activities Summary of the preceding items in this section

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from new mortgage Itemized in the long-term debt account during the period
Payment of mortgage Itemized in the long-term debt account during the period
Net cash used in financing activities Summary of the preceding items in this section

Net change in cash and cash equivalents Summary of all preceding subtotals

The general layout of a direct method statement of cash flows is shown next, along with an explanation of
the source of the information in the statement.

37



Nonprofit Financial Statements

Nonprofit Name
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 12/31/20X1

Line Item Derivation
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers Summary of the cash receipts journal for the period

Cash paid to suppliers Summary of the cash disbursements journal for the period (less
the financing payments noted below)

Cash paid to employees Summary of the payroll journal for the period

Cash generated from operations Summary of the preceding items in this section

Interest paid Itemized in the cash disbursements journal

Grants paid Itemized in the cash disbursements journal

Net cash from operating activities Summary of the preceding items in this section

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets Itemized in the fixed asset accounts during the period
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets Itemized in the fixed asset accounts during the period
Net cash used in investing activities Summary of the preceding items in this section

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from new mortgage Itemized in the long-term debt account during the period
Payment of mortgage Itemized in the long-term debt account during the period
Net cash used in financing activities Summary of the preceding items in this section

Net change in cash and cash equivalents Summary of all preceding subtotals

As can be seen from the explanations for either the indirect or direct methods, the statement of cash flows
is much more difficult to create than the statement of activities and statement of financial position. In fact,
a complete statement may require a substantial supporting spreadsheet that shows the details for each line
item in the statement.

If the nonprofit’s accounting software contains a template for the statement of cash flows, use it! The
information may not be aggregated quite correctly, and it may not contain all of the line items required for
the statement, but it will produce most of the information needed, and is much easier to modify than the
alternative of creating the statement entirely by hand.

Reporting of Expenses by Nature and Function

It can be useful for a nonprofit to report its expenses by nature and function. This presentation is used to
show how expenses are incurred for each functional area of the business. Information reported by nature
means that a line item is presented that contains expense results, such as for salaries, rent, electricity, sup-
plies, interest expense, and so forth. This information must be reported in one place, which can be on the
face of the statement of activities, as disclosure notes, or in a separate financial statement.
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Functional areas typically include the following:

¢ Management and administration
e Fundraising
e Programs

A possible presentation of this information is as a matrix, where each functional area is listed across the top
row of the report, and the expense types are listed down the left side. This approach presents the relationship
between the functional and natural classifications for all expenses. An example follows:

Newton Education
Expenses by Nature and Function
for the year ended 12/31/xx

Secondary Primary
Management and Education Education
Administration  Fundraising Program Program Totals
Compensation $225,000 $190,000 815,000  $1,230,000  $2,460,000
Rent and utilities 78,000 25,000 100,000 190,000 393,000
Supplies 26,000 12,000 65,000 83,000 186,000
Depreciation 15,000 10,000 29,000 34,000 88,000
Total $344,000 $237,000 $1,009,000  $1,537,000 $3,127,000

If a nonprofit has a number of programs, it is permissible to aggregate and report their functional expenses.
When aggregating programs for reporting purposes, do so by the function of each set of programs. Also,
consistently aggregate this information from period to period, so that a reader can track changes in expense
levels over time.

Expenses reported by nature and function should tie back to the information in the statement of activi-
ties.

It can make sense to arrange the reporting of expenses by nature and function to match the reporting
requirements of the IRS in its annual Form 990. The following exhibit is an extract from the form that
shows the reporting structure that the IRS expects to see.
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Form 990 Reporting Requirement for the Statement of Functional Expenses

LAl Statement of Functional Expenses
Saction 501c){3) and 507(c)(d) organizations must complete all columns. Al other organizations must complete coluwmn (4.

Check if Schadule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part X .

— . 11

Do pot include amounts reporfed on lines Gb, Th,
8b, Sb, and 106 of Part VL

Ay
Total experses

Program senace
expenses

[i=]
Management and
K|

(o
Funoratsing
pKpenses

1

2

10
11

[ I I = M I = <]

Grants and other assistance o domestic organizations
and domestic govemments. See Part IV, line 21
Grants and other assistance to domestic
individuals. See Part [V, line 22 .

Grants and other assistance to foralgn
organizations, foreign governments, and
foreign individuals. See Part IV, lines 15 and 16
Benefits paid to or for members . . .
Compensation of current officers, directors,
trusteas, and key employees

Compensation not included abowve to u::baqudrﬁad
persons (as defined under saction 4958{fy1)) and
persons described in section 4958{c)(3)E) -
Other salaries and wages . .

Pension plan accruals and ::unmbuuorﬁ {n::luda
section 401(k) and 403(b) employer contributions)
Other employee benefits . .

Payroll taxes _

Fees for services {nunaTq:HuyEEs]c
Management . . R
Accounting . . . . . .

Lobbying . -

Professional ﬁmd‘atalng BEMVICES. Eae FEl't v, ha 17
Investment managament fees

Other. (If line 11g amount exceads 10% of line 25, l:nlumn
(&) amount, list ine 119 expenses on Schadule 0
Advertising and promotion

Information technology . .

Rovaltes . . . . -
Dt:l::upanc.'g,r_...._

Travel . . .

Payments of haud or Erltartarlment EXpENsEs
for any federal, state, or local public officials
Conferences, conventions, and meetings
Interest . . . . -

Payments to EllTlIlates P

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Insurance . . . R

Other expenses. temize expenses not cowered
abowve (List miscellaneous expensas on line 24a_ If
line 242 amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column
(&) amount, list line 248 axpensss on Schedule O

Total functional expenses. Add Enes 1 through 24e

Joint costs. Complete this line only if the
organization reported in column (B) joint costs
from a combined educational campaign and
fundraising solicitation. Cheack here & || if
following SOP 98-2 (ASC 953-720)
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Financial Statement Disclosures

When issuing financial statements to outside parties, it is usually necessary to attach a set of disclosures to
the financial statements that describe additional issues. The most common disclosure addresses the account-
ing policies used by the organization, such as whether it uses the cash or accrual basis of accounting. There
may also be a set of subsidiary-level tables that provide further information about certain line items in the
financial statements, such as a breakdown of the classifications of fixed assets listed in the statement of
financial position. These additional disclosures are noted at the end of other chapters that pertain to more
specific accounting topics.

In addition, there are several general disclosures that must be made when nonprofit financials are re-
leased. These general disclosures are:

Nature of activities. State what the nonprofit does; if there are several different programs, describe
them in general terms. This description can instead be included in the statement of activities by
listing them within the column headers.

Endowment funds. If there are endowment funds, disclose how they are classified within net assets,
how net assets have changed in the reporting period, the spending policies associated with net as-
sets, and any related policies pertaining to how these funds are invested.

Legal interpretation. If there are laws governing the classification of net assets and restricted en-
dowment funds, clarify the board’s interpretation of these laws. For example:

The entity is subject to the State Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (SPMIFA), and so classifies
the amounts in its donor-restricted endowment funds as net assets with donor restrictions because those net
assets are time-restricted until the Board appropriates the amounts for expenditure. The Board has interpreted
SPMIFA as not requiring the maintenance of purchasing power of the original amount contributed, unless a
donor stipulates to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Board considers a fund to be underwater
if the fair value of the fund is less than the sum of the original value of donated gifts and any accumulations
to the fund that are required to be maintained in perpetuity, as noted in the directions accompanying the
applicable gift instrument.

e Spending policy. Clarify the entity’s spending policy for how endowment assets are used, including

its interpretation of the ability to spend from underwater endowment funds. For example:

The entity spending policy is to appropriate all of the excess return from its endowments over the amount
needed to maintain the value of those endowments, less 20% of this excess return, which is added back to
the endowments. The intent of this policy is to continue to increase the endowment valuation over time,
thereby improving the financial security of the entity.

e Investment policy. Note the details of the entity’s investment policy, including return objectives
and risk parameters, how these objectives relate to the spending policy, and the strategies used to

achieve the return objectives. For example:

The entity seeks to achieve a consistent rate of return over time, so that it can provide some predictability to
the cash inflow available to its programs. Accordingly, all funds are used to purchase highly-rated bonds,
with maturities designed to match the needs of the programs to which the funds are linked. To diversify risk,
bonds are purchased from a variety of industry and government sectors.
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e Endowment composition. State the composition of the endowments by class of net assets. Sepa-
rately show donor-restricted funds from board-restricted funds. For example:

Net assets with donor restrictions, the income from which is expendable to support:

Program A activities $400,000
Program B activities 120,000
Program C activities 1,250,000
Total $1,770,000

e Reconciliation. Provide a reconciliation that shows all changes in the period from the beginning
endowment to the ending endowment, by net asset class. The reconciliation should be broken down
into investment income, net appreciation or depreciation of assets, contributions, appropriations,
reclassifications, and any other changes. For example:

Net Assets without Net Assets with
Donor Restrictions  Donor Restrictions Total
Endowment net assets, beginning of year $2,000,000 $5,200,000  $7,200,000
Net investment return 90,000 240,000 330,000
Contributions 200,000 600,000 800,000
Appropriations for_ expendlture that contain 210.000 240.000 450 000
no purpose restrictions = = —
Endowment net assets, end of year $2,080,000 $5,800,000 $7,880,000

o Deficiencies. Note the fair value of underwater endowment funds, the original amount required to
be maintained, and the aggregate deficiency in these funds. For example:

Certain of the entity’s endowment funds stipulate that any changes in the consumer price index that deflate
the value of an endowment be added back into the endowment, thereby preserving the inflation-adjusted
value of the endowment. In the presented year of results, the fair value of the entity’s underwater endowment
funds was $1,150,000, as compared to $1,270,000 that was required to be maintained. The difference was an
aggregate deficiency of $120,000 in these funds.

e Fundraising ratio. If a fundraising expense to contributions received ratio is presented, also reveal
how the ratio is calculated.

e Purchasing power. If a nonprofit is subject to a donor restriction or law that requires the mainte-
nance of purchasing power for donor-restricted endowment funds, the nonprofit should periodically
adjust the disclosed amount that must be maintained in order to uphold the purchasing power of the
endowment fund.

e Liquidity. Describe the liquidity or maturity of assets and liabilities, including any restrictions
and/or self-imposed limits on the use of certain items. Note how the nonprofit makes its liquid
resources available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within the next year. If applicable,
include the following additional information:

o Unusual circumstances restricting the use of cash

o Significant liquidity problems

o Any circumstances under which the nonprofit has not maintained sufficient cash to comply
with donor-imposed restrictions

o Information about material limitations resulting from contractual agreements with business
partners, including loan covenants
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For example:

The entity has $250,000 of financial assets available within one year of the balance sheet date to
meet its cash needs for general expenditures, consisting of cash of $50,000, contributions receivable
of $80,000 and short-term investments of $120,000. None of these assets are subject to contractual
or donor restrictions that would make them unavailable for general expenditure within one year of
the balance sheet date.

The entity has a goal to maintain financial assets, which consist of cash and short-term investments,
on hand to meet 75 days of normal operating expenses, which are usually $100,000. As part of its
liquidity management processes, the entity invests cash in excess of daily requirements in Board-
approved short-term investments, including money market funds and certificates of deposit. In ad-
dition, the entity has a committed line of credit for $25,000, which it can draw upon to meet any
unanticipated liquidity needs.

o Board designations. If the financial statements include internal board designations or appropria-
tions, include in the accompanying notes an appropriate level of disaggregation of these actions.

o Cost allocations. Describe the methods used to allocate costs among the various program and sup-
port functions.

e Asset restrictions. If there are restrictions on the assets presented within the statement of financial
position, clarify the nature of these restrictions in the notes accompanying the financial statements.
Also, note any contractual limitations on the use of assets, such as:

o Assets set aside to satisfy reserve requirements under charitable gift annuity agreements
o Assets set aside under collateral arrangements

o Assets set aside under self-insurance funding arrangements

o Restricted cash set aside under debt agreements

In a situation in which a nonprofit maintains a collection, it must also disclose its organizational policy for
the use of proceeds from collection items that have been sold, including whether the proceeds could be used
for the acquisition of new collection items, the direct care of existing collections, or both. When the pro-
ceeds may be used for direct care, the nonprofit should disclose its definition of direct care.

Summary

This chapter described the nature and content of the financial statements that a nonprofit is expected to
produce. It is critical to fully understand each line item in these statements at a level of detail where they
can be explained to contributors. Otherwise, ignorance of the financial statements can lead to the loss of
contributions from key donors. It is helpful to examine the Analysis of a Nonprofit’s Financial Health
chapter to gain a greater understanding of how additional information can be teased out of the financial
statements.

A crucial issue when constructing financial statements is to adopt a consistent method for recording
revenues and charging expenses to the same functions and programs from period to period. This is much
more of an issue than with for-profit organizations, since a nonprofit needs to assign revenues and expenses
at a more detailed level. If these assignments are made incorrectly or are deliberately skewed, the result can
be financial statements that give an incorrect impression of how funds are being used, which can impact
the amount of contributions received from donors.
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Review Questions

1. The payment of cash to employees is recorded in the ___ section of the statement of cash flows.
a. Operating activities
b. Nonprofit activities
c. Investing activities
d. Financing activities

2. An example of an expense reported by nature is:
a. A program
b. Utilities expense
c. Fundraising
d. Management and administration
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Chapter 4
Revenue Accounting

Learning Objectives

Specify the instances in which revenue and gains can be recognized by a nonprofit.

Introduction

A nonprofit’s management is likely to be especially concerned with the amount of revenues that the organ-
ization can recognize, since an upward trend of revenues is an indicator of an organization’s health that
may attract additional donors. Also, an organization with higher revenue levels may qualify for a larger
proportion of available government grants. Consequently, there is likely to be great interest in the account-
ing rules related to revenue. In this chapter, we address the various types of revenue, pass-through contri-
butions, exchange value, revenue journal entries, and similar topics.

Types of Revenue

Revenue is the “top line” income that a nonprofit receives from third parties. A nonprofit can receive a
variety of revenue types, which include:

Donor contributions. This is a payment made by a third party, where the third party does not expect
to receive any compensation in exchange for the payment. A donor contribution may be unrestricted
or restricted. The payment may be in cash, or in the form of some other asset, or by paying off a
liability owed by a nonprofit. Contributions received that have donor-imposed restrictions are re-
ported as donor-restricted support that increases net assets with donor restrictions. When contribu-
tions have no donor-imposed restrictions, they are reported as support that increases net assets
without donor restrictions. Donor-restricted contributions for which the conditions are met in the
same reporting period can be reported as support within net assets without donor restrictions.
Fundraising proceeds. A nonprofit routinely engages in events that are designed to raise money for
its general operations or for specific programs. Sample fundraising events are art shows, dinners,
and periodic mailings. These activities may involve the transfer of some item of value back to a
donor, such as art work, a dinner, or a trip. The value of these items of value is termed exchange
value, which is dealt with in a later section.

Fee for services. A nonprofit may have operations similar to those of a for-profit enterprise, where
it provides goods or services in exchange for a fee. If so, the fee is treated as revenue, while the
cost of the goods or services provided are recognized within the cost of goods (or services) sold
line item. These fees are recognized during the period when goods are sold or services are provided.
Examples of fee for service arrangements are:

o Aninstitute of higher learning charges tuition in exchange for providing a degree program.
The tuition fee is recognized over the period during which the education is provided.

o A state CPA society charges its members a fee for continuing professional education clas-
ses that they attend. The fee is recognized in the period when the classes are attended.

o A ballet company charges attendees a fee for their performances. The fee is recognized in
the period when the performance is completed.

Promises to give. Donors may commit in writing to making payments to a nonprofit, perhaps over
several years. See the following Promises to Give section for more information.
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e Stock donations. Donors may contribute some portion of their stock holdings to nonprofits in order
to take a tax deduction on the fair value of the stock. When this happens, the nonprofit records the
value of the stock received at its fair value on the date of receipt. See the Investment Accounting
chapter for more information.

o Collections. A group of artworks intended for public use is considered a collection. There are mul-
tiple options for how to recognize a collection (if at all), which are dealt with in the Fixed Asset
Accounting chapter.

e In-kind service donations. Volunteers routinely donate large amounts of their time to the operations
of a nonprofit. A nonprofit can record the value of their time using a reasonable valuation, but only
if both of the following conditions are met:

o The services create or enhance non-financial assets; and
o The services require specialized skills, are provided by persons with those skills, and would
otherwise need to be purchased.

If these conditions are met, the nonprofit recognizes the value of the services as both revenue and
an expense, so that the net effect on the statement of activities is zero. The accounting is somewhat
different if a fixed asset is involved; see the Fixed Asset Accounting chapter for more information.

Tip: Since there is no net change in the statement of financial activities as a result of recording in-kind
service donations (with the exception of fixed assets), it is usually easiest to not record these types of do-
nations at all.

e In-kind materials donations. A donor may contribute assets other than cash. For example, food-
stuffs or used cars may be donated. These donations are to be recorded at their fair values. The fair
value of any inventory items contributed can be derived from published catalogs, vendors, apprais-
ers, and so forth. The amount of effort that goes into the determination of fair value will likely
depend on the extent of the donation; for example, a nonprofit is more likely to engage the services
of an appraiser if a facility is donated than if a bag of used clothes is received.

Tip: When it is difficult to assign a value to a donation, it is best not to assign a value at all. For example,
it can be difficult to assign a value to a gift of used clothing, and the value is also likely to be so small that
ascertaining a valuation is not worthwhile.

e Items to be used in fundraising. Donors may contribute such items as gift certificates, trips, and
concert tickets to a nonprofit, to be used as prizes in fundraising campaigns. These items are to be
recorded as revenue at their fair values when received. Once these items are given away as part of
a fundraising event, the nonprofit can also recognize as revenue the difference between the fund-
raising total and the previously recorded revenue associated with the items used in the fundraising
event.

e Memberships. Nonprofits may have a large membership base that pays an annual membership fee.
If so, the entity recognizes this revenue ratably over the period covered by a membership.

A gain can be comprised of any of the preceding items, but only when the item does not constitute one of
the ongoing major operations of the organization. For example, the gain on sale of an asset is likely to be
recorded as a gain, rather than revenue, unless the entity is in the business of selling assets. Thus, revenue
in one nonprofit might be considered a gain in another nonprofit.
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Promises to Give

A donor may promise a nonprofit to contribute money to it in the future. This promise is called a pledge.
There are many types of pledges, such as ones that are to be fulfilled all at one time, in increments, and
with or without restrictions. The accounting for a pledge depends upon the conditions attached to it. The
variations are:

e Unconditional pledge. When a donor commits to a pledge without reservation, the nonprofit re-
ceiving the funds records the pledge as revenue and an account receivable.

e Conditional pledge. When a donor commits to a pledge, but only when a condition is met, the
nonprofit does not record anything. Instead, it waits for the condition to be fulfilled and then records
the pledge as revenue and an account receivable. If the probability that a condition will not be
fulfilled is remote, the pledge can be treated as an unconditional pledge.

EXAMPLE

Mole Industries has a standing policy of matching all donations made by its employees to Archimedes Education. The
offer of Mole Industries is a conditional pledge, since it is contingent upon donations being made by its employees.
In May, Mole’s employees contribute $500 to Archimedes, so Mole pays Archimedes an additional $500. This match-
ing amount can be recognized by Archimedes upon receipt.

EXAMPLE

The president of Mole Industries promises to give Archimedes an additional $10,000 donation if Archimedes provides
him with its year-end financial statements. Since the probability that Archimedes will withhold this information is
remote, Archimedes could treat the promise as an unconditional one, and recognize the revenue and an offsetting
receivable at once.

A contribution is considered to be conditional when the associated agreement includes a barrier that must
be overcome and either a right of return of assets transferred or a right of release of a promisor’s obligation
to transfer assets. The presence of both a barrier and a right of return or a right of release indicates that a
recipient is not entitled to the transferred assets or a future transfer of assets until it has overcome the barriers
in the agreement. The following are indicators that a barrier exists in an agreement:

e There is a measurable performance-related barrier, such as a stipulation that the recipient is entitled
to the assets only after it has acquired matching funds from other sources. As another example of a
performance-related barrier, the recipient must provide 500 meals per week to the indigent.

e The extent to which a stipulation limits the actions of the recipient on the conduct of an activity,
such as a requirement to hire specific people to conduct the activity. This stipulation does not in-
clude any administrative tasks or trivial items.

When in doubt, a nonprofit should not record a pledge in the accounting records. Instead, wait for the
situation to resolve itself, so that it can tell with certainty the circumstances under which a donor will make
a contribution. In many cases, a simple notification of a forthcoming payment is not sufficient proof that a
pledge exists. Instead, there should be a well-documented pledge that itemizes the amount to be paid and
any conditions that must be fulfilled prior to payment.
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If a pledge commitment is unconditional and legally enforceable, the nonprofit is required to recognize
the present value of the entire series of payments. Present value is the current worth of the cash to be
received in the future with one or more payments, which has been discounted at a market rate of interest.
The present value requirement is subject to the following variations:

o If the funds are to be received within one year, it is permissible to recognize the entire amount of
the pledge, rather than just its present value.

e The estimated amount of cash flows can be used in the present value calculation, rather than the
pledged amount. This allows management to be more conservative and recognize a lesser amount
of revenue if it is uncertain about the total amount to be received or the timing of the receipt.

Tip: When a donor pledges that a contribution will be made in a certain amount and then fulfills the pledge
with a stock donation, it is possible that the fair value of the stock will be less than the amount of the pledge.
If so, contact the donor to determine how the remainder of the pledge will be fulfilled. Otherwise, the donor
may assume that the obligation has been fulfilled, and will contribute no additional assets.

Tip: Itis best to develop standardized pledge agreements for donors to sign, so that pledges can be recog-
nized as revenue.

Pass-Through Contributions

A special condition is situations in which a nonprofit raises money on behalf of other nonprofits, to which
it passes through all funds received. For example, a nonprofit may have a separate foundation whose sole
purpose is to raise funds for the nonprofit. If these transactions were to be passed through to the ultimate
recipient at once with no accounting for the revenue by the pass-through entity, this means the entity would
show management and administration and fundraising expenses in its statement of activities, but no reve-
nues. Financial statements containing such an imbalance would hardly encourage donors to contribute
money.

Under GAAP, when a donor contributes to a pass-through organization and mandates that the funds be
forwarded to a third party, the funds are to be recorded by the pass-through entity as a cash asset and a
liability to forward the funds to the third party. This means that the donation only appears in the statement
of financial position of the pass-through entity; it never appears as revenue in the statement of activities.
However, there are two situations in which the pass-through organization can instead record the donation
as revenue and the subsequent forwarding of funds to the third party as an expense. These situations are:

e Variance power is granted. The donor explicitly grants variance power to the pass-through organ-
ization. This is the unilateral power to redirect funds. The variance power must allow the pass-
through organization to unilaterally override the instructions of the donor.

e Financially interrelated. The pass-through entity and the ultimate beneficiary are financially inter-
related. In addition, the beneficiary organization is not a trustee of the pass-through organization.
This financial interrelationship is considered to be present when one entity has the ability to influ-
ence the financial and operating decisions of the other, and one entity has an ongoing economic
interest in the net assets of the other. Examples of situations in which an entity can influence the
decisions of another entity include:

o Having significant representation on the board of directors of the other entity

o The charter or bylaws of the pass-through entity restrict its activities to benefit the other
entity

o An agreement allows one entity to actively participate in the policy-making decisions of
the other entity
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A further guestion when dealing with pass-through contributions is when the ultimate beneficiary of the
funds can recognize the revenue. Is it when the funds are actually received by the beneficiary, or at an
earlier date? In brief, a beneficiary can recognize its interest in the assets held by a pass-through organiza-
tion, but only if the pass-through entity does not have variance power over how the funds are used. If there
is no variance power and the organizations are interrelated, the beneficiary essentially uses the equity
method to record its interest in the net assets of the pass-through organization. The equity method is de-
scribed in the Investment Accounting chapter.

EXAMPLE

The Arcadia Mountaineering Club (AMC) is a nonprofit organization that has been in existence for over a century,
and provides free escorted hikes through the Maine wilderness. Several members of the club decide to form a pass-
through organization called the Arcadia Foundation to raise funds for the AMC. The two entities are closely inter-
twined, since the charter of the Foundation specifically restricts its activities to fundraising on behalf of the AMC. In
addition, two members of the AMC board of directors currently sit on the board of the Foundation. Since the entities
are clearly interrelated, the Foundation can recognize all contributions received as revenue. When these funds are sent
to the AMC, the Foundation records them as an expense. The AMC can record its interest in any changes in the net
assets of the Foundation.

EXAMPLE

The South Face Corporation sends mountaineering supplies to the Kansas Mountaineering Foundation, to be used by
members of the Kansas Mountaineering Club (KMC). The bylaws of the Foundation state that it is organized to obtain
monetary and other types of assets to support the training mission of the KMC. The Foundation can decide when to
transfer assets to the KMC. The KMC does not exercise any direct control over the Foundation, but the entities are
financially interrelated, since the Foundation exists to benefit the KMC.

The Foundation initially recognizes the fair value of the mountaineering supplies as an increase in its assets and con-
tribution revenue. This is classified as a restricted net asset, since the donor has specified the use to which the supplies
must be put. When the Foundation eventually transfers the supplies to the KMC, the Foundation recognizes an expense
and reduces its recorded assets.

As part of the preparation of its periodic financial statements, the KMC recognizes its interest in any changes in its
interest in the Foundation. Thus, the Foundation’s receipt of supplies from the South Face Corporation increases the
KMC'’s recognized amount of its interest in the net assets of the Foundation. When the KMC receives the supplies
from the Foundation, it recognizes the fair value of the assets received, and reduces its interest in the net assets of the
Foundation.

EXAMPLE

A business transfers $100,000 to The Rescue Foundation, with the attached proviso that The Foundation uses the gift
to support the activities of search and rescue operations in the Rocky Mountain region. The bylaws of The Foundation
state that it is organized to provide financial support for the benefit of Colorado Springs Rescue, Denver Helicopter
Search, and Boulder Terrain Search. All four entities are affiliates that are controlled by American Search and Rescue.

The Foundation recognizes the $100,000 as an unrestricted net asset, since the donating business did not identify a
specific beneficiary for its gift. When The Foundation eventually transfers the money to another nonprofit, The Foun-
dation recognizes an expense and reduces its recorded assets.

As part of the preparation of their financial statements, Colorado Springs Rescue, Denver Helicopter Search, and
Boulder Terrain Search recognize any changes in their interests in the net assets of The Foundation. When doing so,
each affiliate is only allowed to include those net assets of The Foundation that are specifically restricted to the use of
that affiliate. Since The Foundation is allowed to choose how it disburses the $100,000 donation, none of the affiliates
can recognize any portion of this donation. American Search and Rescue can recognize as its interest in the net assets
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of The Foundation the assets resulting from the $100,000 donation, as well as all other changes in the net assets of
The Foundation.

If the three affiliates of The Foundation had instead entered into an agreement that stated how unrestricted gifts to The
Foundation should be distributed amongst the group, each of the affiliates could then recognize its share of The Foun-
dation’s net assets without donor restrictions. The same result could be achieved if American Search and Rescue,
which controls the affiliates, were to mandate a specific formula under which such donations would be distributed
amongst the affiliates.

Exchange Value

Donors may agree to make a contribution to a nonprofit in exchange for an item or service. For example, a
person paying $100 might receive a book in exchange. The item or service given to a donor has an assigned
exchange value. When a donor accepts this exchange, the value of the received item or service reduces the
tax-deductible amount of the donor’s contribution. For example, if a donor bids $50,000 at a charity auction
for a used vehicle that has a fair value of $30,000, the donor can only take a tax deduction of $20,000; this
represents the net amount of contribution paid.

When a donor makes a contribution and does not accept any item or service in return, the donor can
then use the entire amount of the contribution as a tax deduction.

Transfers of Assets

A donor may transfer assets to a nonprofit, along with a conditional promise to actually contribute them to
the nonprofit at a later date. In this situation, the nonprofit can only record the transaction as a refundable
advance, which is not revenue. Instead, the advance is considered a liability. If the donor later makes the
transfer unconditional or waives any conditions, the nonprofit can then eliminate the advance and instead
record the assets as revenue.

Discounts from Revenue

A nonprofit may sometimes provide discounts to the users of its goods or services. For example, a college
might offer a deserving student a tuition reduction, or a museum may offer low-income children a steep
discount from its usual entry fee. When these discounts are granted, they must be subtracted from gross
revenue, so that the revenues reported in the statement of activities appear net of discounts. The presentation
can be as a single net revenue line item, or the organization may elect to show gross revenues, discounts,
and net revenues in separate line items.

Sales Taxes

When a nonprofit conducts a fundraising auction, certain states may require that the auctioned items be
taxed. If so, the nonprofit deducts the amount of the tax from the revenue it would otherwise have garnered
from the auction, and forwards it to the applicable government entity. This involves extra accounting effort
by the nonprofit to obtain a sales tax license, track the amount of the tax, and remit it to the government.

Related Podcast Episode: Episode 229 of the Accounting Best Practices Podcast discusses sales and use
taxes. The episode is available at: accountingtools.com/podcasts or iTunes
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The Allowance for Uncollectible Pledges

There tends to be a relatively large proportion of pledges made that are never paid by donors. This is because
there is no incentive for donors to fulfill their pledges, and because nonprofits are reluctant to pursue donors
about late payments. Since such a large part of pledges receivable are never paid, it is necessary to use an
allowance for uncollectible pledges. This account offsets the pledges receivable account, and contains man-
agement’s best estimate of the proportion of outstanding receivables that will never be paid by donors. The
result is a net receivables balance that should fairly reflect the amount of receivables that will actually be
collected.

The allowance is typically based on a historical analysis of receivables that could not be collected in
the past. For example, if a nonprofit has traditionally been unable to collect eight percent of all outstanding
receivables, then create an allowance for uncollectible pledges that contains a balance that is eight percent
of the total ending receivable balance. A more detailed approach to deriving the allowance is to divide the
outstanding receivables report into 30-day buckets, so that receivables are listed by 0-30 days, 31-60 days,
61-90 days, and 90+ days. Then develop an allowance based on the proportion of receivables in each bucket
that has historically proven to be uncollectible. The latter approach is likely to reveal a relatively low un-
collectible percentage for current receivables, while there may be an extremely high uncollectible percent-
age for receivables in the 90+ day bucket.

Restricted Fund Releases

When revenues are initially recorded as donor-restricted and the restrictions are later released, the result is
a shifting of the funds from the net assets with donor restrictions column in the statement of activities to
the unrestricted column. The net result for the total amount of revenue presented in the statement does not
change — this is just a reclassification. The following extract from a statement of activities shows how this
release of funds appears.

Archimedes Education
Statement of Activities
For the month ended February 28, 20X1

Net Assets without Net Assets with
Donor Restrictions Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenues:
Contributions $- $- $-
Net assets released from restrictions 5,000 -5,000 -
Total revenues $5,000 -$5,000 $-

Tip: When funds are released from donor restrictions due to the passage of time, this can be discerned by
examining the expenses in the unrestricted column of the statement of activities — there will be no increase
in expenses to correspond to the release of funds.
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Revenue Journal Entries

When revenue is received that is unrestricted and the revenue is a cash payment, the related journal entry
is:

Debit Credit
Cash [asset account] XXX
Revenue — without donor restrictions [revenue account] XXX
To record $___of unrestricted revenue

When revenue is received that is donor-restricted and the revenue is a cash payment, the related journal
entry is:

Debit Credit
Cash [asset account] XXX
Revenue — with donor restrictions [revenue account] XXX
Torecord $__ of restricted revenue

When revenues stored in a donor-restricted fund are eventually released for use, the funds are shifted from
the net assets with donor restrictions account to the net assets without donor restrictions account. The related
journal entry is:

Debit Credit
Net assets without donor restrictions [net asset account] XXX
Net assets with donor restrictions [net asset account] XXX
To release $___ for unrestricted usage

When volunteers provide contributed services, this can be recognized as revenue and an offsetting expense.
The related journal entry is:

Debit Credit
Expenses — contributed services [expense account] XXX
Revenue — without donor restrictions [revenue account] XXX
To record the value of contributed services

When there is a reasonable likelihood that some pledges receivable will not be collected, create a reserve
account that contains an estimate of the amount that will not be paid. The related journal entry is:

Debit Credit
Bad debt expense [expense account] XXX
Allowance for uncollectible pledges [contra asset account] XXX
To create a reserve for uncollectible pledges receivable
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When a state government charges a sales tax on auctioned items, the nonprofit records a liability to remit

the tax to the government. The related journal entry, which is part of the entry to record auction proceeds,
is:

Debit Credit
Cash [asset account] XXX
Sales taxes payable [liability account] XXX
Revenue — without donor restrictions [revenue account] XXX
To create a reserve for uncollectible pledges receivable

Special Reporting Considerations

When a nonprofit earns revenue from a special event, there are two ways to report the revenue in the state-
ment of activities. The options are based on the amount of the proceeds. If the proceeds are relatively min-
imal, the revenue and any direct expenses associated with the special event can be netted together and
reported in a single line item. For example:

Net Assets without Net Assets with
Donor Restrictions  Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenues:
Contributions $- $- $-
Special event, net of direct donor benefits of
$5,000 12,000 - 12,000

For a major event that recurs on a regular basis, the related revenues are to be presented in the revenue
block of the statement of activities within two line items. The first line states the gross amount of special
event revenue. Immediately after it is the gross amount of the direct expenses associated with the event,
followed by a net revenue line item. For example:

Net Assets without Net Assets with
Donor Restrictions  Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenues:
Contributions $- $- $-
Special event, revenue 50,000 50,000
Less: Cost of direct benefits to donors -8,000 -8,000
Net revenue of special event $42,000 - $42,000

The direct donor costs noted in the two examples can also be reported within the expenses block lower in
the statement of activities. However, doing so makes it more difficult for a reader of the financial statements
to discern how much a nonprofit is spending on its fundraising events.
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Revenue Recordkeeping

When a donor makes a contribution of less than $250, the receiving nonprofit has no obligation to issue a
receipt to the donor. However, for larger amounts, the IRS mandates that a receipt be issued that contains
the following information:

e The donor name

e The amount paid or a description of the asset contributed

e A statement indicating whether any goods or services were provided in compensation; if so, an
estimate of the value of the goods or services provided

When a nonprofit provides goods or services in exchange for a contribution (known as a quid pro quo
contribution), a receipt must be issued when the amount contributed exceeds $75. The receipt must contain
the following information:

¢ Inform the donor that the amount of the contribution that is deductible for federal income tax pur-
poses is limited to the excess of any money (or the value of other assets) contributed by the donor
over the value of goods or services provided by the nonprofit; and

e Provide the donor with a good faith estimate of the value of the goods or services that the donor
received.

Tip: Keep copies of donor receipts, since donors are likely to lose their copies and request replacements.

When revenue is received and a donor includes a stipulation on its use, the funds are recorded as net assets
with donor restrictions. If not used promptly, net assets with donor restrictions may linger in the accounting
records for years. These funds can only be used if management knows what the restrictions are that are
associated with them. This calls for excellent recordkeeping for all restricted revenue. There should be a
report that is regularly perused by management, showing exactly which funds are still restricted and unused.
The total funds in this report should match the total balance in the net assets with donor restrictions account;
otherwise, management does not really know how to use the funds it has been given. Two additional reasons
to fully document net assets with donor restrictions are:

e For future contact with donors. There are cases where donors may eventually be willing to re-
designate prior contributions for other purposes. If so, the nonprofit should know how to contact
them, and in regard to how much money.

e For use of invested funds. Some restricted funds also have restrictions placed on the use of the
investment income derived from these funds. If so, documentation of the restrictions is needed.

Donors who commit to large contributions may want to keep their existence and the size of their donations
out of the public eye. If so, it can make sense to store donor information in a secure location, where it cannot
be accessed without management approval.

It is a rare nonprofit that elects to track the hours worked by their volunteers and translate this into a
revenue and expense journal entry for services provided (see the Types of Revenue section). It is simply
too time-consuming to engage in this activity, though it may still be necessary to track volunteer hours as
part of the reporting system required by some donors.

A nonprofit is under no obligation to assign a value to any donated property; this is the responsibility
of the donor. However, a nonprofit may be called upon to fill out a portion of the tax forms that a donor
submits to the IRS. For larger donations, a donor fills out the Form 8283, which identifies donated property
of various valuations. The nonprofit must complete Part IV of this form, in which it acknowledges that it
has indeed received the property identified by the donor in the previous sections of the form. We include a
copy of this form, so that the accountant will be familiar with its content if called upon by a donor to
complete Part IV.
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Form 8283 — Noncash Charitable Contributions (page 1)

- 8283

{Rev. Novesriber 2018)

Departrant of the Treasuny
Inbamal Reverue Service

Noncash Charitable Contributions

* Attach one or more Forms 8283 to your tax return if you claimed a total deduction
of over 5500 for all contributed property.
= Go to www.irs.gow/Form8283 for instructions and the latest information.

OMB Mo. 1545-0906

Altachmeant
Saquenca Mo, 155

Marne(s) shown on your incoms tax retum

Identifying number

Note: Figure the amount of your contribution deduction before completing this form. See your tax retum instructions.

Section A. Donated Property of $5,000 or Less and Publicly Traded Securities—List in this section enly an item (or groups of
similar items) for whiich you claimed a deduction of 5,000 or less. Also list publicly traded securities and certain other
property even if the-teduction is more than 5,000 (see instructions).

Information on Donated Property—If you need more space, attach a statement.

] IF denated preparty is a vehicle [see nstructions),

[e] Description and condition of donated preparty

1 &) Marre and ad':lrsanr e eheck the Bk Al snter the vahicls santiBeation {For_aweﬁcle-. m:hﬂﬁ_ﬁ-ym. rake, modal, and
Chahae: CAFFNtEARn number fjunless Form 1098-C i attached). rrileage Fos m::;;:_;m propery,
A O
[ TTTT T T I TTTTTTT]
B L
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEN
c —
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEN
D —
EEEEEENEEEEEEEn
E N
ITTTT T T T TTTTTTTT]
Mate: If the amount you claimed as a deduction for an item is $500 or less, you do not have to complete columns (a), (f), and {g}.
{d} Dateofthe | f&] Date acquired N How acquired [g) Donor'scost | fh) Fair market value [ Method used to datermine
eontribulin by danes {me.. yr.) by et ar adusted hasis e etruebons) the T sriarkat vakue

m|o|0(m >

Partial

Interests and Restricted Use Property—Complete lines 2a through 2e if you gave less than an

entire interest in a property listed in Part |. Complete lines 3a through 3c if conditions were placed on a
contribution listed in Part |; also attach the required statement (see instructions).

2a  Enter the letter from Part | that identifies the property for which you gave less than an entire interast s

If Part Il applies to more than one property, attach a separate statement.

b Total amount claimed as a deduction for the property listed in Part I (1)

Marne of eharitable srganization [donee)

For this tax year >

(2) For any prior tax years W
¢ Name and address of each organization to which any such contribution was made in a prior year (complete only if different
from the donee organization above):

Agdress inumber, strest, and room or Suite no.)

iy or town, slale, and ZIP code

d Fortangible property, enter the place where the property is located or kept

@ Name of any perzon, other than the donee organization, having actual possession of the proparty

3a |z there a restriction, either temporary or permanent, on the donee's rlght o use or dlspﬂs& of the donated

proparty? .

b Did you give to anyone {mhar than the donee nrganlzatlm or another organization par‘tlt:lpatlng with the donee
organization in cooperative fundraiging) the right to the income from the donated property or to the possession of
the property, including the right to vote donated securities, to acquire the property bl_.r purchas& or otherwisa, or to

designate the person having such income, possession, or right to acquire?

¢ Is there a restriction limiting the donated property for a particular use?

Yes| No

For Faperwork Reduction Act Motice, see separate instructions.

Cal. No. 62289
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Form 8283 — Noncash Charitable Contributions (page 2)

Farm 8263 {Rev. 11-2019) Page 2
IMarne{s) shown on Yyour incormse Lax retum Identifying number

Section B. Donated Property Over $5,000 (Except Publicly Traded Securities, Vehicles, Intellectual Property or Inventory Reportable
in Section A)—Complate this saction for one item {or a group of similar iterns) for which you claimed a deduction of more than
55,000 per itam or group (except contributions reportable in Section A). Provide a separate form for @ach item donated unless it
Iz part of a group of similar iterms. A qualified appraisal s generally required for itemns reportable in Section B. See instructions.

Information on Donated Property
4 Check the box that describes the type of property donated.

a | art’ [contribution of $20,000 ormore)  d L] Art* (contribution of less than $20,0000 @ ] Collectibles™ J O other
b [ | Qualified Conzervation Contribution & | Other Real Estate h [] intellectual Property
¢ [| Equipment f [ Securities i [] vehicles

“Art includes paintings, sculplures, watercolors, prints, drawings, ceramics, antiques, decorative arts, lextiles, carpels, silver, rare manuscripts, historical memeorabiia, and
olher samilar objects.

“Collectibles include coing, slamps, books, pems, jewelry, sports memorabilia, dols, elc., bul not art as defined above.

Mote: In certain cases, you must attach a qualified appraisal of the property. See instructions.

5 {8} Description of denated property ( you nesd ) I any kangibile persanal praperty or real property was donsted, give a briel | (c) Appraised fair
mone space, attach a separate stalement) summary ol the overall physical condition of the property af the time of the gift miarked value
A
B
C
D
e BT e T Lt o) N N—
n 2t
B
C
D
Taxpayer (Donor) Statement —List each item included in Part | above that the appraisal identifies as having

a value of $500 or less. See instructions.
| declare that the following itern{s) included in Part | abowve has to the best of my knowledge and belief an appraised value of not more than $500
{per item). Enter identifying letter from Part | and describe the specific item. See instructions.

Signature of taxpayer (donor) = Diate b
Part lll Declaration of Appraiser

I diciare that | s not the doncr, the donss, 8 party bo the iransaction in which the donor acouined the property, mployed by, o relaled 1o 2y al e foregoing parsons, or marmied 1o ary peson
who it retsted b ary of the foeegoing persors. And, if requlsrly used by the doner, donss, or party 1o the iransaction, | perammed the majodty of ry Sppesizsls during ry L year for other parsans.
Ao, | declars Sl | perorm apprasals on & regulsr basis; snd thal because of my quaifcaions as described in the sppraissl, | am quaified to make apprsisal ol the bype of property Being valusd, | carily thal the
appraissl fess wers rol bated on & pencentage of the appraissd propedy value Furhemmoss, | undersiand that & Faiss or frsudulent overstslament of the praperty valus as deseribad in the qualfied speraisal or this
Fror B2ES may subjject me lo the penally under sechion 5701(3) (aiding and sbetling the understatsment of tax Eabilty). | understand that my appesisal will be ussd in connection with & relum or claim for refund. | alsa
unerstand that, i there is & substaniial or gross vauation migstalement of the value of the property claimed on the retumn or cisim Tor refund that is based on my appraisal, | may be subjec 1o penalty under section
EEO5A of e Infernal Revenue Code, as well & olher spplicabile penalliss. | ffim that | have not been at any fime in The Sree-year period ending an the date of the sppraisel bamed from presenting evidince of
Resslirmony bedons the Depariment of e Treasury or $os ntemal Revenus Ssnice pursuan to 31 LLS.C 3301

Sign
Here | signatures Title» Date
Business sddress fncluding room or suile ne.) Identifying number

City or lown, state, and ZIP code

Part IV Donee Acknowledgment—To be completed by the charitable organization.
This charitable organization acknowledges that it is a qualified organization under section 170{c) and that it received the donated property as described
in Section B, Part |, abave on the following date =

Furthermare, this organization affirms that in the event it sells, exchanges, or otherwise disposes of the property described in Section B, Part | (or any
partion thersof) within 3 years after the date of recaipt, it will file Form 8282, Dones Information Returm, with the IRS and give the donor & copy of that
form. This acknowledgment does not represent agreement with the claimed fair market value.

Does the organization intend to use the property for an unrelated use? e e e e | ves I Ma
Marne af chasitable orgarzation (Sones) Employer identification number

Adddress [Aumiber, streel, and room or suite no) City or town, state, and ZIP code

Authorized signature Tithe Date

Farm 8283 |mev. 11-2019)
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When a donor gifts property to a nonprofit that is valued at more than $5,000, the nonprofit must later file
a Form 8282 with the IRS if it sells, exchanges, consumes, or otherwise disposes of the property at any time
within the next three years. A copy of the form must also be sent to the donor. There is a $50 penalty if this
form is not filed. A copy of the form is noted next.

Form 8282 — Donee Information Return (page 1)

. 3282 Donee Information Return o e 15450008
{Rev. April 2008) (Sale, Exchange, or Other Disposition of Donated Property)
Department of 1r\e-Trea.'.ur|.' » Ses instructions. Give a Copy to Donor

Intermal Revenue Service
Parts To Complete

® |f the organization is an original dlnee, complete Identifying Information, Part | (lines 1a—1d and, if applicable, lines 2a-2d),
and Part Ill.

& If the organization is a successor donee, complete Identifying Information, Part |, Part Il, and Part |Il.
Identifying Information

Mame of charitable organization ([dones) Employer identification number
Print |
or Address (number, street, and room or suite no.) jor PO, box no. if mail s not delivered to the street address)
Type

City or town, state, and ZIF code

Information on ORIGINAL DONOR and SUCCESSOR DONEE Receiving the Property

1a Mame of original donor of the property 1k  Identifying number|s)

1c  Address {number, street, and room or suite no) (F.O. box no. if mail is not delivered to the sireet sddress)

1d  City or town, state, and ZIP code

Note. Complete lines 2a-2d only if the organization gave this property to ancther charitable organization {successor donee).
2a Mame of charitable organization 2h  Employer identification number

2¢  Address {number, street, and room of suite nou) (or P.O. box no. if mail is not delivered to the street address)

2d City or town, state, and ZIP code

Information on PREVIOUS DOMEES. Complete this part only if the organization was not the first
donee to receive the property. See the instructions before completing lines 3a through 4d.

3a Mame of original dones 3b Employer identification number

3¢ Address jnumber, strest, and room or suite nod) (or PLO. box no. if mail is not delivered to the street address)

3d City or town, state, and ZIP code

4a Mame of preceding dones 4b Employer identification number

d4c  Address jnumber, strest, and room or suite no.) (or PLO. box no. if mail is not delivered to the street address)

4d City or town, state, and ZIP code

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see page 4. Cat. Nao. 62307Y Form B2B2 [Rev. 4-2009)
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Form 8282 — Donee Information Return (page 2)

information on DONATED PROPERTY

2. Did the 3 Was the 4. Infermation an Use of propery.
dispasition e related
P - ® If you answered "Yes™ o question 3 and the propery
organizalicr’s | ceganization’s was tangible persanal property, describe how the
anitire interest | exampt Organzation’s use of the property Tuihersd is axempl
1. DescripBon of the do property sold, in the purpose or purposs or funclion. Alss complete Part IV below.
exchanged, or otherwisedisposed of and how the property? funetian? & If you answered “No™ to question 3 and the
arganization used the property_ (I you nesd mons property wis tangible persanal property, describe the
space, attach & sepasate statement.) organization’s ntended use (il any) at the time of the
contribution. Ao complets Pad IV bedow, il the
intended use & the time of the contribution was
related to the organization's exempl purposs of
function and & becans impossible or infeasible to
Yes Na Yes Mo implemmerit.
B

Donated Property

A B c D

Date the organization received the

5 donated property (MM/DD/YY) ! ! ! ! / ! ! !
Drate the orginal donea recaived the

6 property (MM/DDYY) ! ! / ! ! ! ! !
Date the property was sold, exchanged, or

T otherwise disposed of (MM/DDYY) ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

8 Amount received upon disposition 5 3 3 3

el 'l Certification

You must sign the certification below if any property described in Part Ill above is tangible personal property and:
#® You answered “Yes" to question 3 above, or
® You answared “Mo” to guestion 3 above and the intended use of the property became impossible or infeasible to

implament.

Under penalties of perjury and the penalty under section 67208, | certify that either: (1) the usa of the property that meets the
above requirements, and iz described above in Part lll, was substantial and related to the donee organization's exempt purpose
or function; or (2) the donee arganization intended to use the property for its axempt purpese or function, but the intended use

has become impossible or infeasible to implement.

l

’ Signature af efficer

Title

P =

Sign

Under penalties of perury, | declare that | have examined this retumn, including accompanying schedules and
statements, and to the best of my knowladge and balief, it is true, comect, and complate.

Here } Signature of alficer

Tile

) =

Type or prind marme
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Revenue Disclosures

The following disclosures regarding revenues should be included in the notes to the financial statements of
a nonprofit:

Nature of contributed services. If a nonprofit recognizes revenue from contributed services, it must
describe the programs or activities for which those services were used, as well as the related amount
of revenues recognized. The nature and extent of these services are to be described; for example,
by the number of donated hours.

Unrecognized contributed services. If a nonprofit has received contributed services but has chosen
not to recognize it as revenue, the entity is encouraged (but not required) to disclose the fair value
of these services. The nature and extent of these services are to be described; for example, by the
number of donated hours.

Time restrictions. If the organization has a policy for implying a time restriction on the use of
donated long-term assets, state the policy.

Pass-through receipts. A pass-through entity must disclose its policy concerning the recognition of
nonfinancial assets accepted on behalf of a specified beneficiary.

Summary

A key concern when accounting for revenues is to adopt an accounting position that is approved by the
entity’s auditors, and then follow that position consistently over time. Doing so results in financial state-
ments that are considered reliable by outsiders, and which can be used to derive long-term trends in revenue
levels. This level of consistency can be difficult if there are many types of revenue being recognized, so be
sure to adopt a standard set of policies and procedures, as well as adequate staff training, to ensure that
revenue transactions are dealt with in the same manner, time after time.

A nonprofit may be in the unique position of being given a substantial part of its total revenues in the
form of assets other than cash, such as real estate, securities, or equipment. In these situations, the entity is
required to record revenue at the fair value of the assets. For a detailed discussion of what fair value means
and how it can be derived, see the Fair Value chapter.
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Review Questions

1. The allowance for uncollectible pledges is usually derived from:
a. The stated intentions of donors
b. State-mandated guidelines for calculating uncollectible pledges
c. A comparison of default rates experienced by for-profit businesses
d. The analysis of historical collection results

2. When dealing with donations, the one instance in which a nonprofit must report to the IRS is:
a. When issuing a receipt for donations of at least $250
b. When issuing a receipt for a quid pro quo contribution
c. The Form 8282
d. The Form 8283
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Chapter 5
Government Grants

Learning Objectives

Cite the methods used to assign costs to a grant-funded program.

Introduction

The primary source of revenue for some nonprofits is the government, which routinely funds them with
grants. If so, the accounting discussion in this chapter is likely to be of overriding importance, compared to
all other nonprofit accounting topics.

Overview of Government Grants

A major source of funds for a nonprofit may be the government, which provides it with grants of various
types. If so, it may be necessary to organize the recordation of accounting transactions by grant contract, so
that incoming and outgoing funds can be traced to specific grants. For the larger grants, it may be necessary
to create budgets for how funds are to be spent, and then trace actual expenditures back to the budget. Some
governments want to see exactly how their funds were used, so the nonprofit may also need to develop a
unique report format for each grant, which is to be used when discussing fund usage with the applicable
government representative.

In some instances, a nonprofit may function as a general contractor. In this role, the nonprofit takes in
government grants and disburses it to other entities that perform the actual work. If so, the nonprofit takes
a portion of the grant in order to pay for its administrative costs in managing the disbursement of funds and
how those funds are used. This situation typically arises when research is being conducted.

When a nonprofit subsists on government grants, the tracking and reporting of grant-related funds is
likely to be the central responsibility of the accounting department — to the point where the accounting staff
can be considered key to obtaining and retaining government grants. If so, it may be necessary to assign
some of the accounting staff to specific government contracts, so that they can closely monitor activity.
These personnel are specialists, and are not involved in the more general functional activities of the depart-
ment.

Grant Accounting

A government grant is essentially a contribution, in that the funds are not to be repaid. However, the grant
concept differs from a contribution in that the grant is tied to the provision of goods or services by the
nonprofit, usually in relation to a specific program.

Grants may be paid in advance; if so, the related funds are booked into net asset with donor restriction
accounts. When funds are spent against these grants, an equivalent amount of funds are released from the
applicable net asset accounts. Thus, the amount released matches the amount spent. Alternatively, a non-
profit may spend the funds first and then apply for a drawdown of a matching amount from the applicable
grant.

Whenever possible, costs should be designated as direct costs; this means that they are directly related
to a specific activity, and so would not be incurred if the related activity did not exist. For example, the
salaries of technical staff, project supplies, project publications, computer costs, travel costs, and special-
ized services can usually be treated as direct costs when they can be linked to a specific program. However,
the salaries of administrative staff are usually not treated as a direct cost, except when a project or activity
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explicitly requires and budgets for administrative services and individuals can be specifically identified
with the project or activity.

Tip: Office supplies, postage, periodicals and memberships cannot usually be treated as direct costs.

A nonprofit is typically allowed to charge an additional amount of expense against a grant, called the indi-
rect rate. The indirect rate is an overhead charge. The compilation of the indirect rate is based on one of
two formulas allowed by the federal government. The first is called the simplified allocation method, and
is described as follows in Circular 122 of the Office of Management and Budget:

The allocation of indirect costs may be accomplished by (i) separating the organization's total costs for the
base period as either direct or indirect, and (ii) dividing the total allowable indirect costs (net of applicable
credits) by an equitable distribution base. The result of this process is an indirect cost rate which is used to
distribute indirect costs to individual awards. The rate should be expressed as the percentage which the total
amount of allowable indirect costs bears to the base selected.

The preceding description of the simplified allocation method refers to indirect costs, which are costs not
directly associated with a specific activity or program. The “equitable distribution base” noted in the de-
scription is usually considered to be the total amount of direct costs charged to a program. Direct costs are
most commonly the salaries of those people working on a program.

EXAMPLE

Cancer Resolution has total indirect costs of $3,500,000 and total direct costs of $15,900,000. Direct costs are consid-
ered an equitable distribution base. Accordingly, the indirect cost rate is derived by dividing total indirect costs into
total direct costs, for an allocation rate of 22%.

Cancer Resolution has obtained $1,000,000 of funding from the federal government to engage in research regarding
cancer of the pancreas. Seven researchers will work full-time on this project, at a cost of $750,000. The $750,000 is
the total direct cost associated with the project, and is considered the base upon which indirect costs will be allocated
to the project. The entity’s indirect cost rate is 22%, so the direct cost figure is multiplied by 22% to arrive at an
indirect cost allocation of $165,000.

A considerably more complex approach is the multiple allocation base method, which is described in the
same publication as follows:

Aggregate indirect costs are accumulated into separate cost groupings. Each grouping is then allocated indi-
vidually to benefitting functions by means of a base which best measures the relative benefits. Each grouping
constitutes a pool of expenses that are of like character in terms of functions they benefit and in terms of the
allocation base which best measures the relative benefits provided to each function. The indirect cost pools
are defined as follows:

o Depreciation and use allowances. The portion of the costs of the organization's buildings, capital
improvements to land and buildings, and equipment.

e Interest. Interest on debt associated with certain buildings, equipment and capital improvements.

e Operation and maintenance expenses. Those costs that have been incurred for the administration,
operation, maintenance, preservation, and protection of the organization's physical plant. They in-
clude expenses normally incurred for such items as: janitorial and utility services; repairs and ordi-
nary or normal alterations of buildings, furniture and equipment; care of grounds; maintenance and
operation of buildings and other plant facilities; security; earthquake and disaster preparedness; en-
vironmental safety; hazardous waste disposal; property, liability and other insurance relating to
property; space and capital leasing; facility planning and management; and, central receiving. The
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operation and maintenance expenses category shall also include its allocable share of fringe benefit
costs, depreciation and use allowances, and interest costs.

e General and administrative expenses. Those costs that have been incurred for the overall general
executive and administrative offices of the organization and other expenses of a general nature
which do not relate solely to any major function of the organization. This category shall also include
its allocable share of fringe benefit costs, operation and maintenance expense, depreciation and use
allowances, and interest costs. Examples of this category include central offices, such as the direc-
tor's office, the office of finance, business services, budget and planning, personnel, safety and risk
management, general counsel, management information systems, and library costs.

Given the increased level of accounting difficulty associated with the multiple allocation base method, one
should be knowledgeable about when its use can be avoided. The key factors to consider are:

e One major function. When a nonprofit has just one major function that may encompass several
projects, use the simplified allocation method.

e Minimal funding. When the level of federal awards to a nonprofit is relatively small, use the sim-
plified allocation method.

o Differing levels of benefit. When a nonprofit’s indirect costs benefit its major functions in the same
degree, use the simplified allocation method.

If any of these issues are not the case, use the multiple allocation base method instead.

There are situations where a nonprofit may want to use an indirect cost rate that is not derived precisely
from either of the two preceding methods. If so, it can submit an allocation plan to the federal agency from
which it obtains the largest proportion of its government grants. If approved, the result is an official indirect
cost rate that can be applied to most grants originating from federal agencies, and sometimes also from state
and local agencies.

Income from Government Grants

There are situations in which government funds result in the generation of additional revenue. For example,
there may not be an immediate need for all of the funds in a grant, so they are parked in an interest-bearing
investment account. Alternatively, the funds may result in a profit-making endeavor that generates its own
cash flow. In either case, how is this additional income to be handled in the accounting records? There are
several possibilities:

e Add the additional income to the amount of the government grant, thereby resulting in more cash
being made available for the applicable program.

e Use the cash to fund the other parts of the applicable program that are not being paid for by a
government grant, thereby reducing the fundraising burden of the nonprofit.

e Subtract the extra income from the expenses associated with the applicable program, thereby re-
ducing the amount of expenses, and allowing for additional expenditures.

The contract associated with a grant will typically state which of these alternatives can be used.

Credits on Expenditures

A nonprofit may occasionally receive a credit from a supplier in relation to expenditures made in relation
to a government grant. Perhaps the nonprofit is being paid at year-end for the volume of total purchases
made during the year, or perhaps the nonprofit took advantage of an early payment discount offer from a
supplier. In these situations, the credits should be netted against the expenditures associated with the af-
fected grant. Doing so reduces the amount of expenditures matched against a grant.
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Grant Reporting

The government will likely require that a separate report be issued to it regarding the uses to which its
grants have been put. If there are different granting agencies within the government, this is likely to mean
that each report is formatted differently and requires that different information be reported. A particular
concern is that the government may have a different fiscal year than the nonprofit, in which case the gov-
ernment may expect to see reports that span its own fiscal year, rather than that of the nonprofit.

The government may withdraw additional funding if a nonprofit does not issue reports to it in a timely
manner. Accordingly, it is essential that the controller monitor the dates when all reports are due, as well
as the progress of each report toward completion. This can be accomplished by maintaining a schedule of
reports, on which is noted the following information:

Report name

Date when report must be issued

Person responsible for compiling the report

The name and address of the person to whom the report is to be delivered

Proper use of this tracking system reduces the risk that a report will not be delivered in a timely manner.

Some grants require that the funds supplied are only available if a nonprofit can match the funds with
gifts from other donors. The intent is to maximize the amount of funding generated. To comply with this
matching requirement, a nonprofit needs a reporting system in place that traces each incoming contribution
to a matching grant, so that the matching detail can be reported back to the government when applying for
a grant drawdown. In some instances, donors may gift with in-kind contributions, such as free labor or
materials. If so, the reporting system must encompass how these in-kind contributions are valued and as-
signed to matching grants.

When applying for grants from the federal government, a nonprofit must comply with the requirements
of Circular A-110 of the Office of Management and Budget. A key requirement is that the financial man-
agement systems of the nonprofit provide for the following:

o Budget comparison. Compare outlays to budgeted amounts for each award.

e Controls. There must be effective control over and accountability for all funds, property and other
assets. All assets are to be adequately safeguarded and used only for authorized purposes.

e Disclosure. There must be accurate, current and complete disclosure of the financial results of each
federally-sponsored program.

e Procedures. Written procedures are required to minimize the time elapsed between the transfer of
funds to the nonprofit and the issuance or redemption of payments for program purposes by the
nonprofit. Also, there must be written procedures for determining the reasonableness, allocations,
and allowability of costs in accordance with federal rules.

e Sources and uses. Records must be available that identify the source and application of funds for
federally-sponsored activities, including information about awards, authorizations, obligations, un-
obligated balances, assets, outlays, income and interest.

e Supporting documentation. Accounting records must be kept that are supported by source docu-
mentation.

In short, the government wants to deal with nonprofits that have reliable accounting systems that consist-

ently store and report information, as well as controls and budgets that ensure that funds are used as in-
tended.
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Summary

There can be a large amount of complexity in the government grant arena, which makes it especially diffi-
cult for a newer nonprofit to obtain funding. The guidance given in this chapter only provides an overview
of the topic. For more information, consult Circulars 110 (Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants
and Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations)
and 122 (Cost Principles for Non-profit Organizations) of the Office of Management and Budget, which
provide significant detail that may be illuminating for a nonprofit trying to break into the government grant
arena.
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Review Questions

1. The multiple allocation base method should be used when:
a. A nonprofit operates several different programs
b. There are several different fundraising programs in place
c. A nonprofit receives only a small amount of its total funding from federal awards
d. All functions of a nonprofit receive about the same level of benefit from its indirect costs

2. A possible treatment of income earned on unused grant funds is:
a. To allocate the cash to fundraising activities
b. To add the additional income to the amount of the grant
c. To use the cash to fund other programs
d. To send the interest income to the grantor
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Chapter 6
Investment Accounting

Learning Objectives

State the applicable rules related to the recognition of investment assets.

Introduction

Nonprofits have a strong interest in accumulating funding that can be used as a long-term source of invest-
ment income. This means they are likely to have significant investments in a variety of debt and equity
instruments. In this chapter, we address how to account for and disclose information pertaining to these
investments.

Contributed Investments

Donors may sometimes contribute equity or debt securities to a nonprofit. When this happens, the nonprofit
should recognize the contribution as an asset, and record the receipt as either revenue or a gain. The invest-
ment is to be recognized at its fair value if the securities are quoted on a securities exchange. See the Fair
Value chapter for alternative methods that can be used to derive the fair value of contributed investments.

Purchased Investments

When a nonprofit purchases investment instruments, it initially records them at their acquisition cost. This
cost is considered to include any brokerage or other transaction fees associated with the purchase.

Subsequent Measurement of Investments

Once investments in equity and debt securities have been acquired (by whatever means), they are to be
measured in subsequent periods at their fair values. This is only the case for equity securities when they
have readily determinable fair values, which is the case when their price is quoted on a securities exchange.
Or, if the investment is in a mutual fund, when the price of the fund is published and used as the basis for
current transactions in the marketplace.

If an investment is in restricted stock, its fair value is to be derived based on the quoted price of an
unrestricted security from the same issuer that is identical to the restricted stock in all other respects. In this
case, the valuation is adjusted for the effect of the restriction, which will reduce its fair value.

Other types of investments do not have a readily discernible fair value. For example, it can be quite
difficult to ascertain the value of a partnership interest or an investment in real estate. These investments
are to be reported as follows, depending on the nature of the nonprofit entity:

o Institutions of higher learning. Report these investments at either their fair value or at their carrying
value. If reported at their carrying value, adjust subsequently for any non-temporary value impair-
ment.

o Voluntary health and welfare entities. Report these investments at either their fair value or carrying
value. If a loss on disposition is expected, recognize an impairment loss when the decline in fair
value occurs.
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e Health care entities. Report these investments at their amortized cost and periodically review them
for impairment.

o All other nonprofits. Report these investments at either their fair value or the lower of their cost or
fair value.

There may also be equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair values. These securities are
to be reported at cost, and also examined periodically to see if there has been an impairment loss. A security
is considered to be impaired if its fair value is less than its cost. If this impairment is considered to be other-
than-temporary, recognize an impairment loss in the amount of the difference between the fair value and
cost. The result is the new cost basis of the investment, which cannot be subsequently adjusted upward for
any recoveries of fair value.

The preceding guidance is much simpler than the investment accounting mandated for for-profit busi-
nesses, which are required to classify investments into trading securities, held-to-maturity securities, or
available-for-sale securities; each of these classifications carries with it different accounting requirements.

Gains and Losses on Investment

Gains and losses on investment may be realized, which occurs when an investment is sold. The gains and
losses may also be unrealized, which is when the investment is still held, but there is a change in the value
of the investment. In both cases, gains and losses are to be reported in the statement of activities as part of
investment income. The requirement to report unrealized gains and losses can cause heartburn among non-
profit managers, since there is not yet any actual decline in cash flows from an investment, even though the
recognition will trigger a decline in net assets.

Any gains and losses on investments are to be reported in the statement of activities as changes in net
assets without donor restrictions. If the use of these investments is restricted in some way by donor stipu-
lations or legal restrictions, the gains and losses may instead be recognized as changes in net assets with
donor restrictions.

Investment income should be reported net of investment expenses, including both external and direct
internal expenses. Direct internal investment expenses relate to the direct conduct or direct supervision of
the activities involved in generating a return on investment. Examples of these expenses are:

e The compensation, benefits, travel, and other costs associated with the personnel responsible for
developing and executing investment strategy.

e Those allocated costs associated with the internal investment management of external investment
management firms.

It is allowable to present the amounts of net investment returns in separate line items on the statement of
activities, if the related portfolios are managed differently or derived from different sources.

The Equity Method of Accounting

In rare cases, a nonprofit may receive so much stock from a donor that the nonprofit can gain a certain
amount of control over the for-profit entity whose stock it now owns. In this case, the nonprofit may use
the equity method to account for its ownership interest. This treatment is not available for reporting an
interest in another nonprofit entity.

The equity method is designed to measure changes in the economic results of the investee, by requiring
the investor to recognize its share of the profits or losses recorded by the investee. The equity method is a
more complex technique of accounting for ownership, and so is typically used only when there is a signif-
icant ownership interest that enables an investor to have influence over the decision-making of the investee.

The key determining factor in the use of the equity method is having significant influence over the
operating and financial decisions of the investee. The primary determinant of this level of control is owning
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at least 20% of the voting shares of the investee, though this measurement can be repudiated by evidence
that the investee opposes the influence of the investor. Other types of evidence of significant influence are
controlling a seat on the board of directors, active participation in the decisions of the investee, or swapping
management personnel with the investee.

The investor can avoid using the equity method if it cannot obtain the financial information it needs
from the investee in order to correctly account for its ownership interest under the equity method.

The essential accounting under the equity method is to initially recognize an investment in an investee
at cost, and then adjust the carrying amount of the investment by recognizing its share of the earnings or
losses of the investee in net assets over time. The following additional guidance applies to these basic
points:

e Dividends. The investor should subtract any dividends received from the investee from the carrying
amount of the investor’s investment in the investee.

¢ Financial statement issuance. The investor can only account for its share of the earnings or losses
of the investee if the investee issues financial statements. This may result in occasional lags in
reporting.

o Funding of prior losses. If the investor pays the investee with the intent of offsetting prior investee
losses, and the carrying amount of the investor’s interest in the investee has already been reduced
to zero, the investor’s share of any additional losses can be applied against the additional funds
paid to the investee.

o Investee losses. It is possible that the investor’s share of the losses of an investee will exceed the
carrying amount of its investment in the investee. If so, the investor should report losses up to its
carrying amount, as well as any additional financial support given to the investee, and then discon-
tinue use of the equity method. However, additional losses can be recorded if it appears assured
that the investee will shortly return to profitability. If there is a return to profitability, the investor
can return to the equity method only after its share of the profits has been offset by those losses not
recognized when use of the equity method was halted.

e  Other write-downs. If an investor’s investment in an investee has been written down to zero, but it
has other investments in the investee, the investor should continue to report its share of any addi-
tional investee losses, and offset them against the other investments, in sequence of the seniority of
those investments (with offsets against the most junior items first). If the investee generates income
at a later date, the investor should apply its share of these profits to the other investments in order,
with application going against the most senior items first.

e Share calculation. The proportion of the investee’s earnings or losses to be recognized by the in-
vestor is based on the investor’s holdings of common stock and in-substance common stock.

e Share issuances. If the investee issues shares, the investor should account for the transaction as if
a proportionate share of its own investment in the investee had been sold. If there is a gain or loss
resulting from the stock sale, recognize it in earnings.

o Ownership increase. If an investor increases its ownership in an investee, this may qualify it to use
the equity method, in which case the investor should retroactively adjust its financial statements
for all periods presented to show the investment as though the equity method had been used through
the entire reporting period.

e Ownership decrease. If an investor decreases its ownership in an investee, this may drop its level
of control below the 20% threshold, in which case the investor may no longer be qualified to use
the equity method. If so, the investor should retain the carrying amount of the investment as of the
date when the equity method no longer applies, so there is no retroactive adjustment.
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EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education purchases 30% of the common stock of Titanium Barriers, Inc. Archimedes controls two seats
on the board of directors of Titanium as a result of this investment, so it uses the equity method to account for the
investment. In the next year, Titanium earns $400,000. Archimedes records its 30% share of the profit with the fol-
lowing entry:

Investment in Titanium Barriers
Equity in Titanium Barriers income

Debit
120,000

Credit

120,000

A few months later, Titanium issues a $50,000 cash dividend to Archimedes, which the organization records with the

following entry:

Cash
Investment in Titanium Barriers

Debit
50,000

Credit

50,000

EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education has a 35% ownership interest in the common stock of Arlington Research. The carrying amount
of this investment has been reduced to zero because of previous losses. To keep Arlington solvent, Archimedes has
purchased $250,000 of Arlington’s preferred stock, and extended a long-term unsecured loan of $500,000.

During the next year, Arlington incurs a $1,200,000 loss, of which Archimedes’ share is 35%, or $420,000. Since the
next most senior level of Arlington’s capital after common stock is its preferred stock, Archimedes first offsets its
share of the loss against its preferred stock investment. Doing so reduces the carrying amount of the preferred stock
to zero, leaving $170,000 to be applied against the carrying amount of the loan. This results in the following entry by

Archimedes:

Debit Credit

Equity method loss 420,000
Preferred stock investment 250,000
Loan 170,000

In the following year, Arlington records $800,000 of profits, of which Archimedes’ share is $280,000. Archimedes
applies the $280,000 first against the loan write-down, and then against the preferred stock write-down with the fol-

lowing entry:
Debit Credit
Preferred stock investment 110,000
Loan 170,000
Equity method income 280,000

The result is that the carrying amount of the loan is fully restored, while the carrying amount of the preferred stock

investment is still reduced by $140,000 from its original level.
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Investment Disclosures

The following information must be disclosed in the notes accompanying the financial statements that per-

tain to investments:

e Composition. The types of investment return must be reported. This means the total return must be

broken down into at least the following:
o Investment income

o Net gains or losses on investments reported at fair value

o Net realized gains or losses on investments reported at other than fair value

For example:

Net Assets without Net Assets with

Donor Restrictions ~ Donor Restrictions Total
Dividends and interest (net of $300 in expenses) $18,000 $4,000 $22,000
Net gains on investments reported at fair value 40,000 83,000 123,000
Net realized gains on investments reported at other
than fair value S S
Total investment return $58,000 $117,000 $175,000
Investment return designated for current operations 40,000 72,000 112,000
Investment return in excess of amounts designated $ $ $
for current operations £18,000 45.000 £63.000

Reconciliation. If the investment return is separated into operating and non-operating amounts,
reconcile these amounts to the total investment return. Also note the policy used to determine how
much of the total investment return is reported as operating or non-operating, as well as any changes
to that policy.

Aggregate carrying amounts. Separately present the aggregate carrying amount of each major type
of investment. For example, there may be separate line items for real estate, corporate debt securi-
ties, and U.S. treasury securities.

Market risk. If there is a significant concentration of market risk (such as when securities all come
from the same industry or all real estate investments are clustered within a single geographic loca-
tion), disclose the nature of the risk and the related carrying amount of the investment.

Credit risk. Note significant concentrations of credit risk related to all financial instruments. The
disclosure should include the maximum amount of potential loss if counterparties fail, as well as
the policies used to require collateral on financial instruments subject to credit risk.

Other investments. Note the basis used to determine the carrying amount of other investments. Also
describe the methods and assumptions used to estimate investment fair values when those invest-
ments were reported at their fair value.

Though not mandatory, it is also possible to report on realized and unrealized gains and losses on invest-
ments. This reporting can be useful if there is an applicable law mandating that only realized gains can be

spent.

If a nonprofit is an institution of higher education, it must also disclose the total performance of its
other investments portfolio, which is comprised of both investment income and realized and unrealized
gains and losses.
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A nonprofit using the equity method to account for an investment should disclose the following infor-
mation:

e Identification. The name of each investee and the nonprofit’s ownership percentage in it.
Market value. The value of each investment at its quoted market price (if such a price is available).

e Policies. The nonprofit’s policies regarding its investments in common stock, including cases
where the nonprofit owns a 20% or more interest in a business but does not use the equity method.
Also describe any situations where the nonprofit uses the equity method despite owning less than
20% of an investee. Further, note any difference between the carrying amount of an investment and
the amount of underlying equity in net assets.

e Change in ownership. If there is a potentially material impact on the nonprofit’s share of reported
investee earnings from the conversion of convertible securities, the conversion of warrants, or sim-
ilar transactions, disclose this information.

Summary

Even a smaller nonprofit may find that it has a broad range of investments in its portfolio, since many types
of investments can be contributed by donors. If the more unusual investments cannot be liquidated (as per
donor instructions), this means that the accounting staff will need to acquire a deep knowledge of the rules
relating to investment accounting. This chapter has only given an overview of the general concepts associ-
ated with investment accounting. If a nonprofit is the recipient of an unusual investment whose fair value
is especially difficult to ascertain, it can make sense to bring the organization’s auditors into the initial
accounting for the investment, to ensure that the situation is handled correctly from the start.
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Review Questions

1. Anunrealized gain or loss must be reported:

a.
b.
C.
d.

In the statement of activities as part of reported income
Net of investment expenses

In other comprehensive income

Only when it is realized

2. The equity method of accounting is only used by a nonprofit:

a

b,
C.
d.

To account for its interest in another nonprofit entity

When the nonprofit has a large proportion of its assets tied up in equity investments
When it has a significant ownership interest in another entity

For investments in other entities to which it has issued grants
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Inventory Accounting

Learning Objectives

Identify the costing characteristics of the various cost layering methodologies.

Introduction

The typical nonprofit does not deal with large amounts of inventory. Typically, it acquires merchandise
from third parties and resells it. Only in rare cases does a nonprofit create goods within a production facility.
Given this low-usage assumption, we are restricting the discussion of inventory accounting in this chapter
to the two types of inventory tracking systems, the basic concepts of cost layering, and when to write down
the recorded cost of inventory.

Related Podcast Episodes: Episodes 56, 66, 177, and 200 of the Accounting Best Practices Podcast discuss
inventory record accuracy, obsolete inventory, freight costs, and the revised lower of cost or market rule,
respectively. These episodes are available at: accountingtools.com/podcasts or iTunes

The Periodic Inventory System

The minimum inventory accounting system is the periodic system. It is impossible to devise an ending
inventory valuation without having a functioning periodic inventory system in place. The system is depend-
ent upon just two activities, which are:

e Compiling the cost of all inventory-related purchases during the reporting period; and
e Conducting a physical count of the ending inventory.

The compilation of inventory-related purchases is quite easy in any accounting system, and is only depend-
ent upon recording targeted purchases in an inventory purchases account as the offsetting debit to each
accounts payable transaction.

Since physical inventory counts are time-consuming, few organizations do them more than once a quar-
ter or year. In the meantime, the inventory asset account continues to show the cost of the inventory that
was recorded as of the last physical inventory count; the balance is not adjusted until there is another phys-
ical count or an ending valuation is estimated. The longer it takes to conduct a replacement physical inven-
tory count, the longer the time period in which errors and inventory losses of various kinds can pile up
undetected. As a result, there is an increasing risk of overstating ending inventory and understating the cost
of goods sold over time. Given this problem, we recommend fairly frequent physical counts. To operate a
periodic inventory system, follow these steps:

1. Compile all inventory-related purchases during the reporting period in a separate account.
2. Atthe end of the period, conduct a physical count to derive the ending inventory valuation.
3. Calculate the cost of goods sold for the period, using the following formula:

Beginning inventory + Purchases = Cost of goods available for sale

Cost of goods available for sale — Ending inventory = Cost of goods sold
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4. Complete the following entry to zero out the balance in the purchases account, adjust the inventory
account to match the ending physical count, and record the cost of goods sold:

Debit Credit

Cost of goods sold XXX
Inventory purchases XXX
Inventory XXX

EXAMPLE

Senior Care Home Supplies (SCHS) has beginning inventory of $100,000, has paid $170,000 for purchases, and its
physical inventory count reveals an ending inventory cost of $80,000. The calculation of its cost of goods sold is:

$100,000 Beginning inventory + $170,000 Purchases - $80,000 Ending inventory
= $190,000 Cost of goods sold

SCHS’ controller records the following journal entry to document this calculation:

Debit Credit
Cost of goods sold 190,000
Purchases 170,000
Inventory 20,000

The periodic inventory system is most useful for smaller organizations that maintain minimal amounts of
inventory. For them, a physical inventory count is easy to complete, and they can estimate cost of goods
sold figures for interim periods. However, there are several problems with the system:

e Inaccuracy in the absence of a count. The system does not yield any information about the cost of
goods sold or ending inventory balances during interim periods when there has been no physical
inventory count.

e Subsequent catch-up adjustments. The accounting staff must estimate the cost of goods sold during
interim periods, which will likely result in a significant adjustment to the actual cost of goods
whenever the entity eventually completes a physical inventory count.

e Obsolete inventory and scrap adjustments. There is no way to adjust for obsolete inventory or scrap
losses during interim periods, so there tends to be a significant (and expensive) adjustment for these
issues when a physical inventory count is eventually completed.

A more up-to-date and accurate alternative to the periodic inventory system is the perpetual inventory sys-
tem, which is described in the next section.

The Perpetual Inventory System

Under the perpetual inventory system, an entity continually updates its inventory records to account for
additions to and subtractions from inventory for such activities as received inventory items and goods sold
from stock. Thus, a perpetual inventory system has the advantages of both providing up-to-date inventory
balance information and requiring a reduced level of physical inventory counts. However, the calculated
inventory levels derived by a perpetual inventory system may gradually diverge from actual inventory
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levels, due to unrecorded transactions or theft, so the warehouse staff should periodically compare book
balances to actual on-hand quantities. The following example shows how a perpetual system functions.

EXAMPLE

This example contains several journal entries used to account for transactions in a perpetual inventory system. Senior
Care Home Supplies (SCHS) records a purchase of $1,500 of widgets that are stored in inventory:

Debit Credit
Inventory 1,500
Accounts payable 1,500
SCHS records $250 of inbound freight cost associated with the delivery of widgets:
Debit Credit
Inventory 250
Accounts payable 250

SCHS records the sale of widgets from inventory for $2,000, for which the associated inventory cost is $800:

Debit Credit
Accounts receivable 2,000
Revenue 2,000
Cost of goods sold 800
Inventory 800

SCHS records a downward inventory adjustment of $300, caused by inventory theft, and detected during a periodic
count:

Debit Credit
Inventory shrinkage expense 300
Inventory 300

The net effect of these entries, assuming a zero beginning balance, is an ending inventory balance of $650.

The downside of using a perpetual inventory system is a massive increase in the number of inventory-
related transactions that must be recorded. This burden may require the addition of warehouse clerks to
record transactions, or the use of bar code scanning, portable data entry terminals, or other labor-saving
devices.

The initial comparison of a perpetual system’s recorded inventory valuation to the physical count will
likely reveal a significant disparity. This variance will be caused by a number of transactions not being
recorded or recorded incorrectly. If the causes of these variances are tracked down and corrected (usually
with procedural changes and training updates), the perpetual system will eventually become quite reliable.
However, if a nonprofit has a small and low-cost inventory that rarely experiences much turnover, it is
possible that the increased reliability of a perpetual system will not be worth its added cost. If so, the peri-
odic inventory system may be the more applicable system.
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Inventory Cost Layering Overview

The typical inventory asset is comprised of many identical parts that may have been acquired during dif-
ferent time periods. In each of these time periods, it is likely that the costs incurred varied somewhat from
those incurred in other time periods. The result is a mish-mash of inventory items that all look the same,
but which have different costs associated with them. How is the accountant to decide which costs to assign
to goods when they are sold? A possible solution is the cost layering concept. Under cost layering, we
assume that different tranches of costs have been incurred to construct or acquire certain clusters of inven-
tory. The following example illustrates the concept.

EXAMPLE

Senior Care Home Supplies acquires wheel chairs from a contract manufacturer, for sale through SCHS’ on-line store.
An especially popular wheel chair is a battery-powered model. Over the past three months, Milford made the following
purchases of this model from its contract manufacturer:

Date Quantity Price/each
1/05/X3 320 $89.00
1/29/X3 85 90.25
2/15/X3 170 91.00
3/09/X3 135 91.00

Since the first two purchases were made at different prices, the units in each of these purchases can be considered a
separate cost layer. Since the last two purchases were made at the same price, they can be aggregated into the same
cost layer, or they may be treated as separate cost layers.

Depending on the cost layering system that SCHS chooses to use, the organization can assume that the cost of a wheel
chair that is charged to the cost of goods sold may come from the first of these cost layers (the first in, first out system)
or from the last of the cost layers (the last in, first out system).

Two methods for calculating the cost of inventory that employ the cost layering concept are shown in this
chapter. Of the methods presented, the first in, first out method has gained worldwide recognition. The last
in, first out method cannot realistically be justified based on the actual flow of inventory, and is only used
in the United States under the sanction of the Internal Revenue Service; it is specifically banned under
international financial reporting standards. We also make passing note of the specific identification method,
which is an acceptable alternative to the cost layering methods, but which is usually only applicable to a
small number of entities.

The First in, First Out Method

The first in, first out (FIFO) method of inventory valuation operates under the assumption that the first
goods purchased are also the first goods sold. In most organizations, this accounting assumption closely
matches the actual flow of goods, and so is considered the most theoretically correct inventory valuation
method.

Under the FIFO method, the earliest goods purchased are the first ones removed from the inventory
account. This results in the remaining items in inventory being accounted for at the most recently incurred
costs, so that the inventory asset recorded on the statement of financial position contains costs quite close
to the most recent costs that could be obtained in the marketplace. Conversely, this method also results in
older historical costs being matched against current revenues and recorded in the cost of goods sold, so the
gross margin does not necessarily reflect a proper matching of revenues and costs.

7



Inventory Accounting

EXAMPLE

Senior Care Home Supplies (SCHS) decides to use the FIFO method for the month of January. During that month, it
records the following transactions:

Quantity Actual Actual

Change Unit Cost Total Cost

Beginning inventory (layer 1) +100 $210 $21,000
Sale -75

Purchase (layer 2) +150 280 42,000
Sale -100

Purchase (layer 3) +50 300 15,000

Ending inventory =125 78,000

The cost of goods sold in units is calculated as:
100 Beginning inventory + 200 Purchased — 125 Ending inventory = 175 Units

SCHS’ controller uses the information in the preceding table to calculate the cost of goods sold for January, as well
as the cost of the inventory balance as of the end of January. The calculations appear in the following table:

Units Unit Cost Total Cost
Cost of goods sold
FIFO layer 1 100 $210 $21,000
FIFO layer 2 75 280 21,000
Total cost of goods sold 175 $42,000
Ending inventory
FIFO layer 2 75 280 $21,000
FIFO layer 3 50 300 15,000
Total ending inventory 125 $36,000

Thus, the first FIFO layer, which was the beginning inventory layer, is completely used up during the month, as well
as half of Layer 2, leaving half of Layer 2 and all of Layer 3 to be the sole components of the ending inventory.

Note that the $42,000 cost of goods sold and $36,000 ending inventory equals the $78,000 combined total of beginning
inventory and purchases during the month.

From a database management perspective, the FIFO method results in the smallest number of cost layers
to track, since the oldest layers are constantly being eliminated.
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The Last in, First Out Method

The last in, first out (LIFO) method operates under the assumption that the last item of inventory purchased
is the first one sold. Picture a store shelf where a clerk adds items from the front, and customers also take
their selections from the front; the remaining items of inventory that are located further from the front of
the shelf are rarely picked, and so remain on the shelf — that is a LIFO scenario.

The trouble with the LIFO scenario is that it is rarely encountered in practice. If an entity were to use
the process flow embodied by LIFO, a significant part of its inventory would be very old, and likely obso-
lete. Nonetheless, an organization does not actually have to experience the LIFO process flow in order to
use the method to calculate its inventory valuation.

EXAMPLE

Senior Care Home Supplies (SCHS) decides to use the LIFO method for the month of March. The following table
shows the various purchasing transactions for the organization’s First Alert electronic ambulance notification product.
The quantity purchased on March 1 actually reflects the inventory beginning balance.

Date Quantity Cost per Units Cost of Cost of Total

Purchased Purchased Unit Sold Layer #1 Layer #2 Cost

March 1 150 $210 95 (55 x $210) $11,550
March 7 100 235 110 (45 x $210) 9,450
March 11 200 250 180 (45 x $210) (20 x $250) 14,450
March 17 125 240 125 (45 x $210) (20 x $250) 14,450
March 25 80 260 120 (25 x $210) 5,250

The following bullet points describe the transactions noted in the preceding table:

e March 1. SCHS has a beginning inventory balance of 150 units, and sells 95 of these units between March 1
and March 7. This leaves one inventory layer of 55 units at a cost of $210 each.

e March 7. SCHS buys 100 additional units on March 7, and sells 110 units between March 7 and March 11.
Under LIFO, we assume that the latest purchase was sold first, so there is still just one inventory layer, which
has now been reduced to 45 units.

e March 11. SCHS buys 200 additional units on March 11, and sells 180 units between March 11 and March
17, which creates a new inventory layer that is comprised of 20 units at a cost of $250. This new layer appears
in the table in the “Cost of Layer #2” column.

e March 17. SCHS buys 125 additional units on March 17, and sells 125 units between March 17 and March
25, so there is no change in the inventory layers.

e March 25. SCHS buys 80 additional units on March 25, and sells 120 units between March 25 and the end
of the month. Sales exceed purchases during this period, so the second inventory layer is eliminated, as well
as part of the first layer. The result is an ending inventory balance of $5,250, which is derived from 25 units
of ending inventory, multiplied by the $210 cost in the first layer that existed at the beginning of the month.

Before implementing the LIFO system, consider the following points:

e Covenant compliance. When LIFO has been used for a long period of time and materials prices
have increased during that period, the reported inventory asset may be so low that an organization
has trouble meeting the terms of its loan covenants that require a certain amount of current assets.

e Layering. Since the LIFO system is intended to use the most recent layers of inventory, the ac-
countant may never access earlier layers, which can result in an administrative problem if there are
many layers to document.
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e Profit fluctuations. If early layers contain inventory costs that depart substantially from current
market prices, a nonprofit could experience sharp changes in its net assets if those layers are ever
accessed.

In summary, LIFO does not usually reflect the actual flow of inventory, and may even yield unusual finan-
cial results that differ markedly from reality.

The Specific Identification Method

The cost layering concept operates under the assumption that costs cannot be traced to specific inventory
items. This assumption is largely true, since there may be hundreds of identical items in stock. However,
in cases where a nonprofit only retains uniquely identifiable inventory items, it is perfectly acceptable to
assign a cost to each individual unit of inventory. When an item is sold, the cost specifically linked to that
item is charged to the cost of goods sold. The result is a highly accurate inventory accounting system that
precisely matches inventory costs with revenues. For this system to work, it should have the following
attributes:

e Unique inventory items. Each item in stock must be uniquely identified. This typically limits use
of the specific identification method to custom-made or uniquely-configured items.

e Cost linkage. When goods are acquired or built, the costing system must accumulate costs at the
individual unit level.

e Expensive items. Because of the extra cost of accumulating and tracking costs at the individual unit
level, this system is only cost-effective when the items being tracked are quite expensive.

The Lower of Cost or Market Rule

The lower of cost or market rule (LCM) is required by GAAP, and essentially states that the cost of inven-
tory be recorded at whichever cost is lower — the original cost or its current market price (hence the name
of the rule). More specifically, the rule mandates that the recognized cost of an inventory item should be
reduced to a level that does not exceed its replacement cost as derived in an open market. This replacement
cost is subject to the following two conditions:

e The recognized cost cannot be greater than the likely selling price minus costs of disposal (known
as net realizable value).
e The recognized cost cannot be lower than the net realizable value minus a normal profit percentage.

This situation typically arises when inventory has deteriorated, or has become obsolete, or market prices
have declined. The following example illustrates the concept.
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EXAMPLE

Senior Care Home Supplies (SCHS) resells five major brands of portable emergency alert devices, which are noted in
the following table. At the end of its reporting year, SCHS calculates the upper and lower price boundaries of the
LCM rule for each of the products, as noted in the table:

Upper Lower

Selling Completion/ Price Normal Price
Product Price - SellingCost = Boundary - Profit = Boundary
Full Spectrum $250 $25 $225 $75 $150
Gander Elite 190 19 171 57 114
Hi-Volume 150 15 135 45 90
Night Alert 1,000 100 900 300 600
Titanium 700 70 630 210 420

The normal profit associated with these products is a 30% margin on the original selling price.

The information in the preceding table for the upper and lower price boundaries is then included in the following table,
which completes the LCM calculation:

Upper Lower Existing Lower of

Price Price Recognized Replacement  Market Cost or
Product Boundary  Boundary Cost Cost* Value** Market
Full Spectrum $225 $150 $140 $260 $225 $140
Gander Elite 171 114 180 175 171 171
Hi-Volume 135 90 125 110 110 110
Night Alert 900 600 850 550 600 600
Titanium 630 420 450 390 420 420

* The cost at which the item could be acquired on the open market
** The replacement cost, as limited by the upper and lower pricing boundaries

The LCM decisions noted in the last table are explained as follows:

o  Full Spectrum. It would cost SCHS $260 to replace these items, which is above the upper price boundary of
$225. This means the market value for the purposes of this calculation is $225. Since the market price is
higher than the existing recognized cost, the LCM decision is to leave the recognized cost at $140 each.

e Gander Elite. The replacement cost of these items has declined to a level below the existing recognized cost,
so the LCM decision is to revise the recognized cost to $171. This amount is a small reduction from the
unadjusted replacement cost of $175 to the upper price boundary of $171.

e Hi-Volume. The replacement cost is less than the recognized cost, and is between the price boundaries. Con-
sequently, there is no need to revise the replacement cost. The LCM decision is to revise the recognized cost
to $110.

o Night Alert. The replacement cost of these items is below the existing recognized cost, but is below the lower
price boundary. Thus, the LCM decision is to set the market price at the lower price boundary, which will be
the revised cost of the items.

e Titanium. The replacement cost is much less than the existing recognized cost, but also well below the lower
price boundary. The LCM decision is therefore to set the market price at the lower price boundary, which is
also the new product cost.
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If the amount of a write-down caused by the LCM analysis is minor, charge the expense to the cost of goods
sold, since there is no reason to separately track the information. If the loss is material, track it in a separate
account (especially if such losses are recurring), such as “Loss on LCM adjustment.” A sample journal
entry for a large adjustment is:

Loss on LCM adjustment 147,000

Debit Credit

Merchandise inventory 147,000

Additional factors to consider when applying the LCM rule are:

Analysis by category. The LCM rule is normally applied to a specific inventory item, but it can be
applied to entire inventory categories. In the latter case, an LCM adjustment can be avoided if there
is a balance within an inventory category of items having market below cost and in excess of cost.
Hedges. If inventory is being hedged by a fair value hedge, add the effects of the hedge to the cost
of the inventory, which frequently eliminates the need for an LCM adjustment.

Last in, first out layer recovery. A write-down to the lower of cost or market can be avoided in an
interim period if there is substantial evidence that inventory amounts will be restored by year end,
thereby avoiding recognition of an earlier inventory layer.

Raw materials. Do not write down the cost of raw materials if the finished goods in which they are
used are expected to sell either at or above their costs.

Recovery. A write-down to the lower of cost or market can be avoided if there is substantial evi-
dence that market prices will increase before the inventory is sold.

Sales incentives. If there are unexpired sales incentives that will result in a loss on the sale of a
specific item, this is a strong indicator that there may be an LCM problem with that item.

Tip: When there is an LCM adjustment, it must be taken at once — the expense cannot be recognized over
multiple reporting periods.

Inventory Disclosures

The following information should be disclosed about an organization’s inventory practices in its financial
statements:

Basis. Note the basis on which inventories are stated. If there is a significant change in the basis of
accounting, the nature of the change and the effect on net assets (if material) shall be stated.
Lower of cost or market losses. If there are substantial and unusual losses caused by the lower of
cost or market rule, disclose this amount separately in the statement of activities. This is not a
requirement.

Goods above cost. Disclose the particulars concerning any inventory items that have been stated
above cost.

Goods at sales prices. Disclose the particulars concerning any inventory items that have been stated
at their sales prices.

Firm purchase commitments. Separately note in the statement of activities the amounts of any net
losses that have been accrued on firm purchase commitments.

Estimate. Disclose any significant estimates related to inventory.
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Summary

The information provided in this chapter should be sufficient for a nonprofit to deal with the basic account-
ing for its merchandise inventory. We made note of the periodic and perpetual systems for tracking aggre-
gate inventory levels, as well as several ways to assign costs to units of inventory. The discussion of the
lower of cost or market rule is one that a nonprofit will need to address at least once a year, before it
completes its annual financial statements.

This chapter did not address a large number of more advanced inventory accounting topics, such as
cycle counting, backflushing, physical inventory counts, inventory estimation, standard costing, job cost-
ing, and overhead allocation. For a more complete discussion of inventory that includes these other topics,
see the author’s Accounting for Inventory book.
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Review Questions

1. A periodic inventory system is dependent upon:
a. Periodic cycle counts
b. A physical count at the end of the period
c. Continual updates to the accounting records
d. The proper application of overhead to produced units

2. The sum of beginning inventory plus purchases equals:
a. The cost of goods available for production
b. The cost of goods sold
c. Ending inventory
d. The cost of goods available for sale
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Fixed Asset Accounting

Learning Objectives

Identify the options available for recognizing a collection.

Introduction

A fixed asset is an item with a useful life greater than one reporting period, and which exceeds an organi-
zation’s minimum capitalization limit. The capitalization limit is the amount paid for an asset, above which
the item is recorded as a fixed asset. If an entity pays less than the capitalization limit for an asset, it charges
the expenditure to expense in the period incurred. The following are examples of general categories of fixed
assets:

Buildings

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures
Intangible assets

Land

Leasehold improvements
Machinery

Vehicles

Related Podcast Episodes: Episodes 122, 139, and 196 of the Accounting Best Practices Podcast discuss
fixed asset disposals, a lean system for fixed assets, and fixed asset counting, respectively. The episodes
are available at: accountingtools.com/podcasts or iTunes

Initial Recognition of Fixed Assets

When a not-for-profit entity receives a fixed asset contribution, it records the asset with an offsetting entry
to a revenue or gain account. Record a contribution as revenue if it is part of the entity’s ongoing major
activities, or record it as a gain if the contribution is part of peripheral or incidental activity.

If a contributor places a restriction on the use of a fixed asset, this does not impact the underlying value
of the donation, so the entity records the same amount for such a contributed asset as it would for one
without a restriction, with no change in the timing of recognition.

If a nonprofit receives a contributed asset for which there is a major uncertainty about its value, do not
recognize it in the accounting records. Examples of such assets are those of historical value, photographs,
or items that may be of use solely for scientific research.

Conversely, an organization should record an asset that has a future economic benefit or service poten-
tial (usually by exchanging it for cash or using it to generate goods or services).
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EXAMPLE

Newton Enterprises provides free science classes to high school students. It receives the following contributions:

A philosopher’s stone. The stone is of historical significance, but probably does not transmute lead into gold.
Since there is considerable uncertainty about its value, Newton does not record the asset.

A used lawn mower. The lawn mower is of no direct use to Newton’s primary operations, and will be sold.
Newton accordingly records the lawn mower as a gain.

An electron microscope. The microscope is of direct use in Newton’s primary operations, so Newton records
it as revenue.

As an example of the journal entries to be used for a donated asset, if the microscope in the preceding
example were to be valued at $50,000, the journal entry might be:

Scientific devices 50,000
Revenue 50,000

Debit Credit

If the lawn mower in the preceding example were to be valued at $1,000, the journal entry might be:

Maintenance equipment 1,000
Gain on contributed assets 1,000

Debit Credit

The initial recognition of a fixed asset shall include the costs incurred to place the asset in use. For example,
the cost to install and test contributed equipment is considered part of the asset cost. Similarly, the cost to
catalog library books is considered part of the cost of the books.

The Capitalization Limit

One of the most important decisions to be made in the initial recognition of a fixed asset is what minimum
cost level to use, below which an expenditure is recorded as an expense in the period incurred, rather than
recording it as a fixed asset and depreciating it over time. This capitalization limit, which is frequently
abbreviated as the cap limit, is usually driven by the following factors:

Asset tracking. If an expenditure is recorded as a fixed asset, the fixed asset tracking system may
impose a significant amount of control over the newly-recorded fixed asset. This can be good, if it
is useful to know where an asset is at any time. Conversely, there is not usually a tracking system
in place for an expenditure that is charged to expense, since the assumption is that such items are
consumed at once, and so require no subsequent tracking.

Fixed asset volume. The number of expenditures that will be recorded as fixed assets will increase
dramatically as the cap limit is lowered. For example, there may only be one fixed asset if the cap
limit is $100,000, 50 assets if the cap limit is $10,000, and 500 assets if the cap limit is $1,000.
Analyze historical expenditures to estimate a cap limit that will prevent the accounting staff from
being deluged with additional fixed asset records.

Record keeping cost. What is the lowest asset cost at which it becomes burdensome to track an
individual fixed asset? There is a labor cost associated with each fixed asset, which includes depre-
ciation, derecognition, impairment, and auditing transactions.
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From an efficiency perspective, a high cap limit is always best, since it greatly reduces the work of the
accountant. From an asset tracking perspective, the reverse is desirable, with a very low cap limit. These
conflicting objectives call for some discussion within the management team about the most appropriate cap
limit — it should not simply be imposed on the entity by the accounting department.

EXAMPLE

Newton Enterprises is reviewing its capitalization limit, which is currently set at $250. A review of this limit reveals
that the organization has capitalized several hundred tables, none of which it actively tracks. There are also a number
of servers that were acquired for its data storage facility, each of which cost about $5,000 each. These servers are
occasionally subject to failure, and so are monitored closely. Finally, there are several large training facilities, with
each building costing several million dollars.

Upon review of this information, management concludes that it should re-set the capitalization limit to $1,000, so that
it excludes all tables, but continues to include the servers that it has more interest in tracking. This change in policy
will also eliminate roughly 20 percent of all assets tracked, which will reduce the cost of record keeping. Though there
will be an additional expense associated with immediately charging tables to expense, the increase is considered im-
material to Newton’s overall change in net assets.

Restrictions on Contributed Assets

If a donor makes a contribution that is an unconditional promise to give, recognize the contribution when
received. This calls for sufficient verifiable documentation that the promise was both made and received.
The promise should be legally enforceable. If a contributor is able to rescind the promise to give, do not
recognize the asset being contributed.

If a contributor makes a contribution that is a conditional promise to give, only recognize the asset
when the underlying conditions have been substantially met (e.g., at the point when the promise becomes
unconditional).

EXAMPLE

Newton Enterprises receives an offer from a contributor to pay $2 million for a new classroom building, but only if
Newton can raise matching funds from other contributors within one year. Given the conditional nature of this offer,
Newton cannot record the asset until the matching funds have been raised within the specified time period.

A donor may contribute a fixed asset with restrictions placed on the use of that asset. If so, record the asset
within the net assets with donor restrictions classification. This amount may be reclassified to net assets
without donor restrictions at a later date, if the restrictions expire.

The following contributed assets should be reclassified from net assets with donor restrictions to net
assets without donor restrictions when the assets are placed in service:

e Cash contributed for the acquisition or construction of fixed assets.
o Fixed assets contributed with purpose restrictions, for which there is no stipulation stating how long
the asset must be used.
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Valuation of Contributed Assets

Recognize a donated asset at its fair value as of the receipt date. The following techniques are available for
deriving fair value:

e Market approach. Use information from actual market transactions to arrive at an estimated fair
value. Ideally, this information is based on quoted prices in an active market for identical items,
but may also use information from transactions for similar items, or just the best available infor-
mation.

¢ Income approach. Use discounted cash flows to derive the present value of an asset.

Cost approach. Use an asset’s current replacement cost. This is essentially the cost of acquiring or
building a substitute asset that has comparable utility.

If the election is made to use the income approach, and the asset being contributed will not be received for
at least a year, use the projected fair value of the asset as of the date when it is expected to be received,
discounted back to its present value. When it is impossible to determine fair value as of a future date, use
the fair value of the asset at the initial recognition date, though without any discounting to present value.

EXAMPLE

Newton Enterprises is given an office building for use as a training center by a city government that has no use for the
building. The city is suffering through a severe downturn, and the government was unable to find a buyer for the
building. In general, there is very little market information available for the valuation of similar buildings, given the
paucity of sale transactions. Newton also has trouble using the income approach to derive a value for the building,
since it gives science classes for free. Thus, it elects to use the cost approach to value the building, under which it
determines that the cost to create a substitute building of comparable utility would be $700,000.

Valuation of Contributed Services

What if volunteers donate their time to construct a fixed asset? Record the value of these services in either
of the following situations:

e The services create or enhance non-financial assets; or
e The services require specialized skills, are provided by persons with those skills, and would other-
wise need to be purchased.

Value these services at either their fair value or at the fair value of the fixed asset created or the change in
value of the fixed asset being improved.

EXAMPLE

Newton Enterprises constructs a science school, using the services of a large group of volunteers, which include ar-
chitects, carpenters, electricians, and plumbers. Newton spends $800,000 on materials for the building project. Once
the asset is placed in service, a third-party appraiser estimates that the fair value of the building is now $1.2 million.
Newton can therefore record the building asset at a cost of $1.2 million, of which $400,000 is the value of contributed
services.
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Valuation of Art, Historical Treasures, and Similar Items

If a donor contributes works of art, historical treasures, or similar items, a nonprofit can recognize them as
assets, with offsetting revenue or gains. This only applies if the items contributed are not part of a collection.
A collection is defined as art works that are for public use, are safeguarded and cared for, and are protected
by a policy to replace items that are sold from the collection. If contributions are part of a collection, use
any of the following alternatives for reporting them:

e Record them as fixed assets; or
e Record as fixed assets only those items received after a specific date; or
e Do not record them.

Itis not allowable to record only selected collections or items as fixed assets; instead, any recordation policy
must be consistently applied to all collections or items.

Capitalize the cost of major preservation or restoration projects, and assign them useful lives that extend
until the next expected preservation or restoration project for the same asset.

EXAMPLE

Newton Enterprises maintains a small science museum, to which a donor contributes an original quadruplex telegraph
built by Thomas Edison. An independent appraisal establishes that the device has a fair value of $150,000. Newton
adds the telegraph to its Edison collection and records it as a fixed asset. This results in revenue of $150,000, as well
as a new fixed asset.

If a collection is to be capitalized, a possible issue is what value to assign to the collection items. The
amount to recognize should be the fair value of the items, but this can be difficult to ascertain. As noted in
the preceding example and in the prior Valuation of Contributed Assets section, one approach is to have an
appraiser develop a valuation, which is usually derived from the quoted market prices of similar items. The
amount of the valuation will be of great interest to the donor, who may use this information to claim a tax
deduction for the value of the contributed items.

If a nonprofit contributes a previously recognized collection item to another entity, the nonprofit rec-
ognizes the contribution as an expense, using the fair value of the item as the recognized expense. However,
if the collection item was never recognized as an asset, it is not recognized as an expense when contributed
elsewhere.

Depreciation of Fixed Assets

Depreciation is the concept of gradually charging the cost of an asset to expense as the asset is consumed
over time, rather than charging the entire amount to expense as soon as the asset is acquired. Doing so more
accurately represents asset consumption.

A nonprofit entity should depreciate any contributed assets that it has recorded as fixed assets, if they
have a useful life. If an asset’s useful life is extremely long (as would be the case for a work of art), a
nonprofit does not have to recognize depreciation for it. Only avoid depreciation in this manner if both of
the following conditions exist:

e The asset should be preserved perpetually, due to its cultural, aesthetic, or historical value; and
e The entity has the ability to preserve the asset (such as by preserving it in a protected environment),
and is currently doing so.

It is necessary to depreciate art collections, on the grounds that they experience wear and tear during their
intended uses that requires periodic major restoration efforts.
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If the cost of a major restoration project has been capitalized, depreciate this cost over the expected
period before the next restoration project is expected. Do this even if the asset being restored or preserved
is not depreciated.

There are a number of complex depreciation methods available, but it is rarely necessary for a nonprofit
to use them. Instead, use the simplest depreciation method, which is called the straight-line method. Under
this approach, recognize depreciation expense evenly over the estimated useful life of an asset. The straight-
line calculation steps are:

1. Subtract the estimated salvage value of the asset from the amount at which it is recorded on the
books.

2. Determine the estimated useful life of the asset.

3. Divide the estimated useful life (in years) into 1 to arrive at the straight-line depreciation rate.

4. Multiply the depreciation rate by the asset cost (less salvage value).

EXAMPLE

Newton Education purchases a cold fusion training lab for $60,000. The lab has an estimated salvage value of $10,000
and a useful life of five years. Newton calculates the annual straight-line depreciation for the machine as:

1. Purchase cost of $60,000 — Estimated salvage value of $10,000 = Depreciable asset cost of $50,000
2. 1 +5-Year useful life = 20% Depreciation rate per year
3. 20% Depreciation rate x $50,000 Depreciable asset cost = $10,000 Annual depreciation

If it is necessary to recognize depreciation expense on an accelerated basis, the double-declining balance
(DDB) method is most commonly used. This approach is most logical when the use of an asset is expected
to be most heavy in the early years of its useful life, and to then taper off over time.

To calculate the double-declining balance depreciation rate, divide the number of years of useful life
of an asset into 100 percent, and multiply the result by two. The formula is:

(100%/Years of useful life) x 2

The DDB calculation proceeds until the asset’s salvage value is reached, after which depreciation ends.
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EXAMPLE

Newton Education purchases a machine for $50,000. It has an estimated salvage value of $5,000 and a useful life of
five years. The calculation of the double declining balance depreciation rate is:

(100%/Years of useful life) x 2 = 40%

By applying the 40% rate, Newton arrives at the following table of depreciation charges per year:

Book Value at Depreciation DDB Book Value

Year Beginning of Year Percentage Depreciation Net of Depreciation
1 $50,000 40% $20,000 $30,000

2 30,000 40% 12,000 18,000

3 18,000 40% 7,200 10,800

4 10,800 40% 4,320 6,480

5 6,480 40% 1,480 5,000
Total $45,000

Note that the depreciation in the fifth and final year is only for $1,480, rather than the $3,240 that would be indicated
by the 40% depreciation rate. The reason for the smaller depreciation charge is that Newton stops any further depre-
ciation once the remaining book value declines to the amount of the estimated salvage value.

Depreciation Accounting Entries

The basic depreciation entry is to debit the depreciation expense account (which appears in the statement
of activities) and credit the accumulated depreciation account (which appears in the statement of financial
position as an offset to the fixed assets line item). Over time, the accumulated depreciation balance will
continue to increase as more depreciation is added to it, until such time as it equals the original cost of the
asset. At that time, stop recording any depreciation expense, since the cost of the asset has now been reduced
to zero.

The journal entry for depreciation can be a simple two-line entry designed to accommodate all types of
fixed assets, or it may be subdivided into separate entries for each type of fixed asset.
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EXAMPLE

Newton Education calculates that it should have $25,000 of depreciation expense in the current month. The entry is:

Debit Credit
Depreciation expense 25,000
Accumulated depreciation 25,000

In the following month, Newton’s controller decides to show a higher level of precision at the expense account level,
and instead elects to apportion the $25,000 of depreciation among different expense accounts, so that each class of
asset has a separate depreciation charge. The entry is:

Debit Credit
Depreciation expense — Automobiles 4,000
Depreciation expense — Computer equipment 8,000
Depreciation expense — Furniture and fixtures 6,000
Depreciation expense — Office equipment 5,000
Depreciation expense — Software 2,000
Accumulated depreciation 25,000

Accumulated Depreciation

When an asset is sold or otherwise disposed of, remove all related accumulated depreciation from the ac-
counting records at the same time. Otherwise, an unusually large amount of accumulated depreciation will
build up on the statement of financial position.

EXAMPLE

Newton Education has $1,000,000 of fixed assets, for which it has charged $380,000 of accumulated depreciation.
This results in the following presentation on Newton’s statement of financial position:

Fixed assets $1,000,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation (380,000)
Net fixed assets $620,000

Newton then sells a training machine for $80,000 that had an original cost of $140,000, and for which it had already
recorded accumulated depreciation of $50,000. It records the sale with this journal entry:

Debit Credit
Cash 80,000
Accumulated depreciation 50,000
Loss on asset sale 10,000
Fixed assets 140,000
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As a result of this entry, Newton’s statement of financial position presentation of fixed assets has changed, so that
fixed assets before accumulated depreciation have declined to $860,000, and accumulated depreciation has declined
to $330,000. The new presentation is:

Fixed assets $860,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation (330,000)
Net fixed assets $530,000

The amount of net fixed assets declined by $90,000 as a result of the asset sale, which is the sum of the $80,000 cash
proceeds and the $10,000 loss resulting from the asset sale.

Asset Impairment

Fixed assets should be periodically tested to see if they are still as valuable as the costs at which they are
now recorded in the accounting records. If not, reduce the recorded cost of these assets by recognizing a
loss. The basic rule is to recognize an impairment loss on a fixed asset if its carrying amount is not recov-
erable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount is the cost of an asset, minus any accumulated de-
preciation and impairments. Once impairment has been recognized, it cannot be reversed in a later period.

The carrying amount of an asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset over its remaining useful life and the final disposition of the
asset. These cash flow estimates should incorporate assumptions that are reasonable in relation to the as-
sumptions the entity uses for its budgets, forecasts, and so forth. If there are a range of possible cash flow
outcomes, consider using a probability-weighted cash flow analysis.

The amount of an impairment loss is the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and its fair
value. Once an impairment loss is recognized, this reduces the carrying amount of the asset, so it may be
necessary to alter the amount of periodic depreciation being charged against the asset to adjust for this lower
carrying amount (otherwise, an excessively large depreciation expense will be incurred over the remaining
useful life of the asset).

Our treatment of asset impairment is intentionally limited, since the impairment test is designed for
organizations whose assets have discernible cash flows associated with them. Nonprofits do not necessarily
operate in this manner, and so are effectively exempt from the asset impairment concept. However, if a
non-profit has a business-type activity, such as a bookstore, café, or fee-generating training program where
assets do generate cash flows, the related assets will be subject to asset impairment testing.

Recordation of Fixed Assets

The record keeping for a fixed asset may be relatively minimal, perhaps with just an authorizing purchase
order copy attached to a supplier invoice. However, for more expensive fixed assets, management might
want to track a considerably larger pool of information. Consider whether the following information might
be needed:

o Description. This is a description of the asset that is sufficient to identify it.

e Tag number. This is the identification number of the asset tag that the entity affixes to its assets.

o Serial number. If no tag numbers are used, instead list the serial number of the asset, as assigned
by the manufacturer.

e Location. Note the location where the asset resides.

o Responsible party. This is the name or position of the person who is responsible for the equipment.

e Inservice date. This is the date on which the asset is ready for its intended use, and is the traditional
trigger date for the start of depreciation.
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o Cost. The cost may simply be the original purchase price, or it may be a more extensive record of
additions to the asset over time as high-cost items are replaced.

o Useful life. This can be the manufacturer’s recommended equipment life, or it can be supplemented
it over time if management concludes that the useful life should be changed, with notations regard-
ing the impact on the depreciation rate.

o Asset class. Note the class of assets in which the asset is categorized. Since a standard depreciation
method is typically assigned to an asset class, it is not necessary to also state the depreciation
method. If a standard useful life is used for an asset class, it is not necessary to separately record
an asset’s useful life.

e Warranty period. This is the period during which the manufacturer will pay for repairs to the equip-
ment. If there is a cost-effective warranty extension option, note it here.

o Supplier contact information. This may include several addresses for the supplier, such as for its
field servicing, customer service, warranty, and sales departments.

e Impairment circumstances. If there has been a write down in the value of the equipment due to
impairment, note the circumstances of the impairment, and when it occurred. This may require
extensive documentation if there have been several impairments or impairment reversals.

By retaining this additional asset information, one can more easily track down assets, determine who is
responsible for them, and determine if the manufacturer is responsible for any repairs. It is useful to con-
solidate this record with any manufacturer’s warranty documents, as well as a copy of key maintenance
records.

In addition, consider maintaining the following information that relates specifically to nonprofits:

o Donor. Identify the person or entity that contributed the asset, along with contact information.
o Restrictions. Note any restrictions placed on use of the asset by the donor.

These two additional items may interact. For example, there may no longer be a need for an asset, and
management wants to sell it to create space for another asset. If so, it may be necessary to contact the donor
to have a restriction lifted, or to have the asset returned to the donor.

It is also useful to maintain a report that itemizes the restrictions on fixed assets, so that the entity does
not deal with an asset in a manner that will violate a restriction. This report should be periodically updated
and issued to the management team for review.

Fixed Asset Disclosures

The following accounting policies relating to fixed assets must be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements:

o Whether there is a time restriction imposed on the use of donated fixed assets that states the period
over which the assets must be used

e The capitalization policy used

e The capitalization policy for collections

e Whether cost or fair value is used to derive the valuation of fixed assets

In the accompanying disclosures, also make separate note of all nondepreciable items, fixed assets not held
for use in operations, and any improvements made to leased assets.
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If there are liquidity issues with fixed assets or limitations on their use, these issues must be included
in the financial statement disclosures. For example:

o Any fixed assets that are pledged as collateral in loan agreements

e Contracts which may result in the nonprofit gaining control of certain assets at the end of the con-
tract

o Donor limitations placed on the use of any funds gained from the sale of donated assets

e Whether the title to donated assets may revert to a third party

If collections are capitalized, the amount must be stated in a separate collections line item in the statement
of financial position. If there are other works of art, historical treasures, or similar items not considered to
be collections, report their aggregate capitalized amount in a separate line item in the statement of financial
position or in the accompanying notes.

If a nonprofit elects to not recognize its collections, or to only capitalize collections on a prospective
basis, it must describe the collections, as well as their relative significance, and any policies it has regarding
the stewardship of the collections. If collections have not been recognized, the entity must also describe or
note the fair value of those items given away, damaged, destroyed, or lost during the reporting period. A
reference to this information must be included in a line item in the statement of financial position.

If collections are not recognized, a nonprofit must separately report in the statement of activities the
cost of any collection items purchased (thus, the treatment is as an expense, rather than a fixed asset). A
possible line item description is:

Collection items purchased but not capitalized

If collections are not recognized or only recognized prospectively, the following items must be separately
reported in the statement of activities:

o Proceeds from the sale of any collection items. A possible line item description is:

Gain on sale of art that is not held in a collection

e Proceeds from any insurance payments received that relate to lost or destroyed collection items. A
possible line item description is:

Proceeds from insurance recoveries on destroyed collection items

Summary

A nonprofit entity must deal with several fixed asset decisions that a for-profit business never encounters —
whether to record a contributed asset, at what value to record it, and whether to depreciate it at all. These
decisions are only for contributed assets. For fixed assets that are directly purchased by a nonprofit, the
fixed asset accounting follows essentially the same rules used by for-profit entities.
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Review Questions

1. A not-for-profit entity should record a contributed asset as revenue when:
a. It has provided an asset in exchange
b. The item is part of the entity’s ongoing major activities
c. Itengages in a sale transaction with a third party
d. The item is part of the entity’s peripheral activities

2. If adonor makes an unconditional promise to give, the accountant should:
a. Recognize the commitment
b. Not recognize the commitment
c. Wait until there is physical receipt of the asset before recognition
d. Disclose the commitment but do not recognize it until there is physical receipt of the asset
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Chapter 9
Lease Accounting

Learning Objectives

o Recall how the 12-month lease exception works.
o Specify the different types of lease payments.

Introduction

Nonprofits do not always have sufficient cash to purchase their own equipment or facilities, and so will
enter into leases to obtain the use of these assets. A lease is an arrangement where the lessor agrees to allow
the lessee to use an asset for a stated period of time in exchange for one or more payments.

The lease financing of assets is governed by a strict set of rules that require a lessee to either treat a
leasing arrangement as a series of rental payments or as the purchase of an asset. In this chapter, we cover
the accounting for the different types of leases, sale-leaseback transactions, and similar issues related to
leases. We only present the accounting for leases from the perspective of the lessee, since nonprofits are
rarely placed in the position of leasing assets to other entities.

The Nature of a Lease

A lease is an arrangement under which a lessor agrees to allow a lessee to control the use of identified
property, plant, and equipment for a stated period of time in exchange for one or more payments. A lease
arrangement is quite a useful opportunity, for the following reasons:

e The lessee reduces its exposure to asset ownership
o The lessee obtains financing from the lessor in order to pay for the asset
e The lessee now has access to the leased asset

An arrangement is considered to give control over the use of an asset when both of these conditions are
present:

e The lessee obtains the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from using an asset; and
e The lessee obtains the right to direct the uses to which an asset is put.

EXAMPLE

The Rural Communications Consortium (RCC) obtains the rights to the entire output of an undersea cable for the next
ten years, in order to benefit from an expected increase in traffic from new data centers in Sweden to users in the
United States. Since RCC has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from using the cable, the underly-
ing contract is considered a lease. If the arrangement had instead been for only a certain proportion of the total capacity
of the cable, where the cable operator could choose which fibers within the cable would carry RCC’s data, the ar-
rangement would not be considered a lease.
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EXAMPLE

Teton Helicopter Rescue leases a helicopter for use in its personnel rescue operations. As part of the lease agreement,
Teton is only allowed to operate the helicopter during daylight hours. This restriction is designed to reduce the risk of
damage to the craft. This protective right limits the scope of Teton’s usage of the helicopter, but does not actually
prevent it from having the right to use the asset. Thus, the restriction does not prevent the contract from being desig-
nated as a lease.

The following additional points all apply to whether a lease exists:

o Partial period. If a leasing arrangement only lasts for a portion of the period spanned by a contract,
a lease is still presumed to exist for the partial period specified within the contract.

¢ Right of substitution. If a contract allows the supplier to substitute an identified asset with another
asset throughout the usage period, there is no lease. This situation only applies when the supplier
has the practical ability to substitute alternative assets, and the supplier obtains a positive economic
benefit from doing so. The evaluation of the ability to substitute assets does not include assets that
are unlikely to occur.

EXAMPLE

Reef Bleaching Analysis (RBA) leases several submarines from Underwater Assets, for use in shallow-water research
at nearby reefs. The lease agreement states that Underwater Assets can substitute a submarine for repairs or mainte-
nance in the event that a submarine is not operating properly. This contract language still allows RBA to have the right
to an identified asset, so the existence of the lease is not called into question.

EXAMPLE

Nova Asteroid Survey operates a deep field scanning telescope for sky survey work, which it leases from Alpha
Centauri Leasing. If the contract language is interpreted in a certain way, it appears possible that Alpha could substitute
the telescope at a later date. However, the telescope is located at Nova’s observatory, and would be difficult to dis-
mount and replace. The cost of substitution is therefore likely to be higher than any benefits that Alpha might gain
from the substitution. In this case, it appears likely that there is a lease.

EXAMPLE

Feed the Poor Ministries stores corn and wheat along the Mississippi River. It enters into an agreement with a local
transport firm to transport crops up and down the river. The volume of transport services indicated in the contract
translates into the ongoing use of three barges. The transport firm has several hundred barges that it can use to fulfill
the contract. When not in use, the barges are stored at one of the transport firm’s riverside facilities. No specific barges
are described in the contract. Given these conditions, it is apparent that Feed the Poor does not direct the use of the
barges, nor does it have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the barges. Conse-
quently, this arrangement is not a lease.

Since the accounting for a lease only applies to property, plant, and equipment, it does not apply to the
following types of assets that may also be leased:

Assets under construction

Biological assets (such as orchards)

Exploration assets (such as oil and gas exploration rights)
Intangible assets

Inventory
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Lease Components (Lessee)

Once it has been established that a contract contains a lease, it is necessary to separate the lease into its
components (if any). This can result in a business tracking several different leases within one contract. A
separate lease component exists when both of the following conditions are present:

o The lessee can benefit from the right of use of a single asset, or together with other readily available
resources; and

e The right of use is separate from the rights to use other assets in the contract. This is not the case
when the rights of use of the different assets significantly affect each other.

The right to use land is always considered a separate lease component, unless doing so would have an
insignificant effect.

There may also be non-lease components to a contract. These components will not meet the criteria just
stated for a lease component, but will transfer a good or service to the lessee. There may also be other
activities that do not qualify as non-lease components, since there is no transfer of goods or services; for
example, the reimbursement of lessor costs falls into this category.

A common charge associated with a lease is common area maintenance. The lessor typically performs
maintenance and cleaning services for all common areas in a building, and then charges a portion of these
costs through to the building tenants. The lessee would otherwise have to perform these services itself or
pay a third party to do so. Common area maintenance costs are considered a non-lease component.

Once all lease and non-lease components have been identified, allocate the consideration in the contract
to them. This allocation is derived as follows:

1. Determine the standalone price of each separate lease and non-lease component. This should be
based on the observable standalone price. If this price is not available, it can be estimated.

2. Allocate the consideration in proportion to the standalone prices of the various components.

3. If there are any initial direct costs associated with the contract, allocate these costs on the same
basis as the lease payments.

EXAMPLE

African Solar leases a stamping machine and a CNC (computer numerical control) machine for its solar powered
washing machine production facility, along with periodic maintenance and repair services. The total consideration
that African will pay over the five-year term of the lease is $800,000.

African’s controller concludes that there are two separate leases, since the stamping and CNC machines are to be used
separately, in different parts of the factory. The controller also decides to account for the maintenance and repair
services as non-lease components of the contract. Further, these services are considered to be distinct for each machine,
and so are separate non-lease performance obligations.
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The controller needs to allocate the $800,000 of consideration to the various lease and non-lease components. She
notes that there are a number of local suppliers that provide similar maintenance and repair services for each of the
machines, and that standalone prices can be found to separately lease the two machines. These standalone prices are
noted in the following table:

Lease Maintenance Totals

Stamping machine $200,000 $30,000 $230,000
CNC machine 570,000 100,000 670,000
Totals $770,000 $130,000 $900,000

The controller allocates the $800,000 consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components on a relative
basis, employing their standalone prices. This results in the following allocation:

Lease Maintenance Totals

Stamping machine $177,778 $26,667 $204,445
CNC machine 506,667 88,888 595,555
Totals $684,445 $115,555 $800,000

The consideration in a lease should be remeasured and reallocated when either of the following events
occurs:

e The lease liability is remeasured. This could be triggered by a change in the term of the lease, or a
revision to the assessment of whether a lease option will be exercised.
e There is a contract modification that is not being accounted for as a separate contract.

Initial Direct Costs

Initial direct costs are those costs that are only incurred if a lease agreement occurs. This usually includes
broker commissions and payments made to existing tenants to obtain a lease, because these costs are only
incurred if a lease agreement is signed. Legal fees are usually not included, since the parties must pay their
attorneys even if a lease arrangement falls through. Also, staff time spent working on a lease arrangement
will be incurred irrespective of the lease agreement, and so is not considered part of initial direct costs.

Initial direct costs are capitalized at the inception of a lease, and are then amortized ratably over the
term of the lease. Throughout the term of a lease, any unamortized initial direct costs are included in the
measurement of the right-of-use asset (which is discussed later).

Lease Consideration

Consideration is defined as something of value that induces the parties to a contract to exchange mutual
performances. The consideration in a leasing arrangement is most obviously the periodic fixed lease pay-
ments made by the lessee. Consideration can also include monthly service charges, as well as variable
payments that are defined by an index or a rate. For example, a lease payment may be adjusted each year,
based on changes in the consumer price index.
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The Lease Term

One of the key components of a lease is the lease term. This is considered to be the noncancelable period
of a lease, as well as the following additional periods that may apply:

o Lease extension options if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise these options
o Lease termination options if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will not exercise these options
e Lease extension options where the lessor controls the options

An entity makes a judgment call as of the lease commencement date regarding which of the preceding
factors will apply to the derivation of an estimated lease term. This judgment is based on those factors that
create an economic incentive for the lessee. Examples of economic incentives are reduced lease payments
in the optional period, the significance of any leasehold improvements, and the importance of the underly-
ing asset to the lessee’s operations.

EXAMPLE

Subatomic Research operates a laboratory in leased facilities. The laboratory has been designated as an airborne in-
fection isolation room by the federal government, which is quite a difficult certification to obtain. The lease has an
option for Subatomic to extend the lease term by five years. It is highly likely that Subatomic will renew the lease,
given the high cost of moving elsewhere and then applying for recertification.

EXAMPLE

Newton Enterprises offers free science classes to high school students. These endeavors require Newton to lease train-
ing facilities. Its most recent lease is for 10 years, with a termination option after seven years. Annual lease payments
are $100,000. If Newton terminates the lease, it must pay a $30,000 termination penalty. The managers of Newton
conclude that it is not reasonably certain that Newton will need the facilities after seven years of use, especially con-
sidering the relatively small size of the termination penalty when compared to the amount of the annual lease pay-
ments. Consequently, Newton elects to measure the lease term as being seven years.

If the lessor provides a period of free rent, the lease term is considered to begin at the commencement date
and to include all rent-free periods.

A lease term should not extend past the period when it is enforceable. A lease is no longer enforceable
when both the lessee and the lessor can terminate the lease without permission from the other party, and by
paying no more than an insignificant penalty.

Initial Measurement of Lease Payments

There are a number of possible payments by a lessee that can be associated with a lease component. All of
the following payments relate to the use of the underlying asset in a lease:

o Fixed payments, minus any lease incentives payable to the lessee
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate (such as the consumer price index)

e The exercise price of an option to purchase the underlying asset, if it is reasonably certain that the
lessee will exercise the option

e Penalty payments associated with an assumed exercise of an option to terminate the lease

o Fees paid to the owners of a special-purpose entity for creating the transaction

o Residual value guarantees, if it is probable that these amounts will be owed. Note that a lease pro-
vision requiring the lessee to pay for any deficiency in residual value that is caused by damage or
excessive usage is not considered a guarantee of the residual value.
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At the commencement of a lease, a number of direct costs may also have been incurred. Examples of these
costs are commissions and payments made to incentivize a tenant to terminate a lease. Costs that would
have been incurred even in the absence of a lease (such as general overhead and salaries) are not direct
costs.

A lessor might pay a third party for a guarantee of the residual value of an underlying asset. This pay-
ment is considered an executory cost of the contract; it is not considered part of the lease payments.

If there is a requirement in a lease agreement that the lessee dismantle and remove an underlying asset
following the end of a lease, this cost is considered a lease payment.

Subsequent Measurement of Lease Payments

It is only necessary to reassess a lessee’s option to purchase an underlying asset or the length of the lease
term when one of the following events occurs subsequent to the initial measurement of a lease:

o Contractual requirement. An event occurs that was addressed in the contract, requiring the lessee
to exercise (or not exercise) an option or terminate the lease.

o No option exercise. The lessee does not exercise an option despite a previous determination that it
was reasonably certain for the lessee to do so.

e Option exercise. The lessee exercises an option despite a previous determination that it was rea-
sonably certain that the lessee would not do so.

o Significant event. A significant event has occurred that is within the control of the lessee, and which
directly affects the lessee’s decision to exercise or not exercise an option, or to purchase the under-
lying asset. Examples of significant events are the construction of significant leasehold improve-
ments that will be of value to the lessee during the option period, and making significant modifica-
tions to the underlying asset.

It is only necessary to remeasure the lease payments associated with a lease when one of the following
events occurs:

e Lease modification. The initial lease is modified, and the modification is not accounted for as a
separate contract.

e Resolved contingency. A contingency that had resulted in variable lease payments has now been
resolved, so that the payments become fixed for the remainder of the lease term.

e Other changes. There is a change in the lease term, a change in the assessment of whether an option
will be exercised, or a change in the probable amount that will be owed by the lessee under a
residual value guarantee.

Types of Leases

There are several types of lease designations, which differ if an entity is the lessee or the lessor. It is critical
to determine the type of a lease, since the accounting varies by lease type. The choices for a lessee are that
a lease can be designated as either a finance lease or an operating lease. In essence, a finance lease desig-
nation implies that the lessee has purchased the underlying asset (even though this may not actually be the
case), while an operating lease designation implies that the lessee has obtained the use of the underlying
asset for only a period of time. A lessee should classify a lease as a finance lease when any of the following
criteria are met:

o Ownership transfer. Ownership of the underlying asset is shifted to the lessee by the end of the
lease term.

e Ownership option. The lessee has a purchase option to buy the leased asset, and is reasonably cer-
tain to use it.
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e Lease term. The lease term covers the major part of the underlying asset’s remaining economic life.
This is considered to be 75% or more of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset. This
criterion is not valid if the lease commencement date is near the end of the asset’s economic life,
which is considered to be a date that falls within the last 25% of the underlying asset’s total eco-
nomic life.

o Present value. The present value of the sum of all lease payments and any lessee-guaranteed resid-
ual value matches or exceeds the fair value of the underlying asset. The present value is based on
the interest rate implicit in the lease.

e Specialization. The asset is so specialized that it has no alternative use for the lessor following the
lease term. In this situation, there are essentially no remaining benefits that revert to the lessor.

When none of the preceding criteria are met, the lessee must classify a lease as an operating lease.

Asset and Liability Recognition (Lessee)

A central concept of the accounting for leases is that the lessee should recognize the assets and liabilities
that underlie each leasing arrangement. This concept results in the following recognition in the balance
sheet of the lessee as of the lease commencement date:

e Recognize a liability to make lease payments to the lessor
e Recognize a right-of-use asset that represents the right of the lessee to use the leased asset during
the lease term

There are a number of sub-topics related to asset and liability recognition, which are stated in the following
sub-sections.

Initial Measurement

As of the commencement date of a lease, the lessee measures the liability and the right-of-use asset associ-
ated with the lease. These measurements are derived as follows:

e Lease liability. The present value of the lease payments, discounted at the discount rate for the
lease. This rate is the rate implicit in the lease when that rate is readily determinable. If not, the
lessee instead uses its incremental borrowing rate.

e Right-of-use asset. The initial amount of the lease liability, plus any lease payments made to the
lessor before the lease commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, minus any lease
incentives received.

EXAMPLE

Deciduous Research Labs enters into a five-year lease, where the lease payments are $35,000 per year, payable at the
end of each year. Deciduous incurs initial direct costs of $8,000. The rate implicit in the lease is 8%.

At the commencement of the lease, the lease liability is $139,745, which is calculated as $35,000 multiplied by the
3.9927 rate for the five-period present value of an ordinary annuity. The right-of-use asset is calculated as the lease
liability plus the amount of the initial direct costs, for a total of $147,745.

Short-Term Leases

When a lease has a term of 12 months or less, the lessee can elect not to recognize lease-related assets and
liabilities in the balance sheet. This election is made by class of asset. When a lessee makes this election, it
should usually recognize the expense related to a lease on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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If the lease term changes so that the remaining term now extends more than 12 months beyond the end
of the previously determined lease term or the lessee will likely purchase the underlying asset, the arrange-
ment is no longer considered a short-term lease. In this situation, account for the lease as a longer-term
lease as of the date when there was a change in circumstances.

Finance Leases

When a lessee has designated a lease as a finance lease, it should recognize the following over the term of
the lease:

The ongoing amortization of the right-of-use asset

The ongoing amortization of the interest on the lease liability

Any variable lease payments that are not included in the lease liability
Any impairment of the right-of-use asset

The amortization period for the right-of-use asset is from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the lease term or the end of the useful life of the asset. An exception is when it is reasonably certain
that the lessee will exercise an option to purchase the asset, in which case the amortization period is through
the end of the asset’s useful life.

After the commencement date, the lessee increases the carrying amount of the lease liability to include
the interest expense on the lease liability, while reducing the carrying amount by the amount of all lease
payments made during the period. The interest on the lease liability is the amount that generates a constant
periodic discount rate on the remaining liability balance.

After the commencement date, the lessee reduces the right-of-use asset by the amount of accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment (if any).

EXAMPLE

Deciduous Research Labs agrees to a five-year lease of equipment that requires an annual $20,000 payment, due at
the end of each year. At the end of the lease period, Deciduous has the option to buy the equipment for $1,000. Since
the expected residual value of the equipment at that time is expected to be $25,000, the large discount makes it rea-
sonably certain that the purchase option will be exercised. At the commencement date of the lease, the fair value of
the equipment is $120,000, with an economic life of eight years. The discount rate for the lease is 6%.

Deciduous classifies the lease as a finance lease, since it is reasonably certain to exercise the purchase option.

The lease liability at the commencement date is $84,995, which is calculated as the present value of five payments of
$20,000, plus the present value of the $1,000 purchase option payment, discounted at 6%. Deciduous recognizes the
right-of-use asset as the same amount, since there are no initial direct costs, lease incentives, or other types of payments
made by Deciduous, either at or before the commencement date.

Deciduous amortizes the right-of-use asset over the eight-year expected useful life of the equipment, under the as-
sumption that it will exercise the purchase option and therefore keep the equipment for the eight-year period.

As an example of the subsequent accounting for the lease, Deciduous recognizes a first-year interest expense of $5,100
(calculated as 6% x $84,995 lease liability), and recognizes the amortization of the right-of-use asset in the amount of
$10,624 (calculated as $84,995 + 8 years). This results in a lease liability at the end of Year 1 that has been reduced
to $70,095 (calculated as $84,995 + $5,100 interest - $20,000 lease payment) and a right-of-use asset that has been
reduced to $74,371 (calculated as $84,995 - $10,624 amortization).
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By the end of Year 5, which is when the lease terminates, the lease liability has been reduced to $1,000, which is the
amount of the purchase option. Deciduous exercises the option, which settles the remaining liability. At that time, the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has declined to $31,875 (reflecting five years of amortization at $10,624 per
year). Deciduous shifts this amount into a fixed asset account and depreciates it over the remaining three years of its
useful life.

Operating Leases

When a lessee has designated a lease as an operating lease, the lessee should recognize the following over
the term of the lease:

e A lease cost in each period, where the total cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. This can be altered if there is another systematic and rational basis of allocation
that more closely follows the benefit usage pattern to be derived from the underlying asset.

e Any variable lease payments that are not included in the lease liability

e Any impairment of the right-of-use asset

EXAMPLE

Deciduous Research Labs enters into an operating lease in which the lease payment is $25,000 per year for the first
five years and $30,000 per year for the next five years. These payments sum to $275,000 over ten years. Deciduous
will therefore recognize a lease expense of $27,500 per year for all of the years in the lease term.

At any point in the life of an operating lease, the remaining cost of the lease is considered to be the total
lease payments, plus all initial direct costs associated with the lease, minus the lease cost already recognized
in previous periods.

After the commencement date, the lessee measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments that have not yet been made, using the same discount rate that was established at the commence-
ment date.

After the commencement date, the lessee measures the right-of-use asset at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted for the following items:

e Any impairment of the asset
e Prepaid or accrued lease payments
e Any remaining balance of lease incentives received
e Any unamortized initial direct costs
EXAMPLE

Nova Asteroid Survey enters into a 10-year operating lease for its corporate offices. The annual lease payment is
$40,000 to be paid at the end of each year. The company incurs initial direct costs of $8,000, and receives $15,000
from the lessor as a lease incentive. Nova’s incremental borrowing rate is 6%. The initial direct costs and lease incen-
tive will be amortized over the 10 years of the lease term.

Nova measures the lease liability as the present value of the 10 lease payments at a 6% discount rate, which is
$294,404. The right-of-use asset is measured at $287,404, which is the initial $294,404 measurement, plus the initial
direct costs of $8,000, minus the lease incentive of $15,000.

After one year, the carrying amount of the lease liability is $272,068, which is the present value of the remaining nine
lease payments at a 6% discount rate. The carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is $265,768, which is the amount
of the liability, plus the unamortized initial direct costs of $7,200, minus the remaining balance of the lease incentive
of $13,500.

105



Lease Accounting

Right-of-Use Asset Impairment

If a right-of-use asset is determined to be impaired, the impairment is immediately recorded, thereby reduc-
ing the carrying amount of the asset. Its subsequent measurement is calculated as the carrying amount im-
mediately after the impairment transaction, minus any subsequent accumulated amortization.

EXAMPLE

Nova Asteroid Survey enters into a five-year equipment lease that is classified as an operating lease. At the end of
Year 2, when the carrying amount of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset are both $100,000, the controller
determines that the asset is impaired, and recognizes an impairment loss of $70,000. This reduces the carrying amount
of the asset to $30,000.

Beginning in Year 3 and continuing through the remainder of the lease term, Nova amortizes the right-of-use asset at
a rate of $10,000 per year, which will bring the carrying amount of the asset to zero by the end of the lease term.

Leasehold Improvement Amortization

A leasehold improvement is a customization of rented property, such as the addition of carpeting, cabinetry,
lighting, and walls. This asset should be amortized over the shorter of the remaining lease term and its
useful life. The one exception is when it is reasonably certain that the lessee will take possession of the
underlying asset at the end of the lease, in which case the amortization period is through the end of the
asset’s useful life.

Subleases

A sublease occurs when a lessee leases the underlying asset to a third party. A sublease agreement typically
arises when the original tenant no longer needs to use leased space or can no longer afford to make the lease
payments. This situation is most common for commercial properties, but can arise for residential properties
as well. The following accounting can apply to this situation:

e Operating lease. If a lease is classified as an operating lease, the original lessee continues to account
for it in the same manner that it did before the commencement of the sublease.

e Conversion from finance lease. If the original lease was classified as a finance lease and the sub-
lease is classified as either a sales-type or direct financing lease, then the original lessee must de-
recognize the right-of-use asset on its books. The accounting for the original lease liability remains
the same.

e Conversion from operating lease. If the original lease was classified as an operating lease and the
sublease is classified as either a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease, then the original lessee
must derecognize the right-of-use asset on its books, and account for the original lease liability as
of the sublease commencement date as though it were a finance lease (see the preceding Finance
Leases sub-section).

Maintenance Deposits

A lessee may be required to pay the lessor a maintenance deposit, which the lessor retains if the lessee
damages the property during the lease term. If it is probable that the lessor will retain this deposit at the end
of the lease, the lessee should recognize the payment as a variable lease expense.

Derecognition

At the termination of a lease, the right-of-use asset and associated lease liability are removed from the
books. The difference between the two amounts is accounted for as a profit or loss at that time. If the lessee
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purchases the underlying asset at the termination of a lease, then any difference between the purchase price
and the lease liability is recorded as an adjustment to the asset’s carrying amount.

If a lessee subleases an underlying asset and the terms of the original agreement then relieve the lessee
of the primary lease obligation, this is considered a termination of the original lease.

Elections

There are several elections that an organization can use to simplify the accounting for leases. One option is
to use a risk-free discount rate for present value calculations, rather than having to justify some other rate.
Another election is to include non-leasing components in a leasing arrangement, thereby reducing the num-
ber of elements within a contract to which costs may be assigned. These two options are explained within
this section. In addition, a lessee can elect not to recognize lease-related assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet when a lease has a term of 12 months or less. This option was explained earlier in the Asset and
Liability Recognition section.

Discount Rate

A business that is not publicly-held can elect to use a risk-free discount rate when deriving the present value
of a lease. If so, this discount rate should be determined using a period comparable to that of the lease term.
This election will apply to all of the entity’s leases; it is not available for just a single lease or class of asset.

Separation of Non-Lease Components

A leasing arrangement may contain non-leasing components. For example, a lease contract might include
a maintenance contract under which the lessor provides ongoing servicing of the leased asset. In this case,
the consideration stated in the contract is to be allocated by the lessee to these separate parts based on their
relative standalone prices. The accounting for non-leasing contract components will vary depending on
their nature; it is not covered by the leasing standard.

A lessee can choose to not separate non-lease components from lease components. Instead, it can ac-
count for a lease component and any non-lease components associated with that lease component as a single
lease component. This election must be made by class of asset; it is not available for just a single lease.

EXHIBIT

Home Food Delivery (HFD) leases two trucks from Grinder International, along with maintenance services, for a total
of $80,000. The two trucks are of different types, and so will be accounted for as separate leases. HFD has made an
accounting policy election to combine non-lease and lease components for its slot machines. This means that there are
only two lease components in the contract, with no non-lease components.

The controller of HFD can easily find standalone prices for combinations of trucks and maintenance services. These
amounts are noted in the following table, along with the allocation of the $80,000 total contract price that is based on
their standalone prices:

Standalone Price Allocated Price

Flatbed truck lease & maintenance $40,000 $36,364
Aiir ride truck lease & maintenance 48,000 43,636
Totals $88,000 $80,000
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Sale and Leaseback Transactions

A sale and leaseback transaction occurs when the seller transfers an asset to the buyer, and then leases the
asset from the buyer. This arrangement most commonly occurs when the seller needs the funds associated
with the asset being sold, despite still needing to occupy the space.

When such a transaction occurs, the first accounting step is to determine whether the transaction was
at fair value. This can be judged from either of the following comparisons:

e Compare the difference between the sale price of the asset and its fair value.
e Compare the present value of the lease payments and the present value of market rental payments.
This can include an estimation of any variable lease payments reasonably expected to be made.

If this comparison results in the determination that a sale and leaseback transaction is not at fair value, the
entity must adjust the sale price on the same basis just used to determine whether the transaction was at fair
value. This can result in the following adjustments:

e Any increase to the asset’s sale price is accounted for as a rent prepayment

e Any reduction of the asset’s sale price is accounted for as additional financing provided to the
seller-lessee by the buyer-lessor. The seller-lessee should adjust the interest rate on this liability to
ensure that:

o Interest on the liability is not greater than the principal payments over the shorter of the
lease term and the financing term; and

o The carrying amount of the asset is not greater than the carrying amount of the liability at
the earlier of the termination date of the lease or the date when asset control switches to
the buyer-lessor.

In this arrangement, the consideration paid for the asset is accounted for as a financing transaction by both
parties. However, if there is a repurchase option under which the seller can later buy back the asset, then
the initial transaction cannot be considered a sale. The only exceptions are when:

e There are alternative assets readily available in the marketplace, and
e The price at which the option can be exercised is the fair value of the asset on the option
exercise date.

If a sale and leaseback transaction is not considered a sale, then the seller-lessee cannot derecognize the
asset, and accounts for any amounts received as a liability. Also, the buyer-lessor does not recognize the
transferred asset, and accounts for any amount paid as a receivable.

EXAMPLE

Charities International sells one of its properties to Capital Inc. The sale price is a cash payment of $7 million. At the
same time as the sale, Charities enters into a contract with Capital for the right to use the property for the next 10
years, in exchange for annual payments of $800,000, payable in arrears. Additional facts are:

Immediately prior to the transaction, the property had a carrying amount on Charities’ books of $6 million
The fair value of the property is $7 million

Capital obtains legal title to the property

Capital has significant risks and rewards of ownership, such as the risk of loss if the property value declines
The transaction is classified as an operating lease

As of the transaction commencement date, Charities derecognizes the $6 million carrying amount of the property,
recognizes the $7 million cash receipt, and recognizes a $1 million gain on the sale. Also as of this date, Capital
recognizes the property at a cost of $7 million.
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Lease Disclosures

There are a considerable number of required disclosures for leases. In this section, we provide descriptions
of these disclosures for the lessee, as well as a few additional disclosures related to sale and leaseback
transactions.

Lessee Disclosures

The following disclosure requirements related to leases must be followed by the lessee in its financial state-

ments:

Nature of the Leases

General description of the leases

The basis upon which variable lease payments are calculated

The nature of any lease extension or termination options

The nature of any residual value guarantees

The nature of any restrictions imposed by leases

The nature of any leases that have not yet commenced, that will create significant rights and obli-
gations for the lessee

The significant assumptions and judgments made, including whether a lease exists, the allocation
of consideration to leases, and the determination of the lease discount rate

Lease Costs

The finance lease cost, separately reporting the amortization of right-of-use assets and the interest
expense on lease liabilities

The operating lease cost

The short-term lease cost, not including leases with a term of one month or less

The variable lease cost

The income from subleases

The net gain or loss on sale and leaseback transactions

Other Information

Cash paid for items included in the measurement of lease liabilities

Non-cash information regarding lease liabilities caused by securing right-of-use assets

The weighted-average remaining lease term

The weighted-average discount rate

A maturity analysis of finance lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities, which reveals undis-
counted cash flows for each of the first five years and the total for all subsequent years

A reconciliation of undiscounted cash flows to the finance lease liabilities and operating lease lia-
bilities recognized in the balance sheet

All lease transactions between related parties

Disclosure of a policy to account for short-term leases without the recognition of a lease liability
or right-of-use asset

Disclosure of a policy to not separate lease components from non-lease components, and the classes
of underlying assets to which it applies
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SAMPLE LESSEE DISCLOSURE

(000s) Year Ending December 31,
20X4 20X3
Lease cost
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets $1,320 $1,295
Interest on lease liabilities 475 463
Operating lease cost 280 240
Short-term lease cost 72 65
Variable lease cost 11 9
Sublease income 40 10
Total lease cost $2,198 $2,082
Other Information
(Gains) and losses on sale and leaseback transactions $-- $400
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from finance leases 810 615
Operating cash flows from operating leases 275 228
Financing cash flows from finance leases 460 420
Weighted-average remaining lease term — finance leases 4.7 years 4.3 years
Weighted-average remaining lease term — operating leases 3.0 years 2.9 years
Weighted-average discount rate — finance leases 6.9% 6.5%
Weighted-average discount rate — operating leases 7.2% 7.0%

Sale and Leaseback Transactions

A seller-lessee in a sale and leaseback transaction should disclose the primary terms and conditions of the
transaction. In addition, it should separately disclose any gains or losses from the transaction, so that they
are not aggregated into the gains or losses derived from the disposal of other assets.

Summary

A key element of the accounting for leases is that an organization must now recognize assets and liabilities
for the rights and obligations created by leases that have terms of more than 12 months. This level of dis-
closure gives a substantial amount of transparency regarding a lessee’s financial leverage and its leasing
activities. Unfortunately, it also introduces a greater degree of complexity to the accounting for leases.
Consequently, it may be useful to create a procedure for the leasing transactions that an entity engages in
most frequently, along with accompanying examples, and rigidly adhere to that procedure when accounting
for leases. It may also be useful to structure leasing transactions in the future so that the procedure can be
applied to them. Doing so reduces the potential variability in the accounting that may be applied to leasing
transactions, which in turn reduces the risk of having errors creep into the financial statements.
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Review Questions

1. Anarrangement is considered to give control over the use of an asset when this condition is present:
a. The lessee obtains at least partial control over the economic benefits from an asset
b. The lessee is responsible for the maintenance of the asset
c. The lessee can direct the uses to which an asset is put
d. The lessee becomes a partial owner of the asset

2. When a lessee has designated a lease as an operating lease, it should recognize the following over the
term of the lease, except for:

Any impairment of the right-of-use asset

Any variable lease payments that are not included in the lease liability

A lease cost in each period

Amortization of leasehold improvements over the longer of the remaining lease term and their

useful life

coopw
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Chapter 10
Pension Plan Accounting

Learning Objectives

Recognize the components of net periodic pension cost, and the accounting for a defined contribution plan.

Introduction

This chapter addresses the accounting for two types of pension plans, called defined benefit plans and de-
fined contribution plans. Nearly all of the discussion is concentrated on defined benefit plans, which require
ongoing estimations of and accounting for future costs that may be incurred, as well as changes to existing
benefits. Nonprofits are fairly likely to use one or the other of these plan types. By offering these pension
plans, they can reduce the risk that employees will be tempted to leave the organization in search of higher
pay in the for-profit sector.

Some of the complexity of this topic is caused by a rare circumstance in GAAP — where provisions are
made to allow an organization to defer costs and recognize them in later periods through amortization. This
approach contravenes the vastly more common approach of charging all costs to expense as incurred. While
this type of modified accounting undoubtedly allows an entity to defer expense recognition, it causes on-
going headaches for accountants, and likely increases the profits of the actuarial industry.

Overview of Retirement Benefits

A retirement benefit is one in which the employer promises to deliver a fixed benefit to its employees at
some point in the future. Examples of these benefits are pensions and health benefits to be paid following
the retirement of employees. Employees qualify for retirement benefits either through the passage of time,
by attaining a certain age, or a combination of both. Retirement benefits paid to employees may begin as
soon as they retire, or the benefits may be delayed until a certain age is reached, or even when employees
elect to begin accepting benefits.

Retirement benefits are a form of deferred compensation, so the employer must estimate the amount of
future expenditure that will be made, and recognize a portion of it in the current period. Expense recognition
occurs before the benefits are paid, because employees are earning these future benefits via their services
in earlier periods.

Defined Benefit Plans

In a defined benefit retirement plan, the employer provides a pre-determined periodic payment to employ-
ees after they retire. The amount of this future payment depends upon a number of future events, such as
estimates of employee lifespan, how long current employees will continue to work for the organization, and
the pay level of employees just prior to their retirement. In essence, the accounting for defined benefit plans
revolves around the estimation of the future payments to be made, and recognizing the related expense in
the periods in which employees are rendering the services that qualify them to receive payments in the
future under the terms of the plan.
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There are a number of costs associated with defined benefit plans that may at first appear arcane. Here
is a summary of the relevant costs, which sum to the net periodic pension cost that is recognized in each
accounting period:

Cost Explanation

+ Service cost This is the actuarial present value of benefits related to services rendered dur-
ing the current reporting period. The cost includes an estimate of the future
compensation levels of employees from which benefit payments will be de-
rived.

+ Interest cost This is the interest on the projected benefit obligation. It is a financial item, ra-

+ Actual return on plan assets This is the difference between the fair values of beginning and ending plan as-

+ Amortization of prior service  When an employer issues a plan amendment, it may contain increases in bene-

costs fits that are based on services rendered by employees in prior periods. If so, the
cost of these additional benefits is amortized over the future periods in which
those employees active on the amendment date are expected to receive bene-
fits.

+ Gain or loss This is the gain or loss resulting from a change in the value of a projected ben-

ther than a cost related to employee compensation.

sets, adjusted for contributions and benefit payments. It is a financial item, ra-
ther than a cost related to employee compensation.

efit obligation from changes in assumptions, or changes in the value of plan as-
sets.

= Net periodic pension cost

The accounting for the relevant defined benefit plan costs is as follows:

Service cost. The amount of service cost recognized in earnings in each period is the incremental
change in the actuarial present value of benefits related to services rendered during the current
reporting period.

Interest cost. The interest cost associated with the projected benefit obligation is recognized as
incurred.

Amortization of prior service costs. These costs are charged to other comprehensive income on the
date of the amendment, and then amortized to earnings over time. The amount to be amortized is
derived by assigning an equal amount of expense to each future period of service for each employee
who is expected to receive benefits. If most of the employees are inactive, the amortization period
is instead the remaining life expectancy of the employees. Straight-line amortization of the cost
over the average remaining service period is also acceptable. Once established, this amortization
schedule is not usually revised, unless there is a plan curtailment or if events indicate that a shorter
amortization period is warranted.

Each of these costs represents a change in the net assets without donor restrictions of the nonprofit spon-
soring the plan.
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EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education creates a pension plan amendment that grants $90,000 of prior service costs to the 200 em-
ployees in its Mississippi facility. The organization expects the employees at this location to retire in accordance with
the following schedule:

Number of  Expected Year
Group Staff of Retirement
A 20 Year 1
B 40 Year 2
C 80 Year 3
D 40 Year 4
E 20 Year 5

Total 200

The entity uses the following grid to calculate the service years for each of the employee groups:

Service Years

Year Group A GroupB GroupC GroupD  Group E Total

1 20 40 80 40 20 200
2 40 80 40 20 180
3 80 40 20 140
4 40 20 60
5 20 20
Totals 20 80 240 160 100 600

There are 600 service years listed in the preceding table, over which the $90,000 prior service cost is to be allocated,
which is $150 of cost per service year. Archimedes inserts the $150 per year figure into the following table to deter-
mine the amount of prior service cost amortization to recognize in each year.

Total of Cost per Amortization
Year Service Years x  Service Year = per Year
1 200 $150 $30,000
2 180 150 27,000
3 140 150 21,000
4 60 150 9,000
5 20 150 3,000
Totals 600 $90,000

e Prior service credits. If a plan amendment reduces plan benefits, record it as a change in net assets
without donor restrictions on the date of the amendment. This amount is then offset against any
prior service cost remaining in net assets without donor restrictions that have not yet been reclassi-
fied as components of net periodic pension cost. Any residual amount of the credit is then amortized
using the same methodology just noted for prior service costs.

e Gains and losses. Gains and losses can be recognized immediately if the method is applied consist-
ently. If the election is not made to recognize them immediately, it is also possible to account for
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them as changes in net assets without donor restrictions that have not yet been reclassified as com-
ponents of net periodic pension cost as they occur. If there is a gain or loss on the difference between
the expected and actual amount of return on plan assets, recognize the difference in net assets with-
out donor restrictions in the period in which it occurs, and then reclassify it over time as a compo-
nent of net periodic pension cost using the following calculation:

1. Include the gain or loss in net pension cost for a year in which, as of the beginning of that
year, the gain or loss is greater than 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation
or the market-related value of plan assets.

2. If this test is positive, amortize the excess just noted over the average remaining service
period of those active employees who are expected to receive benefits. If most of the plan
participants are inactive, amortize the excess over their remaining life expectancy.

A key additional term that arises in the accounting for defined benefit plans is the projected benefit obliga-
tion. This is the actuarial present value of future benefits attributed to service already rendered by employ-
ees. The “actuarial” part of the definition refers to expected payments, since some payments will never be
made, due to the turnover of employees before they vest, the death of employees who would otherwise have
been entitled to payments, and so forth. The projected benefit obligation also incorporates assumptions
regarding the future pay levels and service periods of existing employees, which tends to increase the
amount of the benefit obligation in comparison to what the obligation would be based on current employee
compensation levels and periods of service.

When a business incurs obligations for future pension payments, it should presumably begin accumu-
lating assets into a pension plan that will be available to pay the pension benefits in the future. If the pro-
jected benefit obligation is greater than the fair value of the plan assets on the statement of financial position
date, the employer should recognize a liability for the difference (known as the unfunded projected benefit
obligation). In those rare cases where plan assets exceed the projected benefit obligation, the employer
recognizes an asset in the amount of the difference. If there are multiple plans, all overfunded plans should
be aggregated for reporting purposes, and all underfunded plans should be aggregated for reporting pur-
poses.

If there are adjustments to the funded status of a pension plan, net gains or losses, prior service costs,
and so forth, the offset to these entries is net assets without donor restrictions.

When the employer buys annuity contracts to cover the cost of future employee benefits, the cost of the
benefits should be the same as the cost of acquiring the annuity contracts.

Expense Attribution for Delayed Vesting

There are a number of methods available for assigning benefits to employees, usually with the intent of
delaying the vesting of benefits. For example, a plan may provide no benefits after nine years of service,
and then vests employees in a future benefit payment following the tenth year of service (known as cliff
vesting). In these situations, do not defer the recognition of a benefit expense until the delayed vesting
occurs. Instead, assume that the benefit accumulates over time in proportion to the number of completed
periods of service, which means that there should be an ongoing accrual of the related benefit expense over
time.
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EXAMPLE

Suture Indigent Medical Care has a defined benefit pension plan, under which it pays a pension benefit of $60 per
month for the remainder of each employee’s life for each year of service completed, up to a maximum of ten years of
service. The actuary employed by Suture calculates that the average employee will have 210 months of life expectancy
following their retirement from Suture, and will have the full 10 years of service completed as of their retirement. The
actuarial present value discount is set at 0.35. Based on this information, the actuary calculates the following pension
benefits attributable to each of Suture’s employees:

Years of service period completed 10
x Pension benefit per month x $60
= Payment to be made per month to each employee = $600
x Average life expectancy (in months) x 210
= Gross pension payment = $126,000
x Actuarial present value discount rate x0.35
= Present value of pension benefit $44,100

Discount Rates

Service costs are based on the actuarial present value of benefits to be paid in the future. A discount rate
must be employed to arrive at this actuarial present value. The discount rate should be one that reflects the
rate at which benefits can actually be settled. A good source of information for this discount rate is the rate
implicit in the current prices of annuity contracts that an employer could purchase to settle a future benefit
obligation. Another source of information is the rate of return on high-quality fixed income investments
that are expected to be available through the period during which the pension benefits will be paid.

Interest rates vary, depending upon the time period of investments. Thus, the discount rate used for
benefits to be paid to a group of 50-year old employees will likely be different from the discount rate used
for benefits to be paid to a group of 30-year olds.

Settlements and Curtailments
A benefit plan may be adjusted or terminated at some point. Variations that may be encountered include:

o Curtailments. Employee services or the benefit plan itself may be terminated earlier than expected,
which reduces or eliminates the accrual of additional benefits.

e Settlements. Lump-sum cash payments may be made to plan participants in exchange for their rights
to receive pension benefits.

When benefit obligations are settled, curtailed, or terminated, net gains or losses and prior service costs are
shifted from net assets without donor restrictions to earnings. This transfer occurs in the period in which all
pension obligations are settled, benefits are no longer accrued, no plan assets remain, employees are termi-
nated, and the plan ceases to exist. Also, the plan cannot be replaced by another plan.

If only a portion of the projected benefit obligation is settled, recognize in net assets without donor
restrictions that portion of the settlement that represents the reduction in the projected benefit obligation.

If the cost of the settlements completed in a year is greater than the sum of the service and interest cost
components of the net periodic pension cost for that period, record a gain or loss in the amount of the
difference. If the cost is lower than the sum of the service and interest cost components, recognition as a
change in net assets without donor restrictions is permitted, but not required. The manner in which man-
agement chooses to deal with a lower-cost situation should be followed consistently.
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If there is a curtailment of a benefit plan, the associated amount of prior service cost already recorded
in net assets without donor restrictions that is related to future years of service should be recognized as a
loss. Also, the projected benefit obligation may be increased or decreased by a curtailment. This is a cur-
tailment gain in the amount by which it exceeds any loss included in net assets without donor restrictions.
This is a curtailment loss in the amount by which it exceeds any net gain included in net assets without
donor restrictions. A curtailment loss should be recognized in earnings when the amount can be reasonably
estimated and the curtailment is probable. A curtailment gain should be recognized in earnings when the
plan is formally suspended or the impacted employees are terminated.

EXAMPLE

Following the devastation of a major earthquake, Senior Care Home Supplies (SCHS) closes down its California
facility. The employees located there will no longer earn any benefits. As of the plan curtailment date, the actuarial
assumptions associated with the plan are:

e Defined benefit obligation = $300,000
e  Plan assets fair value = $275,000
e Net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains = $15,000

The curtailment event shrinks the present value of the benefit obligation by $20,000, to $280,000. Also, 20% of the
net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains are associated with that portion of the obligation that was eliminated by
the curtailment. These alterations are incorporated into the following table:

Before Gainon After
Curtailment  Curtailment  Curtailment
Present value of obligation $300,000 -$20,000 $280,000
Fair value of plan assets -275,000 - -275,000
25,000 -20,000 5,000
Unrecognized actuarial gains 15,000 3,000 18,000
Net liability $40,000 -$17,000 $23,000

Based on the preceding information, SCHS’ controller records the following entry to record the gain on curtailment:

Debit Credit
Accrued pension cost 17,000
Curtailment gain 17,000

Termination Benefits

An employer may provide a certain set of benefits to employees that it terminates. Examples of termination
benefits are lump-sum cash payments and a series of periodic payments in the future. The employer should
recognize a liability and expense for the full amount of these benefits as soon as terminated employees
accept the termination offer to which the benefits are linked. This expense should include the present value
of any future payments to be made. To determine the amount of termination expense to recognize, use the
following calculation:

+ Actuarial present value of accumulated pension benefits, including termination benefits
+ Actuarial present value of accumulated pension benefits, without termination benefits

Termination benefits to charge to expense
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Combined Pension Plans

An organization may elect to combine several of its pension plans, which means that the assets of each
predecessor plan can now be used to satisfy the obligations of the combined plan. The entity should create
a single amortization schedule for each of the pension costs that must be amortized. The amortization peri-
ods incorporated into these schedules shall be based on a weighted average of the remaining amortization
periods used by the individual pension plans before they were combined. However, the prior service cost
associated with each individual pension plan shall continue to be amortized under the old amortization
schedules formulated prior to the combination of plans.

Defined Contribution Plans

Under a defined contribution plan, the employer’s entire obligation is complete once it has made a contri-
bution payment into the plan, as long as no associated costs are being deferred for recognition in later
periods. Thus, the employer commits to pay a specific amount of funds into a plan, but does not commit to
the amount of benefits subsequently distributed by that plan.

The accounting for a defined contribution plan is simplicity itself (as opposed to the accounting just
described for a defined benefit plan). The employer charges its contributions to expense as incurred. If such
a plan calls for additional payments to be made after an employee leaves the organization, the estimated
cost of these additional payments shall be accrued during the service period of the applicable employee.

In those cases where an employer terminates a defined benefit plan and shifts the assets in the plan to
a defined contribution plan that is a replacement plan, there may be an excess of assets in the replacement
plan over the required annual contribution to the plan. If so, the employer should maintain the excess assets
in a suspense account until such time as they are needed to fund the replacement account. Until the assets
in the suspense account are used to fund the replacement account, the employer continues to retain the risks
and rewards of ownership associated with those assets, and so shall account for the assets within its own
statement of financial position.

Presentation of Retirement Benefit Information

If an employer has a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan, it should provide line items in
the financial statements for the following information:

e The funding status of each plan in the financial statements.

The recognized amounts of related assets, current liabilities, and noncurrent liabilities.

o Classify any underfunded plan liabilities as being current or noncurrent liabilities, or both. For the
purposes of this classification, a current plan liability is the excess amount of the actuarial present
value of the longer of the benefits payable in the next 12 months or the operating cycle, over the
fair value of plan assets.

e Ifaplan is overfunded, classify the overfunding as a noncurrent asset.

Retirement Benefit Disclosures

The bulk of the disclosures associated with pension plans only pertain to defined benefit plans. There is
also a discussion of the much more abbreviated disclosures for defined contribution plans.
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Defined Benefit Plan Disclosures

The following disclosures must be attached to the financial statements when an entity sponsors a defined
benefit plan:

Benefit obligation. The benefit obligation, funded status, and fair value of plan assets.
Contributions. Employer and participant contributions, and the amount of benefits paid.

Plan asset information. Investment policies and strategies, target allocation percentages, the fair
value of each class of plan assets as of each statement of financial position date, the approach used
to estimate the long-term rate of return on assets assumption, and enough information for users to
assess the inputs and valuation techniques used to develop fair value measurements.

Accumulated benefit obligation. The amount of this obligation.

Benefit payments. The expected benefits to be paid in each of the next five years, and in aggregate
for the five years thereafter.

Contributions paid. The estimated amount of contribution payments expected during the next fiscal
year, aggregating required, discretionary, and noncash contributions.

Assets and liabilities. The postretirement benefit assets, and both current and noncurrent postretire-
ment benefit liabilities.

Net assets without donor restrictions. The net gain or loss, the net prior service cost or credit, and
reclassification adjustments recognized for the period in net assets without donor restrictions. Also,
any amounts in net assets without donor restrictions that have not been reclassified as components
of net periodic benefit cost, along with the net gain or loss, net prior service cost or credit, and net
transition asset or obligation.

Assumptions. In tabular format, the assumptions for assumed discount rates, rates of compensation
increase, and expected long-term rates of return on plan assets that were used to calculate the benefit
obligation and net benefit cost.

Cost trends. The projected trends in health care costs for the next year, as well as the pattern of
change thereafter, the ultimate trend rate, and when the ultimate rate is expected.

Asset contents. The types and amounts of securities issued by the employer and related parties that
are part of plan assets, significant transactions between the plan and the employer and related par-
ties in the period, and the amount of future annual benefits covered by insurance contracts.
Nonroutine events. The nature of significant nonroutine events, including divestitures, combina-
tions, amendments, curtailments, and settlements.

Recognition of net assets without donor restrictions. Any amounts in net assets without donor re-
strictions to be recognized in the next year as net periodic benefit cost, showing the net gain or loss,
net prior service cost or credit, and net transition asset or obligation.

Assets returned to employer. The amount of any plan assets to be returned to the employer in the
next year, and the timing of the return.

Net periodic benefit. The amount of net periodic benefit cost recognized in the period.
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EXAMPLE

Newton Education discloses the following information about its retirement plans in the notes accompanying its finan-
cial statements:

The entity has a funded defined benefit pension plan that covers substantially all of its employees. The plan
provides defined benefits based on years of service and the average salary of employees over their final five
years of service.

Obligations and Funded Status of Pension Benefits

(000s) 20X3 20X2
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $2,190 $2,200
Service cost 110 120
Interest cost 65 50
Amendments 25 10
Actuarial loss 15
Benefits paid -205 -190
Benefit obligation at end of year 2,200 $2,190

Change in Plan Assets

(000s) 20X3 20X2
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $1,845 $1,860
Actual return on plan assets 65 50
Employer contributions 180 125
Benefits paid -205 -190
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $1,885 $1,845
Funded status at end of year -$315 -$345

The estimated net loss and prior service cost that will be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions
into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year are $3,000 and $12,000, respectively.

Weighted-Average Assumptions used to Determine Pension Obligations at December 31

20X3 20X2
Discount rate 4.50% 3.75%
Rate of compensation increase 4.25% 4.00%

Weighted-Average Assumptions used to Determine Net Periodic Benefit Cost at December 31

20X3 20X2
Discount rate 4.75% 4.00%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 5.50% 5.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.75% 4.25%
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Plan Assets

The entity follows an investment strategy of 60 percent in long-term growth investments and 40 percent in
short-term investments from which benefits can be paid. Target allocations are 70 percent in large cap equi-
ties and 20 percent in corporate bonds, in all cases with issuers located in the United States and Europe. Ten
percent of the target allocation is to other investments approved in advance by the board of directors. The
fair value of Newton’s pension plan assets at December 31, 20X3 is as follows:

Fair Value of Pension Plan Assets

Fair Value Measurements at 12/31/X3
Quoted Prices
in Active Mar- Significant Significant
kets for Identi- Observable  Unobservable
cal Assets Inputs Inputs
(000s) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash $90 $90
Equity securities
U.S. large-cap 750 750
Europe large-cap 480 480
Corporate bonds 375 $375
Hedge funds 120 $120
Real estate 70 70
1,885 $1,320 $375 $190

The organization expects to contribute $200,000 to its pension plan in 20X4.

Defined Contribution Plan Disclosures

If an entity has one or more defined contribution plans, it should disclose the amount of cost recognized for
these plans for all periods presented in the financial statements. These costs should be disclosed separately
from the costs disclosed for any defined benefit plans. Also, describe the nature of any significant changes
during the presented periods that affect the comparability of the information from period to period. Exam-
ples of such comparability events are the effects of an acquisition or divestiture.

Summary

When a nonprofit has a defined benefit plan, the number of variables impacting the amount of future pay-
ments makes it extremely difficult to recognize expenses that actually approximate the amounts that are
later paid. In many cases, the variance between actual and estimated pension costs can have a profound
impact on the financial results reported by an organization, to the extent that users of this information may
decide that the financial statements cannot be relied upon to reveal the actual results and condition of the
entity.

The level of confusion engendered by defined benefit plans bolsters the case for not entering into such
plans. As an alternative, the accounting for defined contribution plans is neat, simple, and highly predicta-
ble, and results in more reliable financial statements. While the complaints of accountants are hardly likely
to convince management to avoid using defined benefit plans, these issues can be considered alongside
other factors, such as the massive long-term liabilities associated with defined benefit plans, to hopefully
reduce their use.
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Review Questions

1. The projected benefit obligation does not incorporate the __ assumption.
a. Employee turnover
b. Employee service period
c. Current pay level
d. Future pay level

2. A termination benefit is only recognized when:
a. Employees accept the termination offer to which the benefits are linked
b. The benefit is offered, as modified by an acceptance percentage
c. It has been approved by the board of directors
d. The benefit is paid
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Chapter 11
Joint Costs and Allocations

Learning Objectives

Identify the types of joint costs, and the tests used to determine whether fundraising costs can be allocated.

Introduction

Perhaps the most closely-watched metrics in a nonprofit are the proportion of fundraising expenses and
management and administration expenses to total expenses. Donors are more willing to contribute to or-
ganizations that spend the bulk of their funding on programs, so nonprofits have an ongoing interest in
allocating expenses away from these two areas. In this chapter, we discuss the accounting rules for the cost
of activities that include fundraising, as well as the methods available for allocating management and ad-
ministration expenses.

Costs of Activities that Include Fundraising

There are rules in GAAP that govern how costs that are at least partially expended on fundraising activities
are to be allocated. These rules only govern situations in which there is a joint activity. Under GAAP, a
joint activity is considered to be an activity that is part of the fundraising function and which has elements
of other functions used by a nonprofit. A joint activity may incur a variety of costs that are not specifically
identifiable with a single activity, which are referred to as joint costs. Examples of these costs appear in the
following exhibit.

Examples of Joint Costs

Compensation Event advertising Postage
Consultants Facility rentals Professional fees
Contract labor Paper and printing Radio airtime
E-mail marketing Telephones

Joint costs are to be allocated between the fundraising activity and programs or the management and ad-
ministration area, as may be appropriate. This allocation can only be performed if a specific set of criteria
are met. If not, the costs are not considered joint costs, and so must be assigned entirely to the fundraising
area. In order to qualify for allocation, joint costs must meet the following criteria:

e Purpose criterion. When the purpose of a joint activity includes the accomplishment of program or
management and administration functions. The following guidance can assist in determining
whether the purpose criterion is being met:

o When program functions are combined with fundraising activities. The activity asks for
specific actions by the audience that helps accomplish the mission of the nonprofit. It is
not sufficient to just inform the audience about causes. It is also not sufficient if the audi-
ence merely has the potential to learn from information presented, or has the ability to assist
in meeting program goals. In short, there must be a call for specific action to help accom-
plish the nonprofit’s mission.
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EXAMPLE

Obesity Alert assists parents in identifying the causes of obesity in their children. An activity that motivates the in-
tended audience to take specific action to improve the health of their children is to mail a brochure that urges them to
examine the eating and exercise habits of their children, and which contains specific instructions for doing so.

o When program functions, management and administration functions, or both are combined
with fundraising activities. Consider the following tests, in the order presented, to see if
the purpose criterion is being met:

1. Compensation or fees test. This is the preeminent joint cost allocation test. The test
fails if a majority of the compensation or fees paid to a third party for their perfor-
mance of a joint activity is based on the amount of contributions raised. If an ac-
tivity fails this test, the purpose criterion is not met under any circumstances. If an
activity does not fail this test, go on to the next test.

EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education pays a consultant to develop a brochure, and agrees to pay the consultant 25% of all contribu-
tions received as a result of mailing the brochure to a mailing list. This arrangement fails the compensation or fees
test, because the majority of the fee earned by the consultant is based on the amount of contributions received. All
costs of this arrangement should be charged to fundraising.

2. Separate and similar activities test. The program component of the joint activity
calls for a specific action by the recipient that will help the nonprofit to accomplish
its mission. Also, there must be a similar program component that is conducted in
the absence of the fundraising component and on the same scale or larger, and
which uses the same means of mass communication. If this test is met, there is no
need to proceed to the other evidence test.

EXAMPLE

Newton Education manages a program that creates training videos that cover the basics of physics theory, and distrib-
utes them through various on-line video posting services. The program has been running for the past five years, and
now includes more than 100 videos. Newton decides to issue another series of these videos that contains training
information, but which also includes a request for donations. Since Newton already conducts a program component
that is conducted in the absence of fundraising, and on a larger scale than the fundraising activity, and does so using
the same means of communication, it passes the separate and similar activities test.

3. Other evidence test. Other evidence may be assembled to consider whether the
preponderance of evidence indicates that the purpose criterion has been met. Ex-
amples of favorable relevant evidence are:

e Measuring the results and accomplishments of the activity.

e The nonprofit conducts the program or management and administration
component of the joint activity without a significant fundraising compo-
nent through a different means of mass communication.

e Where the bulk of employee job duties are performed in program or man-
agement and administration activities, rather than fundraising.
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e There is tangible evidence of intent regarding the intended purpose of a
joint activity that favors programs or management and administration,
such as board minutes, long-range plans, and internal memos.

EXAMPLE

Obesity Alert trains a group of physical therapists in the key causes of childhood obesity, and sends them through
local neighborhoods to distribute flyers to residents, as well as to provide counseling if asked. Neighborhoods are
targeted based on the percentage of overweight students in local schools. The flyer also contains a request for dona-
tions. Since the bulk of employee job duties are targeted at meeting the goals of the childhood obesity program, rather
than fundraising, the entity passes the other evidence test, and can allocate the cost of the neighborhood access pro-
gram.

e Audience criterion. This criterion is not met if the target audience has been selected based on its
ability or likelihood to contribute to the nonprofit. The criterion is met if the audience is largely
selected for any of the following reasons:

o The audience has a need to use the action called for by the program element of the joint
activity.

o The audience has the ability to take specific action to assist the nonprofit in the program
element of the joint activity.

o The audience has reasonable potential to use the management and administration compo-
nent of the joint activity, or the nonprofit is required to direct this component of the joint
activity to the audience in question.

EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education purchases a mailing list from an institute of higher education. Since the seller has similar
programs to those of Archimedes, the target audience represented by the mailing list is likely to need to use the action
called for by the program element of Archimedes’ joint activity. This mailing list passes the audience criterion.

Archimedes also purchases a mailing list from the investment bank owned by a member of its board of directors. This
list is entirely comprised of high net-worth individuals, so the target audience is being selected based on its ability to
contribute to Archimedes. This mailing list does not pass the audience criterion.

e Content criterion. This criterion is met if the joint activity supports either program or management
and administration functions as noted next:

o Program. The joint activity calls for specific action by the recipient that helps to accom-
plish a program’s mission. Examples are reducing calorie intake, cutting back on driving
low-mileage vehicles, contacting legislators about a conservation issue, and boycotting the
manufacturers of products that are environmentally unfriendly.

o Management and administration. The joint activity fulfills at least one of the responsibili-
ties of the management and administration area.

The general thrust of these criteria is to make it fairly difficult to allocate joint costs away from the fund-
raising function. A joint activity must meet such tightly-defined criteria that the presumption in most cases
is that costs are more likely to be assigned just to the fundraising function.

When assigning joint costs, it is essential to do so in a rational and systematic manner. This means
documenting the reasons why assignments are made, and following the same reasoning through multiple
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reporting periods. The accounting standards recommend that one of the following allocation methods be
followed:

e Physical units method. Under this approach, joint costs are allocated in proportion to the number
of units of output that can be attributed to each activity. This allocation only works if the units of
output can be clearly ascribed to the fundraising, program, or management and administration ar-
eas.

EXAMPLE

Newton Education conducts a direct mail campaign that jointly conducts activities on behalf of its physics education
program and also raises money for the organization. The fundraising letter contains 80 lines of text. Of this amount,
35 lines relate to the physics education program and 45 to the fundraising appeal. Newton spends $10,000 on the
mailing. Based on these text proportions, Newton assigns $4,375 of the total cost to the physics education program
and $5,625 to the fundraising activity.

e Relative direct cost method. Under this approach, joint costs are allocated based on the aggregate
amount of direct costs associated with the underlying programs and activities. A direct cost is one
that is incurred in connection with a specific program or activity; if the program or activity were to
be terminated, the direct cost would also disappear. This allocation only works if joint costs are
incurred in roughly the same proportion as direct costs.

EXAMPLE

Suture Indigent Medical Care conducts a direct mail campaign that jointly conducts activities on behalf of its in-house
medical training program and also raises money for the organization. Suture incurs $15,000 of direct costs to create
and print a medical training manual for its in-house medical training program. The organization also incurs $5,000 to
craft and print a fundraising letter. Thus, the proportion of direct costs incurred for the direct mail campaign is 75%
for the program and 25% for fundraising. Joint costs associated with the mailing are $8,000. The joint costs are allo-
cated based on these proportions, so $6,000 of joint costs are assigned to the program and $2,000 to fundraising.

e Standalone joint cost allocation method. This method uses as the basis of allocation estimates of
the costs that would have been incurred if the joint activities had instead been conducted inde-
pendently. The allocation is derived from a ratio that divides the cost of conducting the activity
independently by the total cost of conducting all components of the activity independently. This
approach may not work well if the underlying estimates are inaccurate.

EXAMPLE

The executive director of Obesity Alert concludes that the mail campaigns independently run by its obesity education
program and fundraising staff can save on postage costs if they are combined into a joint activity. The controller
estimates that the cost of independent campaigns would be $18,000 for the program and $12,000 for fundraising,
which represents a 60/40 ratio of costs. When a joint campaign is conducted, the total cost is $26,000. This cost is
allocated based on the 60/40 ratio, which means that $15,600 is allocated to the program and $10,400 to fundraising.

In essence, joint cost allocations are to be based on the degree to which direct costs or other bases of allo-
cation are incurred for each function to which the costs are to be assigned.

There may be instances in which the fundraising portion of joint activities is incidental to the overall
activities being conducted. If so, it is permissible to allocate no joint costs at all to fundraising activities.
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EXAMPLE

Obesity Alert routinely mails brochures to the parents of overweight children to educate them about the causes of
obesity. In the lower right corner of the back page of these 20-page brochures is a brief notice to call Obesity Alert at
a certain phone number if the recipient wishes to make a donation. This minor inclusion is considered incidental to
the general thrust of the message, which clearly falls into a program. Consequently, the cost of the mailing is not
apportioned to fundraising.

Allocations

In the last section, we addressed the allocation of costs that are at least partially expended on fundraising
activities; that type of allocation is governed by GAAP rules. A nonprofit may also find it necessary to
allocate to programs certain expenses that would otherwise be recorded as part of the management and
administration function. Doing so reduces the total amount of management and administration expense,
which shows donors that the organization operates in a lean manner, not wasting their contributions on
profligate administrative spending.

The only type of expense that can be allocated is an indirect expense. This is any expense that is incurred
to operate a business as a whole or a segment of a business, and so cannot be directly associated with a
specific product or service. Examples of indirect costs are accounting fees, legal fees, business permits,
office expenses, rent, supervisor salaries, and utilities.

Cost allocations that do not involve fundraising activities are not governed by GAAP at all. Instead, a
nonprofit should derive a standard allocation methodology using the following steps:

1. Identify indirect expenses. Go through the chart of accounts and make note of all expenses that are
not directly traceable to specific programs or other functions. These expenses are tagged as indirect
expenses.

2. Define basis of allocation. Determine how indirect expenses are to be allocated. For example, in-
direct expenses might be allocated based on the total costs incurred by each program. Alternatively,
expenses could be allocated based on just a specific cost within a program, such as compensation.
Allocations may also be made based on a non-monetary basis, such as hours worked by the man-
agement and administrative staff on program-related activities.

3. Calculate allocations. Aggregate all indirect costs into a cost pool, and then use the basis of allo-
cation to charge these costs out to the various programs and other functions. The following example
illustrates the concept.

When engaging in expense allocations, be sure to document the reasoning for why certain proportions of
an expense are allocated in a certain way, in case these allocations are later questioned. Also, it is best to
be consistent and use the same allocations from period to period, unless there is a significant change in
expense usage that mandates a different allocation. Here are several additional thoughts regarding the use
of allocations:

e Emphasis on direct costs. The amount of costs identified as indirect costs can be reduced with
additional tracking effort by converting them into direct costs that can be specifically applied to
particular programs or other functions. For example, the telephone expense could be treated as an
indirect cost that is to be allocated, or specific phone charges can be traced to individuals working
for a particular program, and then charged to that program. The latter approach requires more ac-
counting effort, so only use it when fairly substantial costs can be removed from the indirect ex-
penses classification.

e Survey-based allocations. If allocations are based on time worked by the staff, it can be burdensome
to have them continually track their time for years. Realistically, the time spent by employees on
various activities does not change much from month to month. Consequently, it is easier to conduct
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a survey of hours worked at relatively long intervals, and apply the results of that survey to all
allocations for subsequent months.

e Multiple cost pools. If there is a need for more allocation precision, it could make sense to divide
indirect expenses into several cost pools, and apply a different basis of allocation to each one. For
example, compensation and benefits costs could be aggregated into one cost pool and assigned
based on hours worked, while utilities are aggregated into a different cost pool and allocated based
on square footage used.

EXAMPLE

First Aid Educators provides basic medical response training to middle school students. The management and admin-
istration function of the organization incurs $30,000 of expenses in the current month. Of this amount, $20,000 relates
to compensation and benefits costs, and the remainder involves rent, utilities, facility maintenance, and other costs of
running the organization.

First Aid uses two methods to allocate these costs. It conducts a time study once a year to determine how staff time is
spent. For the current year, the analysis shows that 20% of the management and administration’s staff time is spent
on fundraising, and 10% on programs. Accordingly, $6,000 of this cost is allocated to fundraising, and $3,000 to
programs.

The remaining $10,000 is allocated based on the total costs incurred by each program and functional area. In the
current month, the allocation calculation is:

Costs Overhead

Incurred Proportion Allocation

Management and administration $30,000 8% $800
Fundraising 20,000 5% 500
Program A 180,000 47% 4,700
Program B 150,000 40% 4,000
Totals $380,000 100% $10,000

Larger donors may impose their own allocation systems on a nonprofit. These systems may specify exactly
which expenses are considered direct or indirect, and how they are to be allocated. If there are several
donors who impose these systems, a nonprofit may find itself allocating expenses several different ways,
which imposes an administrative burden. See the Government Grants chapter for a discussion of the allo-
cation methods imposed by the federal government.

The simplest method by which a nonprofit keeps track of program-specific revenues and expenses is to
set up separate accounts in the chart of accounts for each area to which these items must be assigned. Doing
so means that fewer expenses are considered indirect, so that fewer expenses are subject to allocation. To
track information at this level of detail, a nonprofit can use a five-digit chart of accounts. This format asso-
ciates a three-digit account number with each revenue and expense account, and then adds a two-digit code
to the left, which indicates specific programs. The three-digit codes for revenues and expenses are then
duplicated for each program or function for which management wants to record information. A selection
of accounts from a five-digit chart of accounts follows, using the management and administration depart-
ment and the elderly housing program to show how the account codes are duplicated.
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Sample Chart of Accounts

Account
Number

Department/
Program

10-600
10-610
10-620
10-630
10-640
10-650
20-600
20-610
20-620
20-630
20-640
20-650
10-800
10-810
10-820
10-830
10-840
10-850
10-860
10-800
10-810
10-820
10-830
10-840
10-850
10-860

Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Management and administration
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing
Elderly housing

Description
Donor contributions

Fundraising events
Grants

Investment income
Membership fees
Program revenue
Donor contributions
Fundraising events
Grants

Investment income
Membership fees
Program revenue
Compensation expense
Depreciation expense
Payroll tax expense
Rent expense
Supplies expense
Utilities expense
Other expenses
Compensation expense
Depreciation expense
Payroll expense

Rent expense
Supplies expense
Utilities expense
Other expenses

The preceding chart of accounts sample shows an exact duplication of accounts for each department or
program listed. This is not necessarily the case in reality, since some departments or programs have ac-
counts for which they are the only probable users. For example, the management and administration de-
partment is assigned a program revenue account that it is unlikely to use. The accountant would likely flag
this account as inactive in the accounting software, so that it does not appear in the formal chart of accounts.

There are situations where it is allowable for more than one government grant to fund an expense. For
example, an expenditure must be made that is needed for the purposes of two different grants, such as a
cancer researcher who is working on the analysis of two related types of cancer. In this situation, there must
be an allocation of the cost between the multiple funding sources. This allocation should be on a reasonable
basis, consistently applied. Also, it is useful to document the reasoning behind the allocation, in the likely

event that a government auditor questions the allocation.
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Tip: When it is likely that there will be allocable expenses before entering into a contract for a government
grant, negotiate the terms of the cost allocation into the contract, so there is no uncertainty about cost reim-
bursement at a later date.

Disclosures

When a nonprofit allocates joint costs, it must disclose the following information in the notes accompanying
its financial statements:

e Activity types. The types of activities for which the entity has incurred joint costs.
Statement. A statement that joint costs have been allocated.

o Allocation amount. The total expense amount allocated in the period, and amounts apportioned to
each functional expense category.

It is encouraged, but not required, that a nonprofit also disclose the amount of joint costs for each kind of
joint activity. For example:

Note J. Allocation of Joint Costs

In 20X4, Archimedes Education conducted activities that included appeals for contributions, which incurred
$200,000 of joint costs. These activities included special events, direct mail campaigns, and e-mail cam-
paigns. The joint costs were allocated among these activities as follows:

Special Direct Mail E-mail

Events Campaigns  Campaigns Totals
Fundraising 5,000 $80,000 $35,000 $120,000
Management and administration 2,000 -- 8,000 10,000
Program A 13,000 20,000 17,000 50,000
Program B 20,000 - - 20,000
Totals $40,000 $100,000 $60,000 $200,000

Summary

Nonprofits are usually quite sensitive to the amount of costs recognized as fundraising expenses. To reduce
the amount of this expense, the development manager, controller, and executive director should have a keen
understanding of the GAAP requirements related to joint cost allocations. By doing so, fundraising activi-
ties can be tailored to create joint costs and apportion them elsewhere within an organization.

The amount of costs allocated among a nonprofit’s programs and other functions can be considerable.
If these allocations are not dealt with consistently, the result is likely to be constant (and noticeable) swings
in the amounts of recognized expenses among the various programs and functions on an ongoing basis,
which confuses donors. To avoid this problem, compile a detailed set of allocation procedures, and ensure
that they are adhered to by the accounting staff.
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Review Questions

1. When the number of units of output is used to assign joint costs, the ___ allocation method is being
used.

Relative direct cost

Direct cost

Physical units

Standalone joint cost

cooTe

2. A multiple cost pool allocation system should be used when:
a. Donors believe that the expenditure level for fundraising is too high
b. A nonprofit is in the process of eliminating a program
c. The cost accounting expenditure must be reduced
d. There is a need for more cost allocation precision
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Chapter 12
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

Learning Objectives

Define the situations in which accounting principles can be changed, and when retrospective application is
allowed.

Introduction

From time to time, a nonprofit will find that it must change its accounting to reflect a change in accounting
principle or estimate, or it may locate an accounting error that must be corrected. In this chapter, we address
the rules for both situations and how to disclose them, as well as for several related situations.

Changes in Accounting Principle

There is an assumption in GAAP that, once an accounting principle has been adopted by an organization,
the principle shall be consistently applied in recording transactions and events from that point forward.
Consistent application is a cornerstone of accounting, since it allows the readers of financial statements to
compare the results of multiple accounting periods. Given how important it is to maintain consistency in
the application of accounting principles, an entity should only change an accounting principle in one of the
two following situations:

e The change is required by an update to GAAP
e The use of an alternative principle is preferable

Tip: Thoroughly document the reason for any change in accounting principle, since it will likely be re-
viewed by the nonprofit’s auditors.

Whenever there is a change in accounting principle, retrospective application of the new principle to prior
accounting periods is required, unless it is impracticable to do so. If it is impracticable to retroactively apply
changes to prior interim periods of the current fiscal year, then the change in accounting principle can only
be made as of the start of a subsequent fiscal year.

Tip: Where possible, organizations are encouraged to adopt changes in accounting principle as of the first
interim period of a fiscal year.

The activities required for retrospective application are:

1. Alter the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for the cumulative effect of the change in prin-
ciple as of the beginning of the first accounting period presented.

2. Adjust the beginning balance of net assets to offset the change noted in the first step.

3. Adjust the financial statements for each prior period presented to reflect the impact of the new
accounting principle.




Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

If it is impracticable to make these changes, then do so as of the earliest reported periods for which it is
practicable to do so. It is considered impracticable to make a retrospective change when any of the following
conditions apply:

o Assumptions. Making a retrospective application calls for assumptions about what management
intended to do in prior periods, and those assumptions cannot be independently substantiated.

o Efforts made. The organization has made every reasonable effort to do so.

e Estimates. Estimates are required, which are impossible to provide due to the lack of information
about the circumstances in the earlier periods.

When making prior period adjustments due to a change in accounting principle, do so only for the direct
effects of the change. A direct effect is one that is required to switch accounting principles.

EXAMPLE

Suture Indigent Medical Care changes from the last in, first out method of inventory accounting to the first in, first
out method. Doing so calls for an increase in the ending inventory in the preceding period, which in turn increases net
assets for that period. Altering the inventory balance is a direct effect of the change in principle.

An indirect effect of the change in principle would be a change in the accrual for bonus payments in the prior period.
Since it is an indirect effect, Suture does not record the change.

Changes in Accounting Estimate

A change in accounting estimate occurs when there is an adjustment to the carrying amount of an asset or
liability, or the subsequent accounting for it. Examples of changes in accounting estimate are changes in:

The allowance for doubtful accounts

The reserve for obsolete inventory

Changes in the useful life of depreciable assets
Changes in the salvage values of depreciable assets

Changes in accounting estimate occur relatively frequently, and so would require a significant effort to
make an ongoing series of retroactive changes to prior financial statements. Instead, GAAP only requires
that changes in accounting estimate be accounted for in the period of change and thereafter. Thus, no ret-
rospective change is required or allowed.

Changes in Reporting Entity

There are situations where a change in the entities included in consolidated financial statements effectively
means that there is a change in reporting entity. If so, apply the change retrospectively to all of the periods
being reported. The result should be the consistent presentation of financial information for the same re-
porting entity for all periods, including interim periods.
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Correction of an Error in Previously Issued Financial Statements

From time to time, financial statements will be inadvertently issued that contain one or more errors. When
such an error is discovered, the prior period financial statements to which the error applies must be restated.
Restatement requires the following steps:

1. Alter the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for the cumulative effect of the error as of the
beginning of the first accounting period presented.

2. Adjust the beginning balance of net assets to offset the change noted in the first step.

3. Adjust the financial statements for each prior period presented to reflect the impact of the error.

Corrections Related to Prior Interim Periods

GAAP specifies several situations in which the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current
fiscal year should be adjusted. These adjustments are for the following:

Adjustment or settlement of litigation

Income taxes (only applicable to any unrelated business income of a nonprofit)
Renegotiation proceedings

Utility revenue under rate-making processes (not applicable to a nonprofit)

Adjustments for these items are only necessary if all of the following criteria apply:

e The effect of the change is material to the statement of activities, or its trend

e The adjustments are directly related to the prior interim periods

e The adjustment amount could not be reasonably estimated prior to the current interim period, but
can now be estimated

If an adjustment occurs in any interim period other than the first period, use the following steps to account
for it:

1. Include any portion of the adjustment that relates to current business activities in the current interim
period.

2. Restate prior interim periods of the current fiscal year to include that portion of the item that relates
to the business activities in those periods.

3. Restate the first interim period of the current fiscal year to include that portion of the item that
relates to the business activities in prior fiscal years.

Summary

Retrospective changes can require a large amount of detective accounting work, judgment, and thorough
documentation of the changes made. Given the amount of labor involved, it is cost-effective to find justifi-
able reasons for not making retrospective changes. Two valid methods for doing so are to question the
materiality of the necessary changes, or to find reasons to instead treat issues as changes in accounting
estimate.

If retrospective application is completely unavoidable, it may make sense to have the nonprofit’s audi-
tors review proposed retrospective changes in advance. Doing so minimizes the risk that an error in handling
an issue will be discovered by the auditors during the annual audit, which will require additional retrospec-
tive changes.
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Review Questions

1. Anexample of a change in accounting estimate is:
a. A change in the salvage value of a depreciable asset
b. A change in expense from period to period
C. The resetting of a product’s price
d. The revaluation of an asset to its fair value

2. The following are steps used to correct an error in previously issued financial statements, except for:
a. Alter the carrying amount of assets for the cumulative effect of the error
b. Adjust the financial statements for each prior period to adjust for the error
c. Adjust the beginning balance of net assets
d. Record the adjustment as a net reduction in current period revenues
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Chapter 13
Fair Value

Learning Objectives

State the concept of the principal market and the basis upon which fair value is determined.

Introduction

A nonprofit may have certain assets or liabilities that are to be recorded at their fair values, rather than their
historical costs. A classic example is marketable securities, for which the recognized costs of certain classes
of securities are to be adjusted at the end of each reporting period. The adjustment to fair value is based on
a theoretical price at which an asset may be sold or a liability settled — there is no need to actually sell off
assets or obtain bids in order to derive fair value. In this chapter, we discuss the fair value concept, how fair
values are derived, and the option to use fair value.

The Fair Value Concept

Fair value is the estimated price at which an asset can be sold or a liability settled in an orderly transaction
to a third party under current market conditions. This definition includes the following concepts:

e Current market conditions. The derivation of fair value should be based on market conditions on
the measurement date, rather than a transaction that occurred at some earlier date.

e Intent. The intention of the holder of an asset or liability to continue to hold it is irrelevant to the
measurement of fair value. Such intent might otherwise alter the measured fair value. For example,
if the intent is to immediately sell an asset, this could be inferred to trigger a rushed sale, which
may result in a lower sale price.

e Orderly transaction. Fair value is to be derived based on an orderly transaction, which infers a
transaction where there is no undue pressure to sell, as may be the case in a corporate liquidation.

e Third party. Fair value is to be derived based on a presumed sale to an entity that is not an insider
or related in any way to the seller. Otherwise, a related-party transaction might skew the price paid.

The ideal determination of fair value is based on prices offered in an active market. An active market is one
in which there is a sufficiently high volume of transactions to provide ongoing pricing information. Also,
the market from which a fair value is derived should be the principal market for the asset or liability, since
the greater transaction volume associated with such a market should presumably lead to the best prices for
the seller. The market in which a business normally sells the asset type in question or settles liabilities is
assumed to be the principal market.

Tip: If there is no principal market for the assets or liabilities being valued, the alternative is to obtain a
fair value from the most advantageous market, which is the market in which the best price can be obtained,
net of transaction costs.

It is possible to derive a price from a quote issued by a broker. In this case, the resulting price is considered
more reliable when it is associated with a binding offer. Conversely, the mere issuance of an indicative
price by a broker does not indicate much pricing research by the broker or a commitment to sell, and so is
considered less reliable.
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In addition, the determination of fair value should be based on the condition and location of the asset,
as well as any restrictions on the use of the asset. For example, shares in a company that are restricted will
have a substantially lower fair value than unrestricted shares. Also, machinery that has been used more than
the average number of hours will have a lower fair value.

Tip: If an asset or liability is location-dependent, include in the fair value determination the cost required
to transport the item to the market in which its fair value is to be estimated.

An additional consideration when determining fair value is the concept of highest and best use. Under this
concept, fair value is determined based on the price at which an asset could theoretically be employed in its
highest and best use, rather than the use in which an asset is currently employed.

EXAMPLE

Creekside Research buys a patent for $1,000,000 that would allow the nonprofit to develop a technologically-advanced
lithium-ion battery. However, Creekside simply sits on the patent, thereby preventing any competitors from using the
technology. The fair value of the patent should be based on licensing the patent to competitors, since doing so would
yield substantially higher profits than not using the patent, as is currently the case.

Depending on the applicable GAAP standards, it may be necessary to update fair values in the accounting
records at regular intervals. If so, account for these changes as changes in accounting estimate (see the
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections chapter).

Fair Value Differences from Actual Prices Paid

There are a number of reasons why the price at which an asset is sold or a liability is settled can vary from
its fair value. Consider the following situations:

e Duress. The seller may be in a position where it must liquidate assets at once, and so cannot engage
in a more prolonged and detailed sales process to achieve a better price. The most common case is
the seller’s bankruptcy, but it is also possible that the seller was required to sell in order to meet
new regulatory requirements.

e Market. The asset or liability may be sold or settled in a market that is not the most advantageous
one in which to handle such a transaction, resulting in a less-than-favorable price. For example,
securities may be sold in a local market, where there are fewer bidders than on a national exchange.

o Related parties. The buyer and seller may be related, which introduces the possibility that there are
insider reasons for skewing the price paid.

o Unusual elements. The seller may be including additional warranties or bundling other products or
services with the item being sold, which makes it difficult to compare prices.

In these situations, do not place reliance on the information for deriving fair values, for these results could
vary significantly from actual fair market values. Conversely, if these factors are not present, and the vol-
ume of market transactions is large, and the comparison transactions are close to the measurement date, the
derived fair values can probably be relied upon.
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Fair Value Measurement Approaches

There are several general approaches that are permitted for deriving fair values. These approaches are out-
lined below:

o Market approach. Uses the prices associated with actual market transactions for similar or identical
assets and liabilities to derive a fair value. For example, the prices of securities held can be obtained
from a national exchange on which these securities are routinely bought and sold.

e Income approach. Uses estimated future cash flows or earnings, adjusted by a discount rate that
represents the time value of money and the risk of cash flows not being achieved, to derive a dis-
counted present value. An alternative way to incorporate risk into this approach is to develop a
probability-weighted-average set of possible future cash flows. Option pricing models can also be
used under the income approach.

e Cost approach. Uses the estimated cost to replace an asset (or the capabilities of the asset), adjusted
for the obsolescence of the existing asset.

EXAMPLE

There are several possible cash flows expected from the use of an asset. Management assigns the following probabil-
ities to each scenario:

Cash Flow Probability-Weighted
Scenario Probability Cash Flows
$800,000 10% $80,000
1,500,000 70% 1,050,000
3,000,000 20% 600,000
100% $1,730,000

The risk-free interest rate is 3%, and the estimated risk premium for the variability of cash flows is 4%, for a combined
discount rate of 7%. The discounted cash flows of these probability-weighted cash flows are therefore $1,730,000 +
1.07, or $1,616,822. This is the fair value of the asset, using the income approach.

EXAMPLE

A nonprofit recently purchased a machine and heavily customized it to meet the needs of the organization’s unique
production line for solar-powered light bulbs to be distributed in poor countries. Since the machine has been so heavily
customized, there are no comparable market transactions that relate to it. Also, since the machine is part of a production
line, there is no way to associate any cash flows specifically to it. These concerns leave management with no alterna-
tive other than to use the cost approach to derive fair value. The organization determines that it would require a
$380,000 expenditure to replace the capabilities of this asset, adjusted for the amount of existing wear and tear on the
equipment.

Ideally, the valuation method chosen should maximize the use of observable inputs to the valuation process.
Observable inputs are derived from market data that properly reflect the assumptions that third parties
would use when setting prices for assets and liabilities. Examples of markets that are considered to provide
observable inputs are stock exchanges and dealer markets.

No matter which method is chosen, it may be necessary to include a risk adjustment in the formulation
of fair value. This risk adjustment may be a premium that a counterparty would require in order to take on
any uncertainties in the cash flows associated with an asset or liability.

The ideal conditions are not always available for obtaining the fair value of an asset or liability. Con-
sequently, GAAP provides a hierarchy of information sources that range from Level 1 (best) to Level 3
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(worst). The general intent of these levels of information is to step the accountant through a series of valu-
ation alternatives, where solutions closer to Level 1 are preferred over Level 3. The characteristics of the
three levels are as follows:

e Level 1. This is a quoted price for an identical item in an active market on the measurement date.
This is the most reliable evidence of fair value, and should be used whenever this information is
available. When there is a bid-ask price spread, use the price most representative of the fair value
of the asset or liability. This may mean using a bid price for an asset valuation and an ask price for
a liability. When a quoted Level 1 price is adjusted, doing so automatically shifts the result into a
lower level. Also, do not alter a Level 1 price just because the organization’s holdings of a security
are quite large in comparison to the normal daily trading volume of the relevant market.

e Level 2. This is directly or indirectly observable inputs other than quoted prices. An example of a
Level 2 input is a valuation multiple for a business unit that is based on the sale of comparable
entities. This definition includes prices for assets or liabilities that are (with key items noted in
bold):

o For similar items in active markets; or

o For identical or similar items in inactive markets; or

o For inputs other than quoted prices, such as credit risks, default rates, and interest rates;
or

o For inputs derived from correlation with observable market data.

It may be necessary to adjust the information derived from Level 2 inputs, since it does not exactly
match the assets or liabilities for which fair values are being derived. Adjustments may be needed
for such factors as the condition of assets and the transaction volume of the markets from which
information is derived.

e Level 3. This is an unobservable input. It may include the organization’s own data, adjusted for
other reasonably available information. Examples of a Level 3 input are an internally-generated
financial forecast and the prices contained within an offered quote from a distributor.

These three levels are known as the fair value hierarchy. Please note that these three levels are only used
to select inputs to valuation techniques (such as the market approach). The three levels are not used to
directly create fair values.

A nonprofit may rely upon the prices obtained in a particular market to derive its fair value calculations.
These prices can require significant adjustment if the volume of activity in the market has declined. Evi-
dence of such a decline includes a reduced number of recent transactions, large swings in price quotations
over time, wide bid-ask spreads, and a decline in new issuances.

If the accountant is using information in a higher category of the fair value hierarchy and adjusting it
with information from a lower level of the hierarchy, it may be necessary to designate the outcome as being
from the lower level of the hierarchy. This happens when the adjustment results in a significantly higher or
lower fair value measurement.

When adjusting fair values from period to period, use the same valuation technique(s) each time. Doing
so introduces consistency into the derivation process. However, it is permissible to switch to alternative
valuation technique(s) if the resulting change will be equally or more representative of the fair value of the
asset or liability in question. Such a change may be necessary, for example, when a new market develops
for the sale of an asset that yields enhanced pricing. If there is a change in fair value that is triggered by a
change in measurement method, account for the change as a change in accounting estimate.
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Fair Value Option

A nonprofit has the option to record its financial instruments at their fair values. GAAP allows this treatment
for the following items:

A financial asset or financial liability

A firm commitment that only involves financial instruments

A loan commitment

An insurance contract where the insurer can pay a third party to provide goods or services in set-
tlement, and where the contract is not a financial instrument (i.e., requires payment in goods or
services)

e A warranty in which the warrantor can pay a third party to provide goods or services in settlement,
and where the contract is not a financial instrument (i.e., requires payment in goods or services)

The fair value option cannot be applied to the following items:

An investment in a subsidiary that will be consolidated

Deposit liabilities of depository institutions

Financial assets or financial leases recognized under lease arrangements

Obligations or assets related to pension plans, postemployment benefits, and other types of deferred
compensation

When the election is made to measure an item at its fair value, do so on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
Once the election is made to follow the fair value option for an instrument, the change in reporting is irrev-
ocable. The fair value election can be made on either of the following dates:

e The election date, which can be when an item is first recognized, when there is a firm commitment,
when qualification for specialized accounting treatment ceases, or there is a change in the account-
ing treatment for an investment in another entity.

e In accordance with an organization policy for certain types of eligible items.

In most cases, it is acceptable to choose the fair value option for an eligible item, while not electing to use
it for other items that are essentially identical.

If the fair value option is taken, report unrealized gains and losses on the elected items at each subse-
guent reporting date.

Summary

The information imparted in this chapter was at a greater level of detail than a smaller nonprofit really
needs; for these entities, it is usually sufficient to understand that the recorded amount of any securities held
as investments should probably be stated at their fair values. The more in-depth explanations in this chapter
are intended for larger nonprofits that carry substantial amounts of assets and liabilities on their statements
of financial position; in this latter case, it is more likely that a nonprofit accountant will run into situations
where a detailed knowledge of the fair value rules and alternatives is needed. When there is any uncertainty
about how to employ fair value concepts, discuss the matter with the nonprofit’s auditors.
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Review Questions

1. The following is a valid reason why the fair value of an asset or liability may vary from the actual price
paid:

The market in which the sale is made is the entity’s principal market for that item

The absence of unusual elements in a comparison transaction

The buyer and seller may be related

The organization sells an asset or settles a liability in the normal course of business

cooTe

2. Developing fair values based on the prices associated with actual market transactions is called the:
a. Cost approach
b. Market approach
c. Income approach
d. Level 1 approach
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Chapter 14
Other Accounting Topics

Learning Objectives

Cite the accounting for a contribution receivable, as well as the steps involved in a petty cash reconciliation.

Introduction

There are a number of accounting topics that do not include a sufficient amount of material to deserve
standalone chapters. However, they are commonly found within a nonprofit, and so should be included
within the overall nonprofit accounting topic. Consequently, this chapter addresses an array of disparate
topics, including petty cash, interests in perpetual trusts, receivables, contingent liabilities, lines of credit,
and the disclosures related to these topics.

Petty Cash

Petty cash is a small amount of cash that is kept on a nonprofit’s premises to pay for minor cash needs, such
as office supplies, cards, flowers, and so forth. Petty cash is stored in a petty cash drawer or box near where
it is most needed. There may be several petty cash locations in a larger organization, probably one per
building or even one per department. A separate accounting system is used to track petty cash transactions.

To set up a petty cash fund, the cashier creates a check in the amount of the funding assigned to a
particular petty cash fund (usually a few hundred dollars). Alternatively, the cashier could simply count out
the cash for the petty cash fund, if there are enough bills and coins on the premises. The initial petty cash
journal entry is a debit to the petty cash account and a credit to the cash account.

The petty cash custodian then disburses petty cash from the fund in exchange for receipts related to
whatever the expense may be. There is no journal entry at this point; instead, the cash balance in the petty
cash fund continues to decline, while the number of receipts continues to increase. The total of the receipts
and remaining cash should equal the initial amount of petty cash funding at all times, though recordation
errors and theft may result in a variance.

When the cash balance in the petty cash fund drops to a sufficiently minimal level, the petty cash cus-
todian applies for more cash from the cashier. This takes the form of a summarization of all the receipts
that the custodian has accumulated. The cashier creates a new check in the amount of the receipts, and
swaps the check for the receipts. The petty cash journal entry is a debit to the petty cash account and a credit
to the cash account.

The petty cash custodian refills the petty cash drawer or box, which should now contain the original
amount of cash that was designated for the fund. The cashier creates a journal entry to record the petty cash
receipts. This is a credit to the petty cash account, and probably debits to several different expense accounts,
such as the office supplies account (depending upon what was purchased with the cash). The balance in the
petty cash account should now be the same as the amount at which it started.

In reality, the balance in the petty cash account is higher than the amount of cash actually in the petty
cash box, since the cash in the box is continually being paid out. However, the difference is so minor that
it is completely immaterial to the results in the financial statements. Thus, the difference is only reconciled
when the petty cash box must be replenished.
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EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education sets up a petty cash fund and initially funds it with $300. The entry is:

Debit Credit
Petty cash $300
Cash $300

The petty cash custodian lets the cash balance in the petty cash box decline to $20 before applying for replenishment.
The cashier issues a replenishment check for $280. The entry is:

Debit Credit
Petty cash $280
Cash $280

The cashier records the expenses associated with the petty cash receipts that were submitted. The entry is:

Debit Credit
Office expenses $280
Petty cash $280

The balance in the petty cash account is now $300, which is where it was originally authorized to be.

A petty cash reconciliation is a formal review of petty cash records, to see if there have been any undocu-
mented disbursements. Such disbursements are a common problem in petty cash, where there is a high risk
of fraud. Also, since most petty cash custodians are not trained as accountants, they may incorrectly record
disbursements. For these reasons, a petty cash reconciliation should be conducted at regular intervals.

The review can be treated as an audit, which means not warning the petty cash custodian of the re-
viewer’s arrival. This lack of warning is useful for detecting any personal withdrawals from the petty cash
fund by the custodian. The petty cash reconciliation follows:

1. Ascertain stated balance. Review the nonprofit’s petty cash policy and determine the stated petty
cash balance for the fund to be reviewed. Petty cash funds can have different stated balances, since
some experience higher transaction volumes than others.

2. Calculate withdrawn cash. Count the cash remaining in the petty cash fund and subtract it from the
stated balance for the fund. The result is the amount of cash withdrawn from the fund.

3. Summarize vouchers. Add up the total expenditure listed on each petty cash voucher in the petty
cash fund. Subtract this amount from the calculated amount of cash withdrawn. The result should
be zero. If there is a residual balance, there is a cash overage in the fund. If there is a negative
balance, there is a cash shortage in the fund.

4. Investigate variances. Investigate any differences between the stated amount of the petty cash fund
and the actual total of cash and vouchers. If the difference is unexplained, complete a voucher
stating the unexplained amount, and charge it to a predetermined departmental or program account
in the general ledger.

It is useful to charge unexplained differences to an expense account set aside for that purpose. By doing so,
it is much easier to track the cumulative amount of undocumented losses over time. Also, consider having
a policy that requires the controller to be notified if the amount of an unexplained shortage in a petty cash
fund exceeds a certain amount.
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Finally, flag petty cash funds for more frequent reconciliations if an ongoing pattern of errors is de-
tected. Increased review frequency can uncover problems before material losses accumulate.

Interest in a Perpetual Trust

When a beneficiary receives a contribution of a perpetual interest in a trust held by a third party, it should
be classified as donor-restricted support, since the trust is similar to a donor-restricted endowment that is
essentially perpetual, rather than a multi-year promise to give. Any distributions from the trust that are free
of restrictions should be reported as net assets without donor restrictions. Any distributions that are re-
stricted are to be reported as net assets with donor restrictions, and can later be reclassified as the restrictions
lapse.

Receivables

When a nonprofit has receivables outstanding, it can elect to record them at their fair value (see the Fair
Value Option in the Fair Value chapter). If it takes this option, the receivables are to be initially and subse-
guently recorded at their fair value. A possible method for determining fair value is to calculate the present
value of expected cash flows from a receivable. At each subsequent measurement date, the organization
must review the present value assumptions, and revise the expected cash flow amounts and timing, discount
rate assumptions, and other factors. These assumptions are especially likely to change when the receivables
are for unconditional promises to give, since there may be unexpected variations in the timing and amounts
to be contributed.

Note: When a present value calculation is used for a promise to give that is donor restricted, the nonprofit
should report the subsequent accrual of the interest element as an increase in net assets with donor re-
strictions.

When there is a contribution receivable that is comprised of a promise to give equity securities, it is possible
that the value of those securities will increase or decline between the time when they are promised (and
recorded as a receivable) and when they are paid to the nonprofit. If there is such a change, and the receiving
nonprofit has chosen to measure the receivable at its fair value, the receivable is to be recognized as an
increase or decrease in contribution revenue in the periods in which the change occurs.

When there is a contribution receivable that is comprised of a promise to give noncash assets that are
not debt or equity securities, it is possible that their future fair values will change before they are received.
If there is such a change, and the receiving nonprofit has chosen to measure the receivable at its fair value,
subsequent measurements are to use the same measurement technique used to originally derive the value
of the asset. If the future fair value decreases, recognize the change as a reduction in contribution revenue
when the change occurs. If the future fair value increases, do not recognize any additional revenue.

When there is an expectation of a decline in a contribution receivable, this is to be accounted for as a
bad debt in the period in which the expectation first arises. If, following the recognition of a bad debt, the
expectation of a decline is reversed, the bad debt can be reversed up to the amount of the cumulative bad
debt that had previously been charged to expense. If contributions are collected that exceed the amount of
the related receivable, the difference is to be recognized as additional contribution revenue.

Contingent Liabilities

A contingent liability is a potential loss that may occur at some point in the future, once various uncertainties
have been resolved. A contingent liability is not yet an actual, confirmed liability. The exact status of a
contingent liability is important when determining which liabilities to present in the statement of financial
position.
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There are three scenarios for contingent liabilities, all involving different accounting treatments. They
are:

e Record a contingent liability when it is probable that the loss will occur, and the amount of the loss
can be reasonably estimated. If only a range of possible amounts can be estimated, record that
amount in the range that appears to be a better estimate than any other amount; if no amount is
better, record the lowest amount in the range. Also describe the liability in the footnotes that ac-
company the financial statements.

o Disclose the existence of the contingent liability in the notes accompanying the financial statements
if the liability is reasonably possible but not probable, or if the liability is probable, but the amount
cannot be estimated. “Reasonably possible” means that the chance of the event occurring is more
than remote but less than likely.

e Do not record or disclose the contingent liability if the probability of its occurrence is remote.

Examples of contingent liabilities are the outcome of a lawsuit, a government investigation, or the threat of
expropriation.

EXAMPLE

A user of the services of Newton Education files a lawsuit against Newton for $500,000. Newton’s attorney feels that
the suit is without merit, so Newton merely discloses the existence of the lawsuit in the notes accompanying its finan-
cial statements. Several months later, the attorney recommends that Newton should settle out of court for $75,000; at
this point, the liability is both probable and can be estimated, so Newton records a $75,000 liability. A possible entry
for this transaction might be:

Debit Credit
Legal expense 75,000
Accrued liabilities 75,000
When Newton later pays the user the settlement, the final entry is:
Debit Credit
Accrued liabilities 75,000
Cash 75,000

Line of Credit

A line of credit is an agreement between a lender and a borrower to issue cash to the borrower as needed,
not to exceed a certain predetermined amount. A line of credit is commonly secured by selected assets of
an organization, such as its accounts receivable. Since the line is secured, the lender typically allows a
relatively low interest rate that does not greatly exceed the prime rate.

A line of credit is intended for the funding of short-term cash shortfalls caused by periodic (possibly
seasonal) changes in a nonprofit’s ongoing cash flows. Thus, it should be paid off at some point each year.
If not, the line of credit is being used to fund long-term operations, and so should be supplemented by long-
term debt.

145



Other Accounting Topics

Several aspects of a line of credit are:

e Audit. The lender will likely require the borrower to undergo an audit of certain asset balances,
which the lender needs to assure itself that the borrower has correctly represented its financial po-
sition and financial results.

o Balance pay down. The lender may require that the outstanding balance for a line of credit be
completely paid off at some point during each year, or else it can cancel the line.

e Compensated balance. If the lender is a bank, it may require the borrower to maintain a certain
minimum cash balance in accounts at the bank. By doing so, the lender increases the effective
interest rate paid by the borrower, since the borrower earns little or no return on cash kept in a
checking account.

o Maintenance fee. The lender charges the borrower an annual maintenance fee in exchange for keep-
ing the line of credit open. This fee is payable even if the borrower never uses the line of credit.
The reason given for this fee is that the lender must still invest a certain amount of administrative
time in loan-related paperwork, and must have funds available if required by the borrower.

In short, the line of credit is a necessary part of the financing structure of a business, but is only intended
to fund short-term cash shortfalls that are not expected to continue over the long term.

A current balance due on a line of credit is almost always classified in the statement of financial position
as a current liability, since these arrangements are typically payable within one year.

Disclosures

When a nonprofit will receive unconditional promises to give, it should disclose the following information
in the notes accompanying the financial statements:

e The aggregate amounts of these receivables due in less than one year, in one to five years, and in
more than five years.

e The total amount of the allowance for uncollectible promises receivable.

e The discount derived from the measurement of promises to give at their present value.

When a nonprofit will receive conditional promises to give, disclose the aggregate dollar amount of these
promises, as well as the description and promise amount for each group of these promises that have similar
characteristics. Examples of groups of conditional promises are those conditioned on the creation of a new
facility, or the raising of a certain amount of matching funds.

If a nonprofit has made any unconditional promises to give to other entities, it should present a schedule
of these promises that shows the amount payable in each of the next five years, as well as the aggregate
amount due in more than five years. If these promises are presented at their present values, also disclose
the unamortized discount.

The primary disclosures related to contingent liabilities are noted within the text of the Contingent
Liabilities section. In addition, if a nonprofit is not in compliance with donor-imposed restrictions, the
situation is to be disclosed in either of the following situations:

e There is a reasonable possibility that the entity has incurred a material contingent liability; or
e There is a reasonable possibility that noncompliance with the restrictions could result in either a
material loss of revenue or endanger the entity’s ability to continue in business.

Further, if the nonprofit is not in compliance with donor-imposed restrictions because the organization has
not maintained an appropriate mix or amount of assets, disclose the nature of the situation.
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Summary

Of the accounting topics noted in this chapter, the one most deserving of attention is contingent liabilities.
These liabilities may not be overly frequent, but should be monitored closely and reported as necessary,
since they can result in the acknowledgment of significant problems. Conversely, if a nonprofit were not to
report a probable contingent liability, it could be seriously misstating its financial statements.
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Review Questions

1. A contingent liability should be disclosed but not recognized when:

a.
b.
C.
d.

The amount can be reasonably estimated and the loss is probable
The liability is reasonably possible but not probable

The liability is remote but the amount can be estimated

The probability of occurrence is remote

2. The following feature is typically found in a line of credit agreement:

a.

b.

The bank requires the lender to maintain a certain minimum cash balance in its accounts at the
bank

The bank relies upon the results of audits conducted within the past few years of the lender’s
accounting records

The bank encourages an ongoing line of credit balance

The annual maintenance fee is waived in exchange for maintaining a large loan balance
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Chapter 15
Split-Interest Agreements

Learning Objectives

Identify the accounting associated with split-interest agreements, as well as the nature of lead and remainder
interests.

Introduction

A donor may decide to contribute funds to a nonprofit under an arrangement where both the donor and the
nonprofit retain an interest in the underlying assets and liabilities. These arrangements, known as split-
interest agreements, come in many shapes and sizes. Unfortunately, the accounting varies by type of agree-
ment, making this one of the more time-consuming transactions for an accountant to deal with. In this
chapter, we discuss the nature and types of split-interest agreements, how they are measured and accounted
for, and the types of disclosures required for them.

Split-Interest Agreements

A split-interest agreement is an arrangement under which a nonprofit splits the benefits of assets with other
entities. These other entities are typically not nonprofits. A common example of a split-interest agreement
is when a donor gives a nonprofit the right to receive all interest income from a portfolio of investments
held by a bank. Conversely, a donor might want to retain that interest to support her living expenses for the
rest of her life, after which the underlying investments become the property of a designated nonprofit.

A split-interest agreement is comprised of a lead interest and a remainder interest. The lead interest is
the right to receive the benefits of assets during the term of the agreement, while the remainder interest is
the right to receive any remaining benefits of the assets after the term of the agreement expires. For example,
one beneficiary (the lead interest) may be paid an annuity from the donated funds for the next ten years,
after which any funds remaining are paid to another beneficiary (the remainder interest).

EXAMPLE

Ms. Marcy Dawes sets aside $1,000,000 in an investment fund, and stipulates that her favorite charity, Dogs without
Homes, receives all interest earned on these funds for the earlier of the next ten years or her death. Once either trig-
gering event occurs, the remaining balance in the investment fund will be given to the Advanced Diabetes Care Insti-
tute (ADCI). Under the terms of this arrangement, Dogs without Homes has the lead interest, and ADCI has the
remainder interest.

Under a split-interest agreement, funds may be given to an independent third party, such as a bank, that acts
as the trustee. The trustee follows the directions of the donor in investing the funds and paying beneficiaries.
Alternatively, the funds may be sent straight to a nonprofit, which takes on the trustee role.

A split-interest agreement may allow a donor to back out of the arrangement under certain circum-
stances. This is called a revocable split-interest agreement. Or, if the donor has no right to cancel the agree-
ment, the arrangement is called an irrevocable split-interest agreement.
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Types of Split-Interest Agreements

The following are all examples of split-interest agreements:

Charitable lead annuity trust. This is a trust in which a nonprofit receives a fixed amount of distri-
butions during the term of the arrangement. Once the trust terminates, remaining trust assets are
paid to the donor or any stated beneficiaries of the donor.

Charitable lead unitrust. This is a trust in which a nonprofit receives a fixed percentage of the fair
value of the assets in the trust during the term of the trust. Once the trust terminates, remaining trust
assets are paid to the donor or any stated beneficiaries of the donor.

Charitable remainder annuity trust. This arrangement is the reverse of a charitable lead annuity
trust. Under this arrangement, a nonprofit receives any assets remaining when a trust is terminated,
while the donor or its beneficiaries receive a fixed amount of distributions during the term of the
trust.

Charitable remainder unitrust. This arrangement is the reverse of a charitable lead unitrust. Under
this arrangement, a nonprofit receives any assets remaining when a trust is terminated, while the
donor or its beneficiaries receive a fixed percentage of the fair value of the assets in the trust during
the term of the trust.

Charitable gift annuity. This arrangement calls for a donor to transfer assets to a nonprofit, after
which the nonprofit is obligated to make certain periodic payments to the donor or its beneficiaries
for a period of time. The nonprofit retains all residual assets.

Pooled income fund. This is a trust arrangement under which donors contribute assets to a pooled
fund, and are assigned a certain number of units based on the proportion of their contribution to the
total size of the pool. The donor is paid the income on these units until the person’s death, after
which the value of these units are assigned to a nonprofit.

Net income unitrust. This is a trust arrangement where the donor or a designated beneficiary re-
ceives distributions from the trust based on the lower of earned net income or a fixed percentage of
the fair value of the assets in the trust. A nonprofit retains all residual assets.

There are a multitude of variations on the basic split-interest types just noted. For accounting purposes, it
is easiest to associate a specific agreement with one of these types, since the accounting standards assign
specific accounting treatments to each one. When in doubt about the proper accounting treatment, the ac-
countant should confer with a nonprofit’s auditors.

Tip: Have a small number of pre-written split-interest agreements available for any potential donors in-
quiring about making contributions. Doing so funnels these contributions into predetermined agreement
types for which the relevant accounting can be more easily determined.

Accounting for Split-Interest Agreements

The accounting for a split-interest agreement varies, depending on the underlying structure of the arrange-
ment. Here are several possible agreements and their related accounting:

Revocable agreement. This is considered an intention to give, but not a finalized arrangement.
When a nonprofit receives funds under a revocable split-interest agreement, the received funds are
recognized as a refundable advance, which is a liability. The advance is then recognized as contri-
bution revenue when the agreement becomes irrevocable, or when the assets are unconditionally
distributed to the nonprofit.

Irrevocable agreement — assets held by nonprofit. If there are no conditions imposed by a donor, a
nonprofit can recognize contributed assets as contribution revenue as soon as a split-interest agree-
ment is executed. When the arrangement is a charitable gift annuity, charitable lead trust, charitable
remainder trust or similar arrangement where the transferred assets are held by the nonprofit for
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the benefit of the donor or its beneficiaries, it is also necessary to recognize a liability for the pay-
ments due to these other parties. The liability is recorded at its fair value on the initial recognition
date.

o Irrevocable agreement — assets held by third party. If there are no conditions imposed by a donor
but the assets are held by an independent trustee, the nonprofit recognizes its beneficial interest in
the contributed assets as contribution revenue. This recognition relates to the nonprofit’s entitle-
ment to either the lead interest or the remainder interest in the arrangement. Recognition can occur
as soon as the nonprofit is made aware of the existence of the arrangement. However, recognition
of contribution revenue is not allowed for as long as the third party has the ability to redirect the
assets or their benefits elsewhere.

e Pooled income fund or net income unitrust. Under these arrangements, the nonprofit is given the
remainder interest in assets. The nonprofit recognizes assets as they are received, and recognizes
its remainder interest as contribution revenue as those assets are received from the donor. The dif-
ference between the assets received and the remainder interest is recorded as deferred revenue (a
liability).

EXAMPLE

Mr. Euclid establishes a charitable lead annuity trust agreement. Euclid transfers $150,000 of assets to a bank that acts
as the trustee. The agreement authorizes the bank to pay Archimedes Education $8,000 per year until the death of
Euclid. The use of these annuity payments is unrestricted. When Euclid eventually dies, the remainder interest shall
be transferred back into the estate of Euclid, and will be distributed in accordance with the provisions of his will.

Archimedes estimates that the present value of the annuity payments is $65,000 and so records contribution revenue
of $65,000 and a receivable in the same amount. Each year, when Archimedes receives an $8,000 payment, the entry
is an increase in cash and an $8,000 reduction of the receivable. In each year, Archimedes also amortizes the discount
on the present value calculation, which increases the value of the split-interest agreement.

EXAMPLE

Newton Education receives $200,000 from a donor under a charitable remainder annuity trust agreement. Newton is
the designated trustee, as well as the remainder beneficiary. Newton is required to invest the funds and pay a $12,000
annuity back to the donor for the remainder of her life, after which Newton is entitled to all remaining assets.

Newton accounts for this transaction by initially recognizing the contribution portion of the $250,000 as contribution
revenue. The amount of revenue is the $250,000 fair value of the trust assets, less the fair value of the estimated
annuity payments (which is calculated by an actuary as $172,000). Thus, Newton recognizes $78,000 of contribution
revenue, which is classified as a net asset with donor restrictions. Once the donor dies, the annuity restriction is lifted,
and the net assets are then reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions.

Initial Measurement

The initial measurement of assets received under a revocable split-interest agreement is to do so at the fair
value of the assets. The accounting for assets received under an irrevocable agreement has more alterna-
tives, which are as follows:

o If the assets are held by the nonprofit. If the assets are under the control of the nonprofit or it acts
as trustee, assets are initially recognized at their fair value. In addition:

o Ifthe assets are being held for the benefit of a third party, the fair value of the liability may
be measured at the fair value of the future payments to be made to that party.

o Under a lead interest arrangement, the nonprofit measures the asset fair value based on the
present value of future distributions to be received as the beneficiary.
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o Under a remainder interest arrangement, the nonprofit measures the asset fair value based
on the difference between the fair value of the contributed assets and the fair value of the
payments to be made to the beneficiary of the lead interest.

o Under a pooled income fund or net income unitrust arrangement, the nonprofit measures
assets at their fair value. Fair value can be derived from present value techniques; if so,
calculate present value based on the estimated time period until the death of the donor.

e If assets are held by a third party. If a nonprofit is the unconditional beneficiary of a split-interest
agreement that is held by a third party, the nonprofit measures its interest in the assets at their fair
value.

Ongoing Measurement

The subsequent measurement of split-interest agreements must be at their fair value if a nonprofit elects to
take the fair value option (see the Fair Value chapter) or if the funds are held by independent trustees.

If a split-interest agreement is irrevocable and the assets are held by the nonprofit, their subsequent
measurement is the same as outlined for investments in the Investment Accounting chapter. In addition, if
assets are held under any split-interest agreement other than a pooled income fund or a net income unitrust,
report the following information in the financial statements of the nonprofit:

e Any income earned on the assets
e Gains and losses on the assets
o Distributions made to other beneficiaries, as per the terms of the agreement

When a nonprofit holds assets in trust for other beneficiaries, the nonprofit measures its liabilities to the
beneficiaries at fair value, if it chose the fair value option (see the Fair Value chapter). If the nonprofit did
not select the fair value option, ongoing remeasurement of the liability includes any revisions of expecta-
tions regarding future payments to beneficiaries under various actuarial assumptions, as well as the amor-
tization of any present value discount associated with the original contribution (which gradually increases
the amount of the liability). If the fair value option is not taken, the present value discount rate used to
calculate the initial fair value shall not be revised in later periods.

If assets are held by a nonprofit under a pooled income fund or a net income unitrust, any periodic
income associated with these assets is recognized as a change in the liability owed to the beneficiary. Any
amortization of the discount associated with future interest is to be recognized as a reduction in the deferred
revenue account, as well as a change in the value of the split-interest agreement.

If assets are instead held by a third party under a split-interest agreement and the nonprofit has an
unconditional right to receive funds as a beneficiary, the nonprofit must measure its beneficial interest in
the assets at their fair value. Any change in this fair value is to be recognized in the statement of activities.
The fair value valuation method used shall be the same one used to derive the initial value of the assets.
Any distribution to the nonprofit from the trust is to be accounted for as a reduction in the remaining balance
of the beneficial interest.

If the assets held by a nonprofit are revocable under a split-interest agreement, the nonprofit shall rec-
ognize their value in accordance with the guidance noted in the Investment Accounting chapter for the
subsequent measurement of invested assets.

Termination

When a split-interest agreement is closed out, the asset and liability accounts linked to the agreement are
also closed. If there are any residual balances in these accounts at the closing date, they are recognized as
changes in the value of the agreement.
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Classification of Net Assets

Under GAAP, there are rules for how to classify net assets under split-interest agreements, with different
specifications for the initial recognition of net assets, their subsequent measurement, and net asset derecog-
nition.

When net assets are initial recognized under a split-interest agreement, the basic rule is to do so as an
increase in net assets with donor restrictions. Or, if a donor gives the nonprofit an immediate right of use
without restrictions, this is classified as an increase in net assets without donor restrictions.

Another initial recognition concept is when assets are received under a charitable gift annuity. Under
this arrangement, the nonprofit makes certain payments back to the donor or its beneficiaries for a period
of time, after which the nonprofit retains all residual assets. The contribution portion of this agreement is
treated as unrestricted, if the donor does not restrict use of the assets, and there is no stipulation to invest
the assets until the death of the income beneficiary. If these criteria are not met, the contribution is classified
as a net asset with donor restrictions.

Following the initial recognition of net assets, amounts may be reclassified into net assets without donor
restrictions when the underlying restrictions expire.

If assets are made available to a nonprofit once a split-interest agreement expires, these amounts are
then reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions.

Disclosures

Any assets and liabilities associated with split-interest agreements are to be reported separately in the state-
ment of financial position. Alternatively, they can be separately disclosed in the notes accompanying the
financial statements. Similarly, any revenues or changes in the value of split-interest agreements are to be
recognized separately in the statement of activities, or else within the notes accompanying the financial
statements.

Besides the presentation of information just noted, there are also a number of disclosures that must be
made regarding split-interest agreements. They are:

Terms. Describe the terms of the existing agreements.

o Recognition. Note the assets and liabilities recognized under split-interest agreements, if not sepa-
rately reported within the statement of financial position.

e Basis. State the basis used for recognizing assets, such as fair market value or cost.

e Present value assumptions. If present value techniques were used to derive fair values, note the
discount rates and actuarial assumptions used.

e Contribution revenues. Note the amount of contribution revenue recognized under these agree-
ments, if not separately reported in the statement of activities.

e Changes in value. State any changes in the recognized value of split-interest agreements, if not
separately reported in the statement of activities.

e Reserves. If state law imposes restrictions on how net assets can be used, or requires additional
annuity reserves, disclose this information. If the nonprofit voluntarily sets aside reserves for un-
expected actuarial losses, it can also disclose this set-aside as a board-designated net asset without
donor restrictions.
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Summary

At some point, a nonprofit is likely to encounter a donor who proposes a split-interest agreement. The asset
amounts underlying these agreements can be quite large, so most nonprofits will eagerly agree to such an
arrangement. However, it makes sense to review the terms of each proposed split-interest agreement to see
how the related accounting must be configured, and propose changes to make the accounting more efficient.
Where possible, propose a standardized split-interest agreement format to donors, so that the accounting
staff can apply a standardized accounting procedure to each one.

154



Split-Interest Agreements

Review Questions

1. When an arrangement calls for a donor to transfer assets to a nonprofit, after which the entity is obli-
gated to make certain payments to the donor’s beneficiaries, this is called a:

a

b,
C.
d.

Pooled income fund

Net income unitrust
Charitable lead annuity trust
Charitable gift annuity

2. When received funds must be recognized as a refundable advance, the underlying split-interest agree-

ment is:

a

b,
C.
d.

A net income unitrust

A revocable agreement

An irrevocable agreement where assets are held by the nonprofit
An irrevocable agreement where assets are held by a third party
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Affiliated Organizations

Learning Objectives

Specify the circumstances under which the reporting consolidation of two or more entities is required or
allowed.

Introduction

Nonprofit organizations may be related to each other in several ways. For example, their economic interests
may be closely aligned, or one entity may exercise a certain degree of control over another organization.
Also, since there are a variety of legal forms that a nonprofit may take, it is possible to have an ownership
interest in some nonprofits. Depending on the type of relationship, it may be necessary to consolidate the
financial statements of two or more entities, or at least require additional disclosure of the extent of the
relationship. In this chapter, we explore the types of relationships between nonprofit organizations, and the
related accounting and disclosure rules.

Affiliated Organizations

A nonprofit may have a number of relationships with other entities. Here are several examples:

o A ballet auxiliary provides education classes to young students for a fee, and forwards all proceeds
to the regional ballet company.

e A women’s scholarship organization conducts fundraising events, and uses the proceeds to fund a
scholarship program at a local college; it also grants scholarships directly to worthy candidates.

e A wetlands protection nonprofit shifts several endowment funds into a separate legal entity, which
is empowered to purchase threatened wetlands.

e A senior citizens support nonprofit creates a separate legal entity for each of its programs, which
deal with senior transportation, in-home care, and meals.

o A nonprofit creates a for-profit subsidiary to market a variety of merchandise that bears the logo of
the organization.

Under GAAP rules, there is considered to be a relationship with another nonprofit in any of the following
four situations:

e Ownership. There is a controlling financial interest caused by either direct or indirect ownership of
a majority voting interest or sole corporate membership in the other nonprofit.

e Control and economic interest. There is control of a related nonprofit via a majority voting interest
in the board of directors of the other nonprofit by some means other than ownership or sole corpo-
rate membership; there is also an economic interest in the other entity. An economic interest exists
in either of the following situations:

o One nonprofit has significant resources that must be used for the purposes of the other
entity. This use can either be directly for the other entity, or indirectly by generating income
or providing services to the other entity.

o One nonprofit is responsible for the liabilities of the other organization.
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e Economic interest and other means of control. There is an economic interest in the other entity,
combined with some other means of control than was described in the last two bullet points.

e Economic interest or control. There is an economic interest in or control of the other entity, but not
both.

The reporting for interrelated organizations varies, depending upon which of the preceding four conditions
exists. The types of reporting are noted in the following table.

Types of Accounting for Affiliated Organizations

Type of Relationship Reporting Required

Ownership Consolidate the financial statements of the entities. However, if the ma-
jority owner or sole corporate member does not have control, do not con-
solidate. This can happen when supermajority voting is required to such
an extent that control does not exist, or when the other entity is in bank-
ruptcy.

Control and economic interest Consolidate the financial statements of the entities, unless the holder of
the majority voting interest does not have control. A majority voting in-
terest exists when a nonprofit has the direct or indirect ability to appoint a
sufficient number of individuals to constitute a majority of the votes of a
board of directors.

Economic interest and other means Consolidation is permitted, but not required. Other means of control in-
of control clude an affiliation agreement. Consolidation is encouraged if doing so
would be meaningful.

Economic interest or control Do not consolidate the financial statements of the entities.

When the required reporting refers to a consolidation, this means that the financial statements of the entities
are merged, net of any transactions there may be between the organizations. This usually means that all
inter-entity receivables and payables are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements, since an
organization cannot be liable to itself for any receivables. Also, if one of the consolidating entities contrib-
utes funds to the other entity, the inter-entity contribution revenue and expense must be eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements; otherwise, the consolidated statement of activities would be counting
revenues that the entity has paid to itself.

Note: Consolidated financial statements should report all asset and net asset restrictions that were reported
in the financial statements of the individual entities. Thus, if a subsidiary reports $25,000 of net assets with
donor restrictions, this same designation should carry forward into the statement of financial position of the
consolidated entity.

Tip: A significant concern for a nonprofit is whether the financial statements of another entity with which
its financial statements are being consolidated have been audited. If not, the nonprofit’s auditors will be
unable to render an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, which could be a major issue if those
statements are needed for fundraising or grant reporting purposes.

A nonprofit that is a general partner of a for-profit limited partnership is presumed to control a for-profit
limited partnership, irrespective of the extent of that ownership interest, unless the presumption of control
is overcome. As such, the nonprofit should consolidate its results with those of the limited partnership. The
presumption of control can be overcome if the limited partners either have substantive kick-out rights or
substantive participating rights. The kick-out rights must be exercisable via a simple majority vote of the
limited partners.
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Special Purpose Entities

A nonprofit may engage in leasing transactions with a special purpose entity (SPE). An SPE is a legal entity
created to fulfill a specific objective, which is usually to separate an organization from a certain type of
risk. Thus, a nonprofit might create an SPE to own a large asset, such as a building, which the nonprofit
then leases from the SPE. When a nonprofit is engaged in leasing transactions with an SPE, it may be
necessary to consolidate the financial statements of the two entities. If all of the following conditions exist,
consolidation is mandated:

e Asset usage. Substantially all SPE assets are leased to a single entity.

o Risks. Expected residual risks and rewards associated with the leased assets, as well as the obliga-
tion imposed by the underlying SPE debt reside with the lessee through the lease agreements, re-
sidual value guarantees, a guarantee of the SPE’s debt, or an option to grant the lessee the right to
either purchase leased assets at non-fair value prices or receive sale proceeds over a certain amount.

e Investment. The owner of record of the SPE has not made a substantive equity investment that has
been at risk during the lease term. If this owner is not an independent third party, the condition is
considered to have been met.

The preceding conditions are intended to prove that the nonprofit and the SPE are essentially the same
entity for consolidation purposes. If these conditions are met, consolidation shall aggregate the assets, lia-
bilities, results of operations, and cash flows of the SPE into those of the nonprofit.

Noncontrolling Interests

When combining the financial statements of a subsidiary with its parent organization, report noncontrolling
interests (also known as a minority interest) in the net assets section of the statement of financial position
of the consolidated entity. A noncontrolling interest is that portion of net assets in a subsidiary that cannot
be attributed to the parent entity. This interest is to be clearly identified and described sufficiently to distin-
guish it from the ownership interest of the parent entity. An example of the presentation of a noncontrolling
interest appears in the following statement of financial position:

Archimedes Education
Statement of Financial Position
As of April 30, 20X1

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $25,000 Accounts payable $12,000
Accounts and pledges receivable 63,000 Accrued expenses 5,000
Prepaid expenses 5,000 Grants payable 14,000
Investments 10,000 Deferred revenue 8,000
Fixed assets 180,000 Debt 10,000
Net assets:
Net assets without donor restrictions 214,000
Noncontrolling interests in Subsidiary ABC 20,000
Total assets $283,000 Total liabilities and net assets $283,000
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Related Parties

A nonprofit may do business with a variety of parties with which it has a close association, where these
parties can exercise control over or at least significantly influence the decisions made by the nonprofit.
These individuals or organizations are known as related parties. Examples of related parties are:

Affiliates

Other subsidiaries under common control

Owners of the business, its managers, and their families
The parent entity

Trusts for the benefit of employees

There are many types of transactions that can be conducted between related parties, such as sales, asset
transfers, leases, lending arrangements, guarantees, allocations of common costs, and the filing of consoli-
dated tax returns. For example:

o The executive director personally owns office space, and leases it to the nonprofit at a below-market
lease rate.

e An affiliate raises money on behalf of the nonprofit.

e An affiliate shares many of the same members of the nonprofit’s board of directors.

The reimbursement of expenses is not considered a related party transaction. For example, members of the
board of directors are routinely reimbursed for the cost of their travel to board meetings. This is not a related
party event. Similarly, the payment of compensation to an employee of a nonprofit is not considered a
related party transaction.

The disclosure of related party information (as noted in the following section) is considered useful to
the readers of a nonprofit’s financial statements, particularly in regard to the examination of changes in
financial results and financial position over time, and in comparison to the same information for other or-
ganizations.

Disclosures

This section describes a number of disclosures that a nonprofit may have to include in the notes accompa-
nying its financial statements, depending on the circumstances.

Revenue Sharing

Nonprofits may agree to share their revenues. If so, the entity collecting the revenue will have a liability to
pay over some portion of the revenues to the other nonprofit. This liability should be disclosed.

Consolidated Financial Statements

When it is necessary to present consolidated financial statements, disclose any restrictions made by third
parties on distributions from the subsidiary to the parent, as well as the amount of assets affected by the
restriction.

A nonprofit may control another entity through a form other than majority ownership and has an eco-
nomic interest in the entity. If the nonprofit does not present consolidated financial statements, it must
disclose the following:

o Identify the other entity and state the nature of the relationship between the two entities that results
in control by the nonprofit.
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Summarize financial information for the controlled entity, including its total assets, liabilities, net
assets, revenues, and expenses, as well as any resources held for the benefit of the reporting entity
or which are under its control.

Disclose all of the items noted later in this section for related party transactions.

Noncontrolling Interests

If there is a noncontrolling interest in a consolidated subsidiary, include in the financial statements a sched-
ule of changes in consolidated net assets that are attributable to the parent and the noncontrolling interest.
This schedule reconciles the beginning and ending balances of the controlling and noncontrolling interests
for each class of net assets. The schedule should at least include the following line items, if they exist:

Amounts of discontinued operations

Changes in ownership interests in the subsidiary, which includes incoming investments and out-
going distributions associated with noncontrolling interests

The aggregate amount of all other changes in net assets without donor restrictions and with donor
restrictions during the period

An example of such a disclosure is:

Archimedes Education
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Changes in Consolidated Net Assets without Donor Restrictions Attributable to Archimedes
and Transfers (to) from the Noncontrolling Interest
Year Ended December 31, 20X2

Controlling Noncontrolling

Total Interest Interest
Balance January 1, 20X2 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $0
Excess of revenues over expenses from 42,000 37.800 4,200

continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of tax -20,000 -18,000 -2,000
Sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling

shareholders 110,000 - 110,000
Change in net assets 132,000 19,800 112,200
Balance December 31, 20X2 1,132,000 1,019,800 112,200

Related Party Transactions

In general, any related party transaction should be disclosed that would impact the decision making of the
users of a nonprofit’s financial statements. This involves the following disclosures:

General. Disclose all material related party transactions, including the nature of the relationship,
the nature of the transactions, the dollar amounts of the transactions, the amounts due to or from
related parties and the settlement terms (including tax-related balances), and the method by which
any current and deferred tax expense is allocated to the members of a group.

Control relationship. Disclose the nature of any control relationship where the organization and
other entities are under common ownership or management control, and this control could yield
results different from what would be the case if the other entities were not under similar control,
even if there are no transactions between the organizations.

Receivables. Separately disclose any receivables from officers, employees, or affiliated entities.
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Depending on the transactions, it may be acceptable to aggregate some related party information by type of
transaction. Also, it may be necessary to disclose the name of a related party, if doing so is required to
understand the relationship.

When disclosing related party information, do not state or imply that the transactions were on an arm’s-
length basis, unless the claim can be substantiated.

Note: It is not necessary to report related party transactions when those transactions were eliminated as part
of the consolidation of the financial statements of a nonprofit and another entity.

Summary

The main point of this chapter was to define those circumstances under which organizations are so closely
affiliated that their financial statements should be consolidated. There are other circumstances where con-
solidation is not necessary, but the entities have a close working relationship where one entity raises funds
on behalf of another organization. See the Revenue Accounting chapter for more information about these
pass-through funding arrangements.

There may be situations in which a nonprofit has a more modest financial interest in another entity,
while exercising some level of control over it. If so, the appropriate accounting may involve use of the
equity method, which is described in the Investment Accounting chapter.

The concept of related parties is not a minor one, for it is extremely common in the nonprofit arena. It
is quite likely that there will be several related parties that interact with a nonprofit on a regular basis. If so,
the accountant must identify these situations and be sure to disclose them properly in the notes accompa-
nying the financial statements.
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Review Questions

1. The following are examples of related parties, except for:

a. Managers of the business

b. Employees

c. Other subsidiaries under common control
d. Affiliates

2. The following is an example of a transaction occurring between related parties:

a

b,
C.
d.

Compensation paid to the executive director

The lease of office space by the executive director to a nonprofit
Reimbursement of an expense report submitted by a board director
A commission paid to the development director
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Chapter 17
Mergers and Acquisitions

Learning Objectives

Recognize the situations in which the carryover and acquisition methods are used, and whether goodwill or
an inherent contribution can be recorded for an acquisition transaction.

Introduction

A nonprofit may elect to engage in a merger or acquisition transaction, where it combines operations with
or entirely takes over another entity. The accounting for a merger is not especially complex, while there are
substantially more rules governing how to account for an acquisition. In addition, there are a large number
of disclosures required, particularly for an acquisition. In this chapter, we define mergers and acquisitions,
describe how to account for them, present the outcome in the financial statements, and make a number of
related disclosures. We also describe how to test for the impairment of goodwill; goodwill is a result of
some acquisition transactions.

The Nonprofit Merger

When there is a merger of nonprofit entities, a new nonprofit entity is created. A merger occurs when the
existing entities cede control to a new nonprofit. The carryover method is used to account for this event.
Under the carryover method, the assets and liabilities of the merged entities are combined as of the merger
date; this is the date on which the merger transaction becomes effective.

There are several adjustments required to the combination of the assets and liabilities of the merging
entities in order to create properly merged financial statements. The adjustments are:

e Contract modifications. If a merger transaction will alter the terms of a contract, adjust the classi-
fication of the impacted asset or liability to match the state of the altered contract.

e Reclassifications. If the entities are using different methods to account for their assets and liabili-
ties, adjust the impacted items to reflect a consistent method of accounting. This does not mean that
the merged entity can revise accounting options that were restricted to the initial acquisition or
recognition of an item. For example, if the fair value option (see the Fair Value chapter) was orig-
inally taken for an asset, this option cannot be revoked by the merged entity.

e Intra-entity transactions. If there were any transactions between the merging entities prior to the
merger transaction, remove these intra-entity transactions from the merged assets, liabilities, and
net assets.

When accounting for a merger, it is not permissible to recognize any new assets or liabilities, such as inter-
nally-developed intangible assets, which may be allowed under an acquisition transaction (see the next
section).

A merged entity is considered a new entity, so it does not report any activities prior to the merger date.
The beginning financial statements of the entity incorporate the adjustments just noted for the effects of
contract modifications, reclassifications, and intra-entity transactions.
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The Nonprofit Acquisition

An acquisition occurs when one entity obtains control over another entity. When there is an acquisition of
an entity by a nonprofit, the acquisition method is used to account for the event. This method requires the
following steps:

1.

Identify the acquirer. The entity that gains control of the acquiree is the acquirer. Control refers to
the ability to determine the direction of the management and policies of an entity through owner-
ship, contracts, or other means. Several indicators of control are:

e The ability to dominate the process of selecting the management team of the resulting en-
tity.

e The ability to dominate the process of selecting the governing body of the resulting entity.

e When the resulting entity continues to use the mission statement and legal name of the
acquirer.

Determine the acquisition date. The acquisition date is when the acquirer gains control of the ac-
quiree, which is typically the closing date. When a nonprofit is gaining control of another entity
with sole corporate membership, the acquisition date is the date on which the acquiring nonprofit
becomes the sole corporate member of the acquiree.

Recognize and measure all assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These measurements should be
at the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities as of the acquisition date.

Recognize any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. The amount recognized should be the fair
value of the noncontrolling interest.

Recognize and measure any goodwill or contribution received. See the Goodwill Calculation and
Contribution Received sub-sections for a discussion of goodwill and inherent contributions re-
ceived. However, if the operations of the acquiree are predominantly supported by contributions
and returns on investment, record a separate charge in the statement of activities, rather than re-
cording goodwill.

EXAMPLE

Polio Containment acquires African Helicopter for consideration of $2,500,000. On the acquisition date, the net iden-
tifiable assets of African Helicopter total $2,100,000. Polio acquires African with the intent of using its helicopters to
transport doctors to distant locations to administer polio vaccinations. The operating costs of African are expected to
be predominantly supported by contributions from donors. The following statement of activities shows how Polio
Containment might record the excess of consideration transferred over net assets acquired.

Polio Containment
Statement of Activities
August 31, 20X4

Net Assets without Net Assets with

Donor Restrictions Donor Restrictions Totals
Revenue $10,000,000 $2,500,000 $12,500,000
Net assets released from restrictions 3,250,000 -3,250,000 -
Total revenue $13,250,000 -$750,000 $12,500,000
Expenses -12,200,000 -- -12,200,000
00000 S
Change in net assets $650,000 -$750,000 -$100,000
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Note: The use of a separate charge in the statement of activities rather than the recognition of a goodwill
asset is quite likely in nonprofits, where many organizations rely upon contributions as their principal form
of revenue.

One scenario that can result in some modification of the preceding accounting treatment is the step acqui-
sition. In this situation, a nonprofit may already own a minority interest in another entity, and then acquires
an additional equity interest at a later date that results in an acquisition event. In this situation, the acquirer
measures the fair value of its existing equity interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date, and recognizes
a gain or loss at that time.

There are a number of additional issues that can affect the accounting for an acquisition, as outlined
below:

e Consideration transferred. There may be situations in which the nonprofit acquirer transfers con-
sideration to either the former owner of the acquiree, or to another party designated by the former
owner. If the consideration transferred has a carrying amount different from its fair value, the ac-
quirer is to recognize a gain or loss based on the difference between the carrying amount and fair
value. However, if the transferred assets remain within the control of the combined organization
after the acquisition, no gain or loss is to be recognized.

e Contingent consideration. Some portion of the consideration paid to the owners of the acquiree
may be contingent upon future events or circumstances. If the consideration paid is with assets or
liabilities, remeasure these items at their fair values until such time as the related consideration has
been fully resolved, and recognize the related changes in the statement of activities.

e Provisional accounting. If the accounting for an acquisition is incomplete at the end of a reporting
period, report provisional amounts, and later adjust these amounts to reflect information that existed
as of the acquisition date.

¢ New information. If new information becomes available about issues that existed at the acquisition
date concerning the acquiree, adjust the recordation of assets and liabilities, as appropriate.

EXAMPLE

Polio Containment acquires Sub-Saharan Doctors on December 31, 20X3. Polio hires an independent appraiser to
value Sub-Saharan, but does not expect a valuation report for three months. In the meantime, Polio issues its December
31 financial statements with a provisional fair value of $4,500,000 for the acquisition. Three months later, the appraiser
reports a valuation of $4,750,000 as of the acquisition date, based on an unexpectedly high valuation for a number of
fixed assets.

In Polio’s March 31 financial statements, it retrospectively adjusts the prior-year information to increase the carrying
amount of fixed assets by $250,000, as well as to reduce the amount of goodwill by the same amount.

Any changes to the initial accounting for an acquisition must be offset against the recorded amount of
goodwill. These changes to the initial provisional amounts should be recorded retrospectively, as though
all accounting for the acquisition had been finalized at the acquisition date.

The measurement period during which the recordation of an acquisition may be adjusted ends as soon
as the acquirer receives all remaining information concerning issues existing as of the acquisition date, not
to exceed one year from the acquisition date.

The acquirer will probably incur a number of costs related to an acquisition, such as fees for valuations,
legal advice, accounting services, and finder’s fees. These costs are to be charged to expense as incurred.
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Identifiable Assets and Liabilities, and Noncontrolling Interests

When the acquirer recognizes an acquisition transaction, it should recognize identifiable assets and liabili-
ties separately from goodwill, and at their fair values as of the acquisition date. The following special situ-
ations also apply:

o No asset or liability is recognized in relation to an acquired operating lease in which the acquiree
is the lessee, except to the extent of any favorable or unfavorable lease feature relative to market
terms, or the willingness of third parties to acquire a lease even at market rates.

o Do not include any costs that the acquirer expects to incur in the future, but is not obligated to incur
in relation to the acquiree, such as possible employee relocation costs.

It is entirely possible that the acquirer will recognize assets and liabilities that the acquiree had never rec-
orded in its own accounting records. In particular, the acquirer will likely assign value to a variety of intan-
gible assets that the acquiree may have developed internally, and so was constrained by GAAP from rec-
ognizing as assets. Examples of intangible assets appear in the following exhibit.

Examples of Intangible Assets

Broadcast rights Internet domain names Noncompetition agreements
Computer software Lease agreements Order backlog

Customer lists Licensing agreements Patented technology
Customer relationships Literary works Pictures

Employment contracts Motion pictures Service contracts

Franchise agreements Musical works Trademarks

A key intangible asset for which GAAP does not allow separate recognition is the concept of the assembled
workforce, which is the collected knowledge and experience of an organization’s employees. It is also not
allowable to recognize an intangible asset for donor relationships. These intangibles must be included in
the goodwill asset.

The accounting treatment for special cases related to the recognition of assets and liabilities is as fol-
lows:

e Collections. When the acquiring nonprofit has a policy of not recognizing collections as fixed as-
sets, it cannot recognize the fair value of the collections of the acquiree. Instead, the acquirer must
recognize the cost of the collection items purchased as a reduction in the related class of net assets,
as well as a cash outflow for investing activities in the statement of cash flows.

e Conditional promises to give. A conditional promise to give is not recognized as of the acquisition
date unless the conditions associated with the promise have been substantially met. If the conditions
have not been met but assets have been transferred to the nonprofit, the assets are treated as a
refundable advance (which is a liability).

e Contingency fair value not determinable. It is quite common for a contingent asset or liability to
not be measurable on the acquisition date, since these items have not yet been resolved. If so, only
recognize them if the amount can be reasonably estimated, and events during the measurement
period confirm that an asset or liability existed at the acquisition date.

o Defined benefit pension plan. If the acquiree sponsored a defined benefit pension plan, the acquirer
should recognize an asset or liability that reflects the funding status of that plan.

o Indemnification clause. The seller of the acquiree may agree to an indemnification clause in the
acquisition agreement, whereby it will indemnify the acquirer for changes in the value of certain
assets or liabilities, such as for unusual bad debt losses from receivables in existence at the
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acquisition date. In these cases, the seller recognizes an indemnification asset when it recognizes a
loss on an item to be indemnified; this should be retrospectively applied as of the acquisition date.

Tip: Realistically, if the accountant is still attempting to establish a valuation for assets and liabilities more
than a few months after an acquisition, they probably had no value at the acquisition date, and so should
not be recognized as part of the acquisition.

Acquired assets and liabilities are supposed to be measured at their fair values as of the acquisition date.
Fair value measurement can be quite difficult, and may call for different valuation approaches, as noted
below:

o Alternative use assets. Even if the acquirer does not intend to apply an asset to its best use (or use
the asset at all), the fair value of the asset should still be derived as though it were being applied to
its best use.

e Assets where acquiree is the lessor. If the acquiree owns assets that it leases to a third party (such
as a building lease), derive fair values for these assets in the normal manner, irrespective of the
existence of the lease.

e Fair value exceptions. There are exceptions to the general rule of recognizing acquired assets and
liabilities at their fair values. The GAAP related to the recognition of income taxes, employee ben-
efits, indemnification assets, reacquired rights, share-based awards, assets held for sale, and certain
contingency situations override the use of fair value.

e Valuation allowances. Some assets, such as receivables and inventory, are normally paired with a
valuation allowance. The valuation allowance is not used when deriving fair values for these assets,
since the fair value should already incorporate a valuation allowance.

A few assets and liabilities that are initially measured as part of an acquisition require special accounting
during subsequent periods. These items are:

e Contingencies. If an asset or liability was originally recognized as part of an acquisition, derive a
systematic and consistently-applied approach to measuring it in future periods.

¢ Indemnifications. Reassess all indemnification assets and the loss items with which they are paired
in each subsequent reporting period, and adjust the recorded amounts as necessary until the indem-
nifications are resolved.

e Reacquired rights. An acquirer may regain control over a legal right that it had extended to the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date. If these reacquired rights were initially recognized as an in-
tangible asset as part of the acquisition accounting, amortize the asset over the remaining period of
the contract that the acquiree had with the acquirer.

o Leasehold improvements. If the acquirer acquires leasehold improvement assets as part of an ac-
quisition, amortize them over the lesser of the useful life of the assets or the remaining reasonably
assured lease periods and renewals.

Tip: The amortization period for leasehold improvements may be a significant issue for the acquirer, if it
intends to shut down acquiree leases as soon as practicable. Doing so may accelerate the recognition of
leasehold improvement assets.

Goodwill Calculation

Goodwill is an intangible asset that represents the future benefits arising from assets acquired in a business
combination that are not otherwise identified. Goodwill is a common element in acquisition transactions,
since the owners of acquirees generally do not part with their businesses unless they are paid a premium.
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The acquirer must recognize goodwill as an asset as of the acquisition date. The goodwill calculation
is as follows:

Goodwill = (Consideration paid + Fair value of noncontrolling interest + Fair value of acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree) — (Assets acquired — Liabilities assumed)

If no consideration is transferred in an acquisition transaction, use a valuation method to determine the fair
value of the acquirer’s interest in the acquiree as a replacement value.

When the acquirer transfers its assets to the owners of the acquiree as payment for the acquiree, measure
this consideration at its fair value. If there is a difference between the fair value and carrying amount of
these assets as of the acquisition date, record a gain or loss to reflect the difference. However, if these assets
are simply being transferred to the acquiree entity (which the acquirer now controls), do not restate these
assets to their fair value; this means there is no recognition of a gain or loss.

Contribution Received

When an acquirer gains control of an acquiree whose fair value is greater than the consideration paid for it,
the acquirer is said to have received an inherent contribution; this would be known as a bargain purchase
if the acquirer had instead been a for-profit entity. The amount of the inherent contribution received is
derived from the same calculation already noted for goodwill in the last sub-section.

A contribution received transaction most commonly arises when an entity must be sold due to a liquidity
crisis, where the short-term nature of the sale tends to result in a less-than-optimum sale price from the
perspective of the owners of the acquiree. An inherent contribution received is accounted for as the excess
of assets acquired over liabilities assumed, but only if all of the following criteria are met:

e There is no noncontrolling interest in the acquiree.
e The acquisition was achieved in a single stage; it was not a multi-stage transaction.
¢ No consideration was transferred.

Presentation Issues

The acquirer includes the financial statements of an acquiree as of the period in which the acquisition takes
place. Any acquiree revenues and expenses from prior periods are not included in the acquirer’s financial
statements.

If the circumstances of the acquisition mandate that goodwill cannot be recognized, goodwill is instead
recorded in the statement of activities in a separate line item, such as “excess of consideration paid over net
assets acquired in acquisition of [entity name]”. If the liabilities acquired are greater than the assets ac-
quired, then the line item name might instead be “excess of liabilities assumed over assets acquired in
acquisition of [entity name]”.

If there is an inherent contribution received as a result of an acquisition, this amount is reported in a
separate line item in the statement of activities. Possible names for the line item are “contribution received
in donation of [entity name]” or “excess of fair value of net assets acquired over consideration paid in
acquisition of [entity name]”. The inherent contribution received may increase the balance in either of the
net asset line items (with or without donor restrictions), depending on the restrictions imposed on the net
assets of the acquiree by donors.

The acquirer should report as an investing activity in the statement of cash flows the aggregate amount
of any net cash flow related to an acquisition, which shall be comprised of any cash consideration paid, less
any cash acquired. An example of the text that might be used in the statement of cash flows is:

Payment for acquisition of [acquiree name], net of cash acquired BXXKX, XXX
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Goodwill Amortization Option

A nonprofit is allowed to amortize goodwill on a straight-line basis over a ten-year useful life. The entity
may amortize goodwill over a shorter period if it can demonstrate that a shorter useful life is more appro-
priate. If a nonprofit chooses to amortize goodwill, it must still test the goodwill asset for impairment at
either the entity or reporting unit level. This test is triggered when there is an event that indicates a possible
decline in the entity’s or reporting unit’s fair value to a point below its carrying amount. If an impairment
loss is recognized, then any remaining carrying amount is to be amortized over its remaining useful life.

The amortization of goodwill will eventually reduce the carrying amount of an organization’s goodwill
asset so much that goodwill impairment will be quite unlikely, thereby reducing the need to spend time on
such testing.

Goodwill Testing

After goodwill has initially been recorded as an asset, do not amortize it. Instead, test it for impairment at
the reporting unit level. Impairment exists when the carrying amount of the goodwill is greater than its
implied fair value.

A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment. At a more
practical level, a reporting unit is a separate business for which the parent compiles financial information,
and for which management reviews the results. If several components of an operating segment have similar
economic characteristics, they can be combined into a reporting unit. In a smaller organization, it is entirely
possible that one reporting unit could be an entire operating segment, or even the entire entity.

The examination of goodwill for the possible existence of impairment involves a multi-step process,
which is:

1. Assess qualitative factors. Review the situation to see if it is necessary to conduct further impair-
ment testing, which is considered to be a likelihood of more than 50% that impairment has occurred,
based on an assessment of relevant events and circumstances. Examples of relevant events and
circumstances that make it more likely that impairment is present are the deterioration of macroe-
conomic conditions, increased costs, declining cash flows, possible bankruptcy, and a change in
management. If impairment appears to be likely, continue with the impairment testing process. It
is possible to bypass this step and proceed straight to the next step.

2. ldentify potential impairment. Compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount.
Be sure to include goodwill in the carrying amount of the reporting unit, and also consider the
presence of any significant unrecognized intangible assets. If the fair value is greater than the car-
rying amount of the reporting unit, there is no goodwill impairment, and there is no need to proceed
to the next step. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, proceed to the
next step to calculate the amount of the impairment loss.

These steps are illustrated in the following flowchart.
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Goodwill Impairment Decision Steps

Review the need for
impairment testing
for a reporting unit

More likely
than not that fair
value is less than
carrying
amount?

Yes
\ 4

Calculate fair value
of reporting unit and
compare to carrying

amount

Fair value less than
carrying amount of
reporting unit?

Yes

\ 4 ¢

Recognized
impairment = fair
value — carrying
amount of goodwill

Stop

The fair value of the reporting unit is assumed to be the price that the organization would receive if it were
to sell the unit in an orderly transaction (i.e., not a rushed sale) between market participants. Other alterna-
tives to the quoted market price for a reporting unit may be acceptable, such as a valuation based on multi-
ples of earnings or revenue.

The following additional issues are associated with goodwill impairment testing:

o Asset and liability assignment. Assign acquired assets and liabilities to a reporting unit if they
relate to the operations of the unit and they will be considered in the determination of reporting
unit fair value. If these criteria can be met, even corporate-level assets and liabilities can be
assigned to a reporting unit. If some assets and liabilities could be assigned to multiple reporting
units, assign them in a reasonable manner (such as an allocation based on the relative fair values
of the reporting units), consistently applied.

170



Mergers & Acquisitions

Asset recognition. It is not allowable to recognize an additional intangible asset as part of the
process of evaluating goodwill impairment.

Goodwill assignment. All of the goodwill acquired in a business combination must be assigned
to one or several reporting units as of the acquisition date, and not shifted among the reporting
units thereafter. The assignment should be in a reasonable manner, consistently applied. If
goodwill is to be assigned to a reporting unit that has not been assigned any acquired assets or
liabilities, the assignment could be based on the difference between the fair value of the report-
ing unit before and after the acquisition, which represents the improvement in value caused by
goodwill.

Impairment estimation. If it is probable that there is goodwill impairment and the amount can
be reasonably estimated, despite the testing process not being complete when financial state-
ments are issued, recognize the estimated amount of the impairment. The estimate should be
adjusted to the final impairment amount in the following reporting period.

No reversal. Once impairment of goodwill has been recorded, it cannot be reversed, even if the
condition originally causing the impairment is no longer present.

Reporting structure reorganization. If a nonprofit reorganizes its reporting units, reassign as-
sets and liabilities to the new reporting units based on a reasonable methodology, consistently
applied. Goodwill should be reassigned based on the relative fair values of the portions of the
old reporting unit to be integrated into the new reporting units.

Reporting unit disposal. If a reporting unit is disposed of, include the goodwill associated with
that unit in determining any gain or loss on the transaction. If only a portion of a reporting unit
is disposed of, associate some of the goodwill linked to the reporting unit to the portion being
disposed of, based on the relative fair values of the portions being disposed of and retained.
Then test the remaining amount of goodwill assigned to the residual portion of the reporting
unit for impairment.

EXAMPLE

Polio Containment is selling off a portion of a reporting unit for $500,000. The remaining portion of the unit, which
Polio is retaining, has a fair value of $1,500,000. Based on these values, 25% of the goodwill associated with the
reporting unit should be included in the carrying amount of the portion being sold.

Reporting unit disposal, minority owner. If a nonprofit has less than complete ownership of a re-
porting unit, attribute any impairment losses to the parent entity and the noncontrolling interest in
the reporting unit on a rational basis. However, if the reporting unit includes goodwill that is at-
tributable to the parent entity, attribute the loss entirely to the parent, not the noncontrolling interest.
Subsidiary goodwill impairment testing. Any goodwill recognized by a subsidiary should be dealt
with in the same manner described elsewhere in this section for the impairment of goodwill. If there
is a goodwill impairment loss at the subsidiary level, also test the reporting unit of which that sub-
sidiary is a part for goodwill impairment, if the triggering event is more likely than not to have also
reduced the fair value of that reporting unit below its carrying amount.

Taxable transaction. As part of the fair value estimation, determine whether the reporting unit could
be bought or sold in a taxable or non-taxable transaction, since this affects its fair value.

Impairment testing is to be conducted at annual intervals. The impairment test may be conducted at any
time of the year, provided that the test is conducted thereafter at the same time of the year. If the nonprofit
is comprised of different reporting units, there is no need to test them all at the same time.
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Tip: Each reporting unit is probably subject to a certain amount of seasonal activity. If so, select a period
when activity levels are at their lowest to conduct impairment testing, so it does not conflict with other
activities. Impairment testing should not coincide with the annual audit.

It may be necessary to conduct more frequent impairment testing if there is an event that makes it more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit has been reduced below its carrying amount. Examples
of triggering events are a lawsuit, regulatory changes, the loss of key employees, and the expectation that a
reporting unit will be sold.

The information used for an impairment test can be quite detailed. To improve the efficiency of the
testing process, it is permissible to carry forward this information to the next year, as long as the following
criteria have been met:

e There has been no significant change in the assets and liabilities comprising the reporting unit.
e There was a substantial excess of fair value over the carrying amount in the last impairment test.
e The likelihood of the fair value being less than the carrying amount is remote.

Disclosures

The disclosures for merger transactions vary from those required for acquisition transactions, so we have
separated their respective disclosure requirements into two sub-sections.

Merger Disclosures

In general, the new entity resulting from a merger transaction shall disclose information in its financial
statements that allow readers to evaluate the nature and financial effect of the transaction. To do so, the
following disclosures are needed:

e The name and description of the entities that were merged
e The date of the merger
e The reasons for the merger
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o For each merged entity, the amounts on the merger date of each major class of assets, liabilities,
and net assets, as well as the nature and amounts of any other significant assets or liabilities not
recognized; examples are conditional promises receivable and payable. For example:

Major Classes of Assets
September 1, 20X3

Merged

Entity A Entity B Entity
Assets
Cash $150,000 $75,000 $225,000
Contributions receivable 320,000 190,000 510,000
Fixed assets 95,000 62,000 157,000
Long-term investments 400,000 275,000 675,000
Total assets $965,000 $602,000 $1,567,000
Liabilities
Accounts payable $120,000 $85,000 $205,000
Grants payable 200,000 -- 200,000
Long-term debt -- 50,000 50,000
Net assets
Without donor restrictions 445,000 200,000 645,000
With donor restrictions 200,000 267,000 467,000
Total liabilities and net assets $965,000 $602,000 $1,567,000

e The nature and amount of any significant adjustments made to eliminate intra-entity transactions
or to standardize accounting policies.

e If the new entity is publicly-held, and the merger does not occur at the beginning of its fiscal year,
disclose revenue and changes in all types of net assets as though the merger had taken place at the
beginning of the year. If the entity is also providing comparative information for prior years, this
additional information is to be provided for the prior years. If it is impracticable to provide this
additional information, explain why.

An example containing the first three of these disclosures is:

Armonk Training was formed on September 1, 20X3, as the result of the merger of two nonprofit
entities — Armonk Specialized Education and Armonk Rural Training. Both entities shared similar
missions, to provide trade school training to minors. Through their merger, the entities expect to
expand upon their similar missions by increasing the region over which they provide services. They
also expect to reduce management and administration costs by combining their overhead structures.
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Acquisition Disclosures

The acquisitions topic is one of the areas in which GAAP requires unusually thorough disclosures. Disclo-
sures are as follows:

The name and description of the acquiree

The date of the acquisition

The percentage of voting equity interests acquired by the acquirer

The main reasons for the transaction, as well as how the acquirer obtained control over the acquiree
If there were any transactions recognized separately from the acquisition of assets and assumption
of liabilities, describe each transaction, note how it was accounted for, the amounts recognized, and
the line items in which the amounts are recognized. If the transaction settles a preexisting relation-
ship, describe how the settlement amount was derived. Also note the amount of any acquisition-
related costs, the amount of this cost recognized as expense, and the statement of activities line
items in which the expenses are recognized. Also note any issuance costs not recognized as ex-
pense, and how they were treated.

If the acquisition was achieved in stages, disclose the following:

o The fair value of the acquirer’s equity interest in the acquiree just before the acquisition
date.

o Any gain or loss recognized on the fair value remeasurement of the acquirer’s equity inter-
est in the acquiree immediately before the acquisition, and the line item in the statement of
activities where this gain or loss is recognized.

o The valuation method used to determine the fair value of the acquirer’s equity interest in
the acquiree immediately before the acquisition.

o Additional information that enables readers to assess the inputs used to calculate the fair
value of the acquirer’s equity interest in the acquiree immediately before the acquisition.

A number of descriptive disclosures are also required that deal with the reasons why an acquisition
was completed. These disclosures are:

o A description of the elements that comprise recognized goodwill or the separate charge in
the statement of activities that takes the place of goodwill. Examples are expected synergies
from the combination and intangible assets that could not be separately recognized.

o The fair value on the acquisition date of the total consideration paid, by asset class. For
example, this may include cash, liabilities incurred, and intangible assets transferred.

o If there is contingent consideration that may be paid, disclose the amount recognized on
the acquisition date, describe the arrangement and the calculation method, and note the
range of undiscounted possible outcomes or the reason why no range can be calculated.

o The total amount of goodwill that the acquirer expects will be tax-deductible.

o If there is an inherent contribution received resulting from the transaction, note the reasons
for this situation.

o The amount of collection items acquired that have been recognized as a decrease in the
acquirer’s net assets.

o The undiscounted amount of any acquired conditional promises to give, including a de-
scription and aggregate amount for every similar group of promises.

In those situations where the acquisition date falls after the reporting date but before the issuance
of financial statements, the acquirer shall disclose all of the preceding information, unless the trans-
action accounting is not yet complete when the financial statements are issued. If the disclosures
cannot be provided, note the reason why.

174



Mergers & Acquisitions

e If there are any contingent consideration assets or liabilities, continue to disclose the following
information until settlement of these items is achieved:

o Any changes in the recognized amounts.

o Any changes in the undiscounted range of possible outcomes, as well as the reasons for the
changes.

o Information that allows readers to assess the fair values of the contingent items.

e Provide a reconciliation of the beginning and ending carrying amounts of goodwill for each acqui-
sition.

Summary

Clearly, the accounting and related disclosures for an acquisition transaction are quite detailed and complex.
Since the typical nonprofit’s accounting staff may have only occasionally engaged in acquisition transac-
tions, they are likely to have a rusty knowledge of these requirements. Consequently, it can be useful to
engage outside counsel and accounting specialists to assist in the recordation and reporting of acquisitions.
In addition, keep the nonprofit’s auditors apprised of the entries being made, in order to trigger discussions
over any treatments with which the auditors are uncomfortable. Doing so improves the odds of achieving a
fault-free acquisition recordation.
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Review Questions

1. The acquisition method involves the following step:
a. Value the acquiree
b. Sign a letter of intent
c. Determine the acquisition date
d. Settle upon the method of payment

2. If there is no noncontrolling interest, the calculation of goodwill is:
a. Consideration paid
b. Consideration paid — assets acquired + liabilities assumed
c. Consideration paid + assets acquired — liabilities assumed
d. Consideration paid + contingent consideration
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Chapter 18
Nonprofit Tax Reporting

Learning Objectives

State the IRS forms used for various nonprofit tax reporting activities, and the circumstances under which
they must be filed.

Introduction

Most nonprofits are required to file a tax return with the federal government. At a minimum, this return
simply requires the filing of a large amount of information about the entity. In some cases, the filing may
also require a nonprofit to pay income taxes. In addition, tax reporting to the government is also required
when a nonprofit pays its employees. In this chapter, we cover the annual tax reporting and ongoing payroll
reporting required for the United States federal government.

Overview of the Form 990

Nonprofits are required to file some variation on the Form 990 with the IRS each year. The available vari-
ations on the form and the applicability guidelines are as follows:

Form Type Form Name Applicability

Form 990 Return of Organizations Exempt from When gross receipts are greater than or equal to $200,000 or to-
Income Tax tal assets are greater than or equal to $500,000 at the end of the

tax year

Form 990-EZ Short Form Return of Organizations When gross receipts are less than $200,000 and total assets are
Exempt from Income Tax less than $500,000 at the end of the tax year

Form 990-N e-Postcard When gross receipts are $50,000 or less

Form 990-T Exempt Organization Business Income  When there is gross income of $1,000 or more from a regularly
Tax Return conducted unrelated trade or business

Please note that the information in the applicability column in the preceding table is updated by the IRS on
a regular basis, so check the IRS website for the most recent changes.

Several terms were noted in the preceding table that should be clarified. According to the IRS, gross
receipts are the total amounts an organization receives from all sources during its tax year, without sub-
tracting any expenses. Gross income is gross receipts minus the cost of goods sold.

Whenever possible, a nonprofit should use the easier versions of the Form 990, since the filing require-
ments are far less onerous. However, a nonprofit can choose to escalate its reporting to a more comprehen-
sive report. For example, an entity that files a Form 990-N could choose to file a Form 990-EZ or a Form
990. Or, an entity that qualifies to file a Form 990-EZ could choose to file a Form 990. This option might
be taken when a nonprofit wants to provide copies of a more complete tax form to its donors.

It can be quite difficult to complete the financial information in a Form 990 or Form 990-EZ if the
accounting records do not compile information in the manner needed by the IRS. Accordingly, it can make
sense to structure the chart of accounts to closely adhere to the filing requirements of a Form 990. By doing
so, information can be directly transferred from the general ledger to the form. If the IRS subsequently
changes the information needed in the form, this may call for a corresponding change in the chart of ac-
counts.
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Tip: If there are differences between the information stated in a Form 990 and the accounting records
(known as reconciling items), be sure to fully document the amounts of these items and the reasons for
them. Store the documentation with the organization’s copy of the Form 990, so that the backup information
is readily available for examination at a later date.

No matter what type of form is filed, it must be filed no later than the 15" day of the fifth month after the
fiscal year-end of a nonprofit. If a nonprofit is using a calendar year as its fiscal year, this means that the
filing due date is May 15™. A nonprofit can file for an extension of this date by submitting Form 8868,
Application for Extension of Time to File an Exempt Organization Return. Upon receipt of this filing, the
IRS automatically grants a six-month filing extension. The first part of this form appears in the following
exhibit, noting the automatic time extension.

Some version of the Form 990 must be completed, except as noted in the next paragraph. If a nonprofit
neglects to do so for three consecutive tax years, its tax-exempt status will be automatically revoked. Mon-
etary penalties for non-filing may also apply.

There are few instances in which a nonprofit is not required to file any version of a Form 990. The most
common exclusions are for:

e Churches and church-affiliated organizations
e Political organizations

The amount of work required to complete a Form 990 can be substantial, and may leave one wondering
why so much information must be reported. One reason is that the IRS is using the form to affirm whether
a nonprofit deserves its tax exempt status. Another reason is that these forms are made available to the
public, and so provide a major source of information to people interested in a nonprofit. Consequently,
when filling out this form, the second reason may lead a nonprofit to provide a more complete set of infor-
mation, especially if the form might be perused by a potential donor.

178




Nonprofit Tax Reporting

Form 8868 Application for Filing Extension

. aasa Application for Automatic Extension of Time To File an
e sy 2020, Exempt Organization Return R

™ File a separate application for each return.
b of the Tressay b Go to www.irs.gov/Forma868 for the latest information.

Electronic filing (e-file). You can electronically filke Form 8868 to request a 6-month automatic extension of time to file any of the
forms listed below with the exception of Form 8870, Information Return for Transfers Assoclated With Certain Personal Benefit
Contracts, for which an extension request must be sent to the IRS in paper format (see instructions). For more details on the electronic
filing of this form, visit www_irs.gov/e-file-providers/e-file-for-charities-and-non-profits.

Automatic 6-Month Extension of Time. Only submit original (no copies needed).

All corporations required to file an income tax returm other than Form 990-T (including 1120-C filers), partnerships, REMICs, and trusts
must use Form 7004 to request an extension of time to file income tax returns.

Type or Mame of exempt organization or other filer, see instructions. Taxpayer identification number [TIN)

nt

:: by the Mumber, street, and room or suite no. If a P.O. box, see instructions.

e date for

Eﬂﬁ.‘.‘w;;e City, town or post office, state, and ZIP code. For a foreign address, see instructions.

instructions.

Enter the Retum Code for the return that this application is for (file a separate application for each returm) . . . . . . I:D
Application Return | Application Retum
Is For Code | Is For Code
Form 990 or Form 990-EZ 01 Form 990-T {corporation) - 07
Formn 990-BL 02 Form 1041-A L o8
Form 4720 {individual) 03 Form 4720 {other than individual) 09
Form 990-PF 04 Form 5227 10
Form 980-T (sac. 401(a) or 408(a) trust) 05 Form 6069 1
Form 980-T (trust other than abowve) D& Form 8870 12

+ The books are in the care of

Telephone Mo. Fax Mo.
« |f the organization does not have an office or place of business in the United States, check thisbox . . . . . . . . . &[]
+ [f this is for a Group Return, enter the organization's four digit Group Exemption Number (GEM) . If this is
for the whole group, checkthis box . . . m [|.Ifitis for part of the group, check thisbox . . . . m [_| and attach

a list with the names and TINs of all members the extension is for.

1 Irequest an automatic 6-month extension of time untd .20 , 1o file the exempt organization return for
the organization named above. The extension is for the organization's return for:
» || calendar year20 _ or
» [ |tax year beginning .20 _ ,andending 20

2 If the tax year enterad in line 1 is for less than 12 months, check reason: [ | Initial retum [ ] Final retum
|| Change in accounting period

3a If this application is for Forms 990-BL, 990-PF, 990-T, 4720, or 6069, enter the tentative tax, less
any nonrafundable cradits. See instructions. 3a |§

b If thiz application is for Forms 990-PF, 990-T, 4720, or 6069, enter any refundable credits and
estimated tax payments made. Include any prior year overpayment allowad as a credit. 3b |5

¢ Balance due. Subtract line 3b from line 3a. Include your payment with this form, if required, by
uging EFTPS (Electronic Federal Tax Payment System). See instructions. 3c |5

Caution: If you are going to make an electronic funds withdrawal {direct debit) with this Form 8868, see Form 8453-E0 and Form B8T9-EQ for payment
instructions.

For Privacy Act and Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see instructions. Cat. No. 270160 Form B868 mev. 1-2000)
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The Form 990

The Form 990 is an oppressively long and detailed form that must be filed by any nonprofit that has gross
receipts greater than or equal to $200,000 or total assets greater than or equal to $500,000 at the end of the
tax year. The form contains a mix of reporting requirements, ranging from financial results to a checklist
of operational information. The main sections of the form are summarized as follows:

Header. Notes the name, address, employer identification number, contact information, and tax-
exempt status of the entity.

Part I, Summary. Describes the activities of the organization, as well as summaries of its revenue,
expenses, and net assets.

Part Il, Signature block. An officer signs the form, declaring that he or she has examined the return
and asserts that its contents are correct and complete.

Part 111, Statement of Program Service Accomplishments. This section requires an organizational
mission statement, as well as program service accomplishments. The intent of this requirement is
to spot any organizations that gained tax-exempt status under a different mission statement, and
then altered their missions.

Part 1V, Checklist of Required Schedules. This is a checklist of required schedules, which is essen-
tially a reminder list of which additional schedules to complete, based on the circumstances and
organizational structure of the nonprofit.

Part V, Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance. The nonprofit must affirm
that it met a number of tax filing requirements, such as backup withholding rules, and the use of
tax shelters.

Part VI, Governance, Management, and Disclosure. Note the number of directors, their independ-
ence, any changes to governing documents, and so forth.

Part VII, Compensation. Note the compensation paid to officers, directors, trustees, key employees,
and highly compensated employees, as well as separate reporting for independent contractors.
Part VIII, Statement of Revenue. This is a detailed report of all sources of revenue during the re-
porting period.

Part IX, Statement of Functional Expenses. This is a detailed report of all expenses incurred, broken
down by program services, management and administration expenses, and fundraising expenses.
Part X, Balance Sheet. This is a detailed report of all assets, liabilities, and net assets as of the
reporting date.

Part XI, Reconciliation of Net Assets. This is a brief reconciliation that subtracts expenses from
revenues and factors in other reconciling items to arrive at the change in net assets.

Part XII, Financial Statements and Reporting. The nonprofit clarifies the basis of accounting used,
notes whether the financial statements were audited, describes whether it has an audit committee,
and so forth.

The first page of the form is shown in the next exhibit. This page summarizes a large amount of the infor-
mation required by the form, as noted by the multitude of references in the page to information contained
in other parts of the form.
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Nonprofit Tax Reporting

Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax

Dt

-« 990

{Rev. January 2020)

Inbemal Revenus Servics

ol the Treasury

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947(a)[1) of the Internal Revenue Code except private foundations) 2@ 1 9

* Do not enter social security numbers on this form as it may be made public.
» Gio to www.irs.gov/Form390 for instructions and the latest information.

| OME Mo. 1545-D047

Open to Public

Inspection

A For th

[] Addres

B Check il applicable:

7] Mame change

] iritiad return

| Final relumAerminated
] Amendad return

[ Application pending

e 2019 calendar year, or tax year Ehn'ﬂ

, 20118, and endnﬂ

€ Mame of organization

5 Chrge Daing business as

D Employer identification number

Murribar and streel jor P.O. bax if mail is nol delivered 1o Sireel addrass)

Hoomy/Suile

E Telaphang numbes

City or toswn, state or province, coundry, and ZIP or foreign postal code

G Gross recsipls §

F Mame and address of principal efficar

1 Tax-swernpt staius:

[ soiexm RELEN )4 finsertno) || 4847E0) o || 527

4 Wehsita:

Hia) I this & group sstum bor subordinates? || Yes

Hifb) Are all subardinates incuded? [ ves [ Mo
If "Mo," attach a lish. see insructions)

Hie) Greup exemplion Auribar B

LI He

K Form of organization: || Cosporation || Trust || Assoeistion || Otear &

[ L vaar of tomnation:

I M Siate of legal domicile:

Summary

1 Briefly describe the organization's mission or most significant activities:
g
g 2  Check this box # _|if the organization discontinued its operations or disposed of more than 25% of its net assats.
3  Number of voting members of the goveming body (Part VI, lina 1a) . e 3
g 4  Number of independent voting members of the governing body (Part VI, Im& Ib} e 4
2| 5 Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2012 (Part V, line 2a) 5
E 6 Total number of volunteers (estimate if necessary) . &
2 | 7a Total unrelated business revenue from Part VIl column {C] Im& 12 Ta
b Net unrelated business taxable income from Form 990-T, line 39 . b
Priar Year Current Year
8 Contributions and grants (Part VI, line 1h) .
g 9  Program service revenue (Part VIIL, line 2g)
& 10  Investment income (Part VI, column (&), lines 3, 4 zmd ?dJ
11 Other revanue (Part VI, column (A), ines 5, 6d, Bc, 9¢, 10c, and 11a) .
12  Total revenue—add lines 8 through 11 (must equal Part VI, column (&), line 12)
13  Grantz and similar amounts paid (Part [X, column (&), lines 1=3) .
14  Benefits paid to or for mambers (Part [X, column (A), line 4)
E 15  Salaries, other compensation, amployes banefits (Part X, column [A), Ilnss s-m}
e | 16a Professional fundraising fees (Part IX, column (4), line 11a)
ﬁ. b Total fundraizing expenses (Part X, column (D), line 25) »
17 Other expensas (Part [X, column (&), lines 11a-11d, 11f-24e) .
18 Total expensas. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part X, column (A), line 25}
19  Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 18 from line 12 .
L3 Beginning of Current Year End of Year
ii 20 Total assets (Part X, line 16)
‘E 21 Total liabilities (Part X, line 26) .
IE 22  Nat assets or fund balances. Subtract line 21 fmm Ilna 20

Under peralties of perury, | declare that | have sxamined this return, including accompanying schedules and staternemts, and to the best of my knowledge and belef, il is
frue, cormect, and complete. Declarstion of prepaner [other than officer) is based on all information of which preparer has any knowlsdgs.

Sign ’ Signature of officer Date
Here
Type or print name and tile
" PrinlType preparar’s name Preparer's signalune Date Check :| if | PTIM
Paid sell-ernpioyed
P ¥
parer Farrn' 3 Firm's EIN &
USE Gnly WS Fame irm's
Fari's address = Plorie mo.
May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? (see instructions) e e e [ I¥es | |Mo
For Paperwork Reduction Act Motice, see the separate instructions. Cat. M. 11282 Forrn 990 (2019
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The Form 990-EZ

As noted earlier, the Form 990-EZ, the Short Form Return of Organizations Exempt from Income Tax, can
be filed when a nonprofit’s gross receipts are less than $200,000 and total assets are less than $500,000 at
the end of the tax year. This filing is highly recommended, since it is one-third the size of the full Form
990. The main elements of the form are contained within its first two pages, which are reproduced in the
following two exhibits. Though these pages still require a significant amount of work, they represent a
major compression of the reporting requirements of the Form 990. The main emphasis of the 990-EZ is on
reporting the financial results and position of the nonprofit, its service accomplishments, and the compen-
sation of its officers, directors, and contractors.
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Form 990-EZ, Page 1

Short Form | oMB No. 1545-0047
Farm 990-[2 Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax 20419

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4847(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code jexcept private foundations) '_

Open to Public

* Do not enter social security numbers on this form, as it may be made public.

Il ooy 20w | » Go to www.irs.gov/Form890EZ for instructions and the latest information. Inspection
A For the 2019 calendar yeEr, or tax year inning + 2019, and ending
B Cheok if appiicanie: G Mdme of arganization D Employer identification number E
[] Adress change
Mama change Mumber and sireet [or P.O. box @ mail is nol delivered to street address) g Aoomifzule | E Telephane number
Ll nitiat retuem
| Final retumAerminated

Jrianschadt ralam City ar bown, stabte or pravince, sounltry, and ZIP or forsign postal code F Group Exemption
] Appiication pending Number E
G Accounting Method: || Cash || Accrual  Other (specify) » H Check ® |_|if the organization is not
| Website: » required to attach Schedule B E
J Tax-exempt status (check only ong) — || 501jc)i) || 5014c) ( ) o (insest no) || 4947(a)1) or 527 (Form 90, 990-EZ, or 930-PF).
K Form of organization: || Corporation || Trust [ | Association [ Other
L Add lines 5b, Gz, and Tb to line 9 to determine gross receipts. I gross receipts are 200,000 or more, or if total assets
{Part Il, column (B)) are $500,000 or maore, file Form 980 instead of Form 990-EZ . . . Ll
m Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets or Fund Elalances fsee th-E |nstruct|nns for Part )
Check if the organization used Schedule O to respond to any questlon inthisPartl . . . . . . . . . . []
E| 1 Contributions, gifts, grants, and similar amounts received . . 1
E| 2 Program service revenue including government fees and contracts 2
E| 3 Membership dues and assessments . a
E|l 4 Investment income . e 4
Sa Gross amount from sale of asa&ts uthar than |n'.-antory P S5a
b Less: cost or other basis and sales expenses . . . 5b
¢ Gain or (lose) from sale of assets other than inventory {subtrar:l IIHB Sbfromline5a) . . . . | 5e
6 Gaming and fundraising events:
a Gross income from gaming (atlach Schedule G If greater than
2 $150000 . . . . . e o | Ga [
i b Gross income from lundrajsmg avents {not mcludmg % of contributions
E from fundraising events reported on line 1) (attach Schedule G if the
sum of such gross income and contributions exceeds $15,000) . . 6b
¢ Less: direct expenses from gaming and fundraksing events . . . 6c
d Met income or (loss) from gaming and fundraising events (add lines Ga and &b and subtract
line ey . . . . . e T |
Ta Gross zales of inventory, Iass retumns and allﬂwamas e Ta
b Less:costofgoodssold . . . . 7b
¢ Gross profit or (loss) from sales of muentnn.- {subtract Im& ?b lmm Ilna fay . . . . . . . |Te
8  Other revenue (describe in Schedula 0) . . . e e e e e e e e B8
9  Total revenue. Add lines 1, 2, 3, 4, 5c, 6d, Tc, andB PR 9
10 Grants and similar amounts paid (list in Schedule Oy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . |10
11 Benefits paid to or for members . . e
@142  Salaries, other compensation, and emplwae benal'tsﬂ . R I
E 13  Professional fees and other payments to independent contractors E S
lg. 14  Occupancy, rent, utilities, and maintenance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . |14
15  Printing, publications, postage, and shipping . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . |15
16  Other expenses (describeinSchedule ) BE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . |18
17 Total expenses. Add lines 10 through 16 . . . . P e I I
18  Excess or (deficit) for the year (subtract line 17 from Ilna Ei} . 18
§ 19  Net assets or fund balances at beginning of year (from line 27, cnlumn iA}} {musl agraa wnh
end-of-year figure reported on prior year's return) . . . . . . . 19
T |20 Other changes in net assets or fund balances (explain in Schedule 0} e e e e e . .20
Z (21 Net assets or fund balances at end of year. Combine lines 18 through20 . . . . . . F | 2
For Paperwork Reduction Act Motice, see the separate instructions. Cat. No. 106421 Form 990-EZ 201g)
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Form 990-EZ, Page 2

Faorrn 900-EZ (2019

Page 2|

#:yd |l Balance Sheets (see the instructions for Part Il
Check if the organization used Schedule O to respond to any question in this Part 11 .

O

{A) Beginning of year

{B] End of year

Cash, savings, and investments

Land and buildings .

Other assets (describa in Schaduls 0}

Total assets .

Total liabilities {dascrlbe In Schadula O}

NBBRRBR

Net assets or fund balances (line 27 of column (B) must agrae wlth Im& 21:|

NB|R|RBIN

x:udll] Statement of Program Service Accomplishments (see the instructions for Part 1)

Check if the organization used Schedule O to respond to any guestion in this Part Il . Od

‘What is the organization's primary exempt purposa?

Describe the organization’s program service accomplishments for each of its three largest program services,
as measured by expenszes. In a clear and concise manner, describe the services provided, the number of
persons benefited, and other relevant information for each program title.

Expenses
{Required for section
501{cka) and 501 {ck4)
arganizations; optional for
others )

E (Grants § ) _If this amount includes foreign grants, check hera . > || |28a
m =

(Grants § ) Ifthis amount includes foreign grants, checkhere . . . . » || |28a
m -

i_é.r;‘_l.s_l.%_._...._...._...._...._...........}._ﬁ.m_'s amount includes foreign grants, check here . . . . W || |30a
31 Other program services (describe in Schedule ) . . .

(Grantz % ) If this amount includes foreign granls chack h&ra B > [ | |31a
32 Total program service expenses (add lines 28a through 31a) . .. > | 32

Check if the organization used Schedule O to respond to any guestion in this Part IV

List of Officers, Directors, Trustees, and Key Employeas (list each one aven if not cmnpensatad—see the instructions for Part V)

|

b} Average (e} Reportable [ | id) Heallh benefits,
hows per week compen
desvertond o poattinn |[FEMS W-2/1099-MISC)
e pos {if ot paid, snter -0-)

B e name and tive et plans, ard

contrbutions to employes

deferred compensation

(&) Estarated amount of
other compensation

Feern 990-EZ (2019
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The Form 990-N

As noted earlier, the Form 990-N, the e-Postcard, can be filed when a nonprofit’s gross receipts are $50,000
or less. A nonprofit should always opt in favor of using the 990-N when it is allowable to do so, since the
filing requirements are so minimal. Only the following information must be submitted:

Legal name of the entity

Any other (doing business as) names used by the entity

Mailing address

Website address

Employer identification number

Name and address of a principal officer of the organization, which is usually the president, a vice
president, or the secretary or treasurer

The entity’s tax year

e Whether gross receipts are still $50,000 or less

o Whether the entity has gone out of business

The amount of reporting is clearly far less than for the other variations on the Form 990, essentially just
identifying the organization and establishing whether it still exists. The form is filed through an on-line web
page. The IRS provides a link to the form on its website; the form is maintained by a third party organiza-
tion.

The Form 990-T

The Form 990-T must be filed by any nonprofit that has gross income of $1,000 or more from a regularly
conducted, unrelated trade or business. Unrelated income is considered to be any income derived from
activities not substantially related to the tax-exempt purpose of a nonprofit. As just noted, the income is
reportable if it is regularly conducted; this implies that the activity is conducted on an ongoing basis.

EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education runs a café on its premises, which is mostly intended to handle the lunch needs of its employ-
ees. Given the high quality of its meals, the café charges prices that are well above the cost of the meals, resulting in
substantial profits. Since this is an ongoing business that is unrelated to the educational nature of the organization, any
income from the café should be reported on a Form 990-T.

EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education needs a new computer for its graphics department, so the staff conducts a one-time bake sale
to raise money for it. Since this is a one-time, nonrecurring event, the proceeds from the bake sale are not considered
to be reportable on a Form 990-T.

EXAMPLE
Archimedes Education routinely sells its mailing list of donors to for-profit businesses. Doing so does not contribute

to the non-profit purpose of the entity, and so is considered unrelated taxable income that should be reported on a
Form 990-T.

185



Nonprofit Tax Reporting

The intent of this form is to ferret out taxable income, and requires that a nonprofit pay taxes on this income.
Since a nonprofit of any size may generate this type of income, it is entirely possible that even a small
nonprofit filing a Form 990-N may also have to file a Form 990-T. The form contains the following primary
sections:

e Part I, Unrelated Trade or Business Income. State all sources of revenue from unrelated activities.

e Part Il. Deductions Not Taken Elsewhere. State all expenses associated with the unrelated activi-
ties.

e Part Ill, Tax Computation. Calculate the amount of income tax due.

e Part IV, Tax and Payments. Derive the amount of the tax payable to the government.

It may also be necessary to file a number of additional schedules that provide additional information about
rent income, unrelated debt-financed income, investment income, advertising income, and similar items.

The Form 1099

A nonprofit must file a Form 1099-MISC, Miscellaneous Income, to report payments of $600 or more to
individuals who are not classified as employees (usually independent contractors) in exchange for services
performed. This form must also be filed for each individual for whom a nonprofit has withheld any federal
income tax under backup withholding rules (irrespective of the amount). A sample Form 1099-MISC is
shown below.

Sample Form 1099-MISC

9595 VOID CORRECTED
PAYER"S name, strest address, city or town, state or province, country, ZIF | 1 Rents OMB No. 1545-0115
or forsign postal code, and telephone no. |
$ & ,:20 Miscellaneous
4 A0
2 Aoyalties = Income
% | Form 1098-MISC
3 Other income 4 Faderal income tax withheld Copy A
b 3 For
PAYER'S TIM RECIPIENT'S TIM 5 Fishing boat proceads & Medical and health care peyments | Internal Revenue
Service Center
5 5 File with Form 1096.
RECIPIEMT'S nama T Payer made direct sales of 8 Substitute payments in lieuof,  Eor Priv acy Act
55,000 or more of consumer dividends or interest .
products to a buyer and FElD_E'r"J vork
[recipient) for resals | % Reduction Act
Strest address (inchuding apt. nou) 8 Crop insurance procesds 10 Gross procesds paid to an Motice, see the
atiorney 2020 General
g | % Instructions for
City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code 1 12 Section 4094 deferrals CEI'tf‘:'III'I
Information
Returns.
] 3
Account number (see instructions) FATCA filing| 2nd TIM not.[13 Excess golden perechute |14 Mongualified defemed
requirement payments compensation
5 $
15 State tax withheld 16 State/Payer's state no. 1T State incoms
5 %
5 5
Form 1099-MISC Cat. Mo. 14425 wanarire. gov Form 1 099MISC Departmant of the Treasury - Internal Revenue Service

Send the form to recipients no later than January 31 for payments made during the preceding calendar year.
Also, send a copy of the form to the IRS no later than January 31, along with a Form 1096, Annual Summary
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and Transmittal of U.S. Information Returns, which aggregates the information on the individual Forms
1099.

Note: The Form 1099-MISC does not have to be issued to corporations, except for fish purchases for cash,
attorney’s fees, medical services, and substitute payments in lieu of dividends or tax-exempt interest.

The Form 1099-MISC is comprised of several copies, which are used as follows:

e Copy A. To be filed by the nonprofit with the summary-level Form 1096 with the IRS. A sample
of the Form 1096 is shown next.

Copy 1. To be filed by the nonprofit with the state tax department.

Copy B. To be sent to the individual (“recipient”) who provided services to the nonprofit.

Copy 2. To be filed by the recipient with the recipient’s state income tax return.

Copy C. To be retained by the nonprofit.

If a nonprofit generates at least 250 Forms 1099, they must be filed electronically.

The Form 1096, Annual Summary and Transmittal of U.S. Information Returns, is a summary-level
document that aggregates the information on a batch of Forms 1099. List on this form the number of ac-
companying Forms 1099, check off the type of Forms 1099 (there are several varieties), and enter the total
amount of federal income tax withheld on the forms. A sample form appears in the following exhibit.

Sample Form 1096

OMB Mo. 1545-0108

rom 1096 Annual Summary and Transmittal of ,_J_
U.S. Information Returns 2020

Department of the Treasury

Intemal Revenus Service

FILER'S namse
Street address (including room or suite number)

City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code

For Official Use Only

MName of person to contact Talephone number

Emat address Fax number m m

1 Employer identification numiber| 2 Social security number 3 Total number of forms | 4 Federal income tax withheld | 5 Total amount reported with this Form 1086
| g $

& Enter an “X" in only one box balow to indicate the type of form being filad.

W-2G  [1097-BTC| 1098 1098-C 1028-E 1098-F 1098-0 1088-T 1098-A 1092-B 1089-C [1099-CAP| 1099-D0 | 1099-G [ 1098-INT | 1083-K | 1099-LS
3z 50 B1 7B 22 03 74 E3 B0 i) a5 T3 a1 1] 92 10 18
1089-LTC [10849-MISC 11099-KEC | 1099-00D 10695 1098-0 | 1089-0w | 1098-R 1088-5 | 1099-54 | 1099-58 a1 a9z Eell Ol B4A0E-ESA | S40B-0 | 5408-5A
93 85 | o8 PATR 31 1A &8 75 a4 43 25 28 28 T2 28 27

a7

The Form W-2

Following the end of every calendar year, and no later than January 31, an employer must issue the multi-
part Form W-2, on which it itemizes the wages it paid to each employee during the year, as well as the taxes
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that it withheld from employee pay. It issues this form to anyone who was paid wages by the organization
at any time during the year, even if they no longer work for the business. This information forms the basis
for the personal income tax returns completed by all employees for the federal government and the state
government in which they reside. An example of the Form W-2 appears in the following exhibit.

Sample Form W-2

- a Employes's social security number | Eor official Use Only »
Vel OME No. 1545-0008

| gddee

b Employer identification number (EIN) 1 Wages, tips, other compenaation 2 Federal incoms tax withheld
c Employer's name, address, and ZIP code 3 Social security wages 4 Social security tax withhed
5 Medicare wages and tips 6 Medicare tax withheld
T Social security tips 8 Allocated tips
d Control number 8 10 Dependent care benefits
e Employes’s first name and initial Last nams Suff. | 11 Nonquakfied plans 12a Se= instructions for box 12
14 Other 12c
12d
f Employes's address and ZIP code I
15 State  Employer’s state 1D number 16 State wages, tips, etc. | 17 State income tax 18 Local wages, tips, etc. | 19 Local income tax 20 Locality name
Department of the Treasury — Intemal Revenue Service
w-z Wage and Tax Statement E D E D ! i
Form For Privacy Act and Paperwork Reduction
Copy A—For Social Security Administration. Send this entire page with Act Notice, sea the separate instructions.
Form W-3 to the Soclal Security Administration; photocoples are not acceptable. Cat. No. 101340

The Form W-2 contains a large number of fields, but many of them are not needed to report the compensa-
tion and tax information for a typical employee; many of the fields are only required to report unusual
compensation arrangements. The payroll system prints these forms automatically after the end of the cal-
endar year. If payroll has been outsourced, the supplier will issue them on the organization’s behalf. Thus,
the Form W-2 is usually not an especially difficult document to produce.

The Form W-2 is comprised of several copies, which are used as follows:

Copy A. Send this copy to the Social Security Administration.

Copy 1. Send this copy to the state, city, or local tax department.

Copy B. The recipient sends this copy to the IRS as part of his or her federal tax return.
Copy C. This copy is intended for the employee’s records.

Copy 2. The recipient attaches this copy to his or her state, city, or local income tax return.
Copy D. This copy is intended for the employer’s records.

Tip: More than one Form W-2 can be issued to an employee. For example, if more items must be reported
than will fit in one box on the form, do so on an additional form. If so, fill in the same identifying infor-
mation in boxes “a” through “f” that were completed for the first Form W-2 for the employee.
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Explanations of the key fields on the Form W-2 are:

Box a, Social security number. Enter the employee’s social security number. This should be the
number shown on the employee’s social security card.

Box b, Employer identification number (EIN). Enter the EIN assigned to the employer by the IRS.
Box ¢, Employer address. Enter the employer’s mailing address.

Box d, Control number. Use this box to identify an individual Form W-2. The IRS does not use the
information in this box.

Box e, Employee name. Enter the name of the employee that is shown on his or her social security
card. If the name is too long, print the full last name, and enter initials for the first and middle
names. Do not include titles in the name.

Box f, Employee address. Enter the mailing address of the employee. A post office box number is
acceptable.

Box 1, Wages, tips, other compensation. Enter the total amount of taxable compensation paid to the
employee during the calendar year.

Box 2, Federal income tax withheld. Enter the total amount withheld from the employee’s pay for
federal income taxes during the calendar year. Include the 20% excise tax on excess parachute
payments (if any).

Box 3, Social security wages. Enter the amount of total wages paid during the calendar year that
are subject to the social security tax.

Box 4, Social security tax withheld. Enter the total amount of social security taxes withheld from
the employee’s pay during the calendar year. Do not include the matching amount of social security
tax paid by the employer.

Box 5, Medicare wages and tips. Enter the amount of total wages paid during the calendar year that
are subject to the Medicare tax.

Box 6, Medicare tax withheld. Enter the total amount of Medicare taxes withheld from the em-
ployee’s pay during the calendar year. Do not include the matching amount of Medicare tax paid
by the employer.

Box 7, Social security tips. Enter the amount of tips reported by the employee to the employer, even
if there were not sufficient employee funds to collect the social security tax related to the tips.

Box 8, Allocated tips. If the employer is a food or beverage establishment, enter the amount of tips
allocated to the employee.

Box 9. Do not use this box.

Box 10, Dependent care benefits. Enter the total dependent care benefits paid to the employee under
a dependent care assistance program, or incurred on the employee’s behalf by the employer.

Box 11, Nonqgualified plans. Enter any distributions to the employee from a nongualified plan. Also
report the amount of these distributions within the total in Box 1.

Box 12, Coded items. Use the IRS codes in the following table to record the dollar amount of the
indicated items. There is space within Box 12 for four coded items.

Box 13, Checkboxes. Check the “Statutory employee” box if an employee is a statutory employee
whose earnings are not subject to federal income tax withholding, but which are subject to social
security and Medicare taxes. Check the “Retirement plan” box if the employee was an active par-
ticipant in a variety of types of pension plans. Check the “Third-party sick pay” box if the filer is a
third-party sick pay payer who is filing a Form W-2 for an insured party’s employee, or an employer
reporting sick pay payments made to an employee by a third party.

Box 14, Other. If 100% of a vehicle’s annual lease value was included in an employee’s income,
enter it here. Other information may be entered in that box for payments made to an employee,
such as union dues, uniform payments, and educational assistance payments.
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Boxes 15-20, State and local income tax information. Report state and local income tax information
in these boxes. This includes the two-letter abbreviation of the name of the state, and the employer’s
state ID number. There is room to report wages and taxes for two states and two localities.

Form W-3

Once an employer creates Forms W-2 for its employees, it takes Copy A of these forms and aggregates
selected information on them into a Form W-3, Transmittal of Wage and Tax Statements. It then submits
all of the Copy A versions of the Forms W-2, as well as the Form W-3, to the government no later than
January 31. An example of the Form W-3 appears in the following exhibit. Explanations of the key fields
on the Form W-3 are:

Box a, Control number. Use this box to identify a Form W-3. The IRS does not use the information
in this box.

Box b, Kind of payer. Check the box that applies to the employer. Check only one box. The most
common box to check is the “941” box, which indicates that the organization files the Form 941,
Employer’s Quarterly Federal Tax Return.

Box b, Kind of employer. Check the box that applies to the employer. Check only one box. The
most common box to check is the “None apply” box.

Box b, Third-party sick pay. Check this box if the entity is a third-party sick pay payer, or is report-
ing sick pay payments made by a third party.

Box c, Total number of Forms W-2. Enter the number of Forms W-2 that accompany this Form W-
3.

Box d, Establishment number. Use this box to identify different establishments within the business.
Itis allowable to file a separate Form W-3 for each establishment, along with accompanying Forms
W-2, even if all of the establishments use the same employer identification number.

Box e, Employer identification number. Enter the EIN assigned to the employer by the IRS. If an
EIN has not yet been received when the Form W-3 is filed, enter “Applied for” in this box.

Box f, Employer’s name. Enter the name of the employer, which should be the same one used on
the Form 941.

Box g, Employer’s address. Enter the employer’s mailing address.

Box h, Other EIN used this year. Enter any other employer identification number used during the
year on the Form 941 that is different from the EIN stated on this form.

Boxes 1-8. Enter the wages, tax withholdings, and tip allocations in these boxes that are the totals
from the corresponding Forms W-2 being submitted along with this form.

Box 10, Dependent care benefits. Enter the total of the dependent care benefits reported in box 10
of the accompanying Forms W-2.
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Sample Form W-3

| 33333
b

[ For official Use Only »
OMB No. 1545-0008

=

a Control rumber
a

T T
41 Military 243 f44 ' Mone apply  501c non-govt. ! Third-party
Kind 1 Kind i sick pay
' '
of Hehld.  Medicare v of State/local | (Check if
Payer CT-1 amp. govt. emp. \ Employer non-501c  Statedocal 501c  Federal govt. applicable)
{Check ong) i {Check ong) i
| 1
¢ Total number of Forms W-2 d Establishment number 1 Wages, tips, other compensation 2 Federal income tax withheld

& Employer identification number (EIN)

f Employer's name

g Employer's address and ZIF code
| h Other EIN us=d this year

15 State

16 State wages, tips, etc.

Employer's contact person

Employer's fax number

3 Social security wages 4 Social security tax withhekd

5 Medicare wages and tips 6 Medicare tax withheid

T Social security tips 8 Allocated tips

i

8 10 Dependent care bensfits

11 Nonqualified plans 128 Deferred compensation

13 For third-party sick pay use anly 120

Employer's stats ID number 14 Income tax withheld by payer of third-party sick pay

17 State income tax 18 Local wages, tips, etc. 19 Local income tax

Employer's telephone number For Official Use Only

Employer's email address

Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have examined this return and accompanying documents, and, to the best of my knowledge and belef, they are trus, comect, and

completa.

Signature »

rom W=3 Transmittal of Wage and Tax Statements

Tithe Diate =

Department of the Treasury
Internal Aevanue Sarice

2020
Box 11, Nonqualified plans. Enter the total amount in box 11 of the accompanying Forms W-2.
Box 12a, Deferred compensation. Enter the total for the following IRS codes in box 12 on the
accompanying Forms W-2: codes D through H, S, Y, AA, BB, and EE. Do not enter the codes
themselves.

Box 13, For third-party sick pay use only. If the entity is a third-party payer of sick pay, enter the
aggregate amount of third-party sick pay recap.

Box 14, Income tax withheld by payer of third-party sick pay. Enter the total income tax withheld
by third-party payers on sick pay payments to employees.

Box 15, State | Employer’s state ID number. Enter the two-letter abbreviation of the state being
reported on the accompanying Forms W-2, as well as the ID number assigned to the employer by
the state. If more than one state is being reported, enter an “X” here, and do not enter a state ID
number.

Boxes 16-19. Enter the total amount of state/local wages and income taxes in the accompanying
Forms W-2. If the Forms W-2 contain amounts for more than one state or locality, combine them
into one reported amount.

Contact information. Enter the name of the person most familiar with the payroll information on
the report. An appropriate choice might be the payroll manager.

As was the case for the Form W-2, the organization’s payroll software should generate the Form W-3
automatically. If not, be sure to verify that the information on the accompanying Forms W-2 add up to the
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totals printed on the Form W-3. Also, verify that the totals on the Form W-3 match the aggregate of the
amounts listed on all Forms 941 filed during the year.

Payroll Taxes

A nonprofit is liable for the same payroll taxes that are incurred by a for-profit entity. This means that a
nonprofit must calculate social security and Medicare taxes for each employee, as well as matching amounts
to be provided by the nonprofit, and forward these funds to the government in a timely manner. In this
section, we describe the most common types of payroll taxes, how these taxes are to be deposited with the
government, and how payroll tax information is to be subsequently reported to the government.

Social Security Tax

The social security tax began with the passage of the Social Security Act in 1935, which established Old
Age and Survivor's Insurance. The insurance was to be funded by compulsory deductions from the pay of
wage earners. Initially, these deductions were set at 1% of gross wages, and were to be paid by both the
employer and the employee, and would continue until retirement age, which was set at 65. By 1948, the
amount of these deductions had increased to 3%. Employers have been and continue to be responsible for
withholding the social security tax from employee pay.

The tax rate for social security is now governed by the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA).
Because of this association, social security taxes are now closely associated with the acronym "FICA".

This tax has increased in size over time, along with the maximum wage cap (also known as the wage
base limit) to which it applies. The social security tax rate is only applied to a person’s wages up to the
amount of the wage base cap. Do not apply the tax to any wages earned above the wage cap. For example,
on earnings of $150,000 in 2020, the amount of employer tax paid would be $8,537.40, which is calculated
as follows:

6.2% Tax rate x $137,700 Wage cap = $8,537.40

Note that social security is matched by the employee, so the total tax amount paid to the government by the
employer is 12.4%. A self-employed person is responsible for paying the full amount of the 12.4%.

EXAMPLE

Benjamin Mayhew earned $200,000 in 2020. Based on the $137,700 wage cap in place that year, his employer must
deduct $8,537.40 from his gross pay and match it with another $8,537.40 for a total payment of $17,074.80.

The age at which full social security retirement benefits are payable depends on the year of birth of the
individual. The following table states the full retirement age for different years of birth.
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Age at Which Full Social Security Benefits Are Available

Year of Birth Full Retirement Age
1943-1954 66

1955 66 and 2 months
1956 66 and 4 months
1957 66 and 6 months
1958 66 and 8 months
1959 66 and 10 months
1960+ 67

An individual can retire as early as age 62, but will be paid roughly 25% less than the amount that would
have been paid if the person had chosen to wait until his or her full retirement age.

Conversely, a person can choose to continue working beyond the full retirement age. If so, the individ-
ual is adding extra years of work to his or her social security record, which may result in higher benefits
upon retirement. Further, one can choose to delay retirement until age 70 in exchange for an automatic
increase by a certain percentage (usually about 8% per year) from the full retirement age until age 70.

Widows and widowers can begin receiving social security benefits at age 60, or at age 50 if they are
disabled.

Medicare Tax

Medicare is a health insurance program that is administered by the United States government, and which is
primarily available to those 65 years old or older, as well as to those with certain disabilities. It is funded
through the Medicare tax, though participants must also pay a portion of all health insurance costs incurred.
The program has been in existence since 1965.

Since 1986, the Medicare tax rate that is paid by an employee has been 1.45% (plus matching of the
same amount by the employer), and 2.9% for self-employed workers. There is no cap on the Medicare tax
for employed and self-employed people; thus, everyone must pay it, irrespective of the amount of money
that they earn.

EXAMPLE

Archimedes Education employs Mr. Smith, who earns $5,000 of gross pay in the most recent pay period. Archimedes
withholds $72.50 ($5,000 x .0145) from the pay of Mr. Smith, matches the $72.50 from its own funds, and forwards
$145.00 to the government.

As of 2014, an additional Medicare tax of 0.9% was imposed, which applies to all wages earned in excess of $250,000
for married filers, and in excess of $200,000 for single and head of household filers.

Types of Tax Deposit Schedules

There are two deposit schedules, known as the monthly deposit schedule and the semiweekly deposit sched-
ule, which state when to deposit payroll taxes. The accountant must determine which of these deposit sched-
ules will be followed before the beginning of each calendar year. The selection of a deposit schedule is
based entirely on the tax liability reported during a lookback period.
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The deposit schedule is based on the total taxes (i.e., federal income taxes withheld, social security
taxes, and Medicare taxes) reported in line 8 of the Forms 941 in a four-quarter lookback period. The look-
back period begins on July 1 and ends on June 30. The decision tree for selecting a deposit period is:

o If the organization reported $50,000 or less of taxes during the lookback period, use the monthly

deposit schedule.

e If the organization reported more than